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Eesti Energia 
at a glance

5,763
employees*

4 
business lines:
customer services,  
renewable energy,  
large-scale energy  

production,  
network services 

100%
owner: 

Republic  
of estonia

6
home maRkets:

Estonia, Latvia,  
Lithuania, Poland,  
Finland, Sweden

2.5 
billion euros:

investments 
in the last  
10 years

106 
million euros:
net pRofit 

for 2018 

875
million euros:

Revenue
for 2018 

  Established 

in 1939

* number of employees at 31 December 2018.
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BUSINESS 
LINES LARGE-SCALE ENERGY PRODUCTION:  1. Oil shale mines  I  2. Thermal power plants  I  3. Oil plants

RENEWABLE ENERGY:  4. Hydro power plant  I  5. Cogeneration plants  I  6. Wind farms  I  7. Solar power plants
NETWORK SERVICES:  8. Electricity distribution network 
CUSTOMER SERVICES:  9. Sales of electricity and gas solutions
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In doing our work, we are guided by our ambition,  
values and customers’ and owner’s expectations.

Customers’ expectations
• High-quality and useful services
• Transparent and responsible behaviour
• Clean energy production
• Options for self-generation of electricity 

Owner’s expectations
• Deriving maximum value from oil shale expertise
• Increasing the company’s value and ensuring stable  
 dividend income
• Ensuring security of electricity supply in Estonia
• Providing regional employment opportunities 
• Reducing negative environmental impacts

 
values

•	 Useful for the customer
•	 Value adding
• Simplifying the complex
• My efforts count
• Safety first

ambition

Internationally  
• E-solutions in customer and 

network services
• 100 years of expertise in the 

oil shale energy industry

In Estonia  
• 80 years of experience in energy 

production
• One of the strongest brands
• Largest employer in Estonia
• One of the largest customer bases

• Extensive and diverse experience  
in renewable energy

• Combination of different technologies  
in large-scale energy production

• Country-wide network infrastructure

stRenGths

I  Eesti Energia Annual Report 2018  I  Eesti Energia at a glance  I

Our ambition is  
to offer customers useful  

and convenient energy 
solutions, produce energy 

increasingly more sus- 
tainably and thus contri- 
bute to making the world  

a cleaner place
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5,683

35

15

5

18

5

Home markets  
and business units 

JORDAN

UTAH

Developments

2

Oil shale 
mining

Oil shale 
electricity

Oil  
production

Cogeneration

Wind  
energy

Solar 
energy

Hydro 
energy

Waste-to-energy

Network 
servicesPRODUCTION UNITS DEVELOPMENTS

Oil shale 
mining

Oil 
production

Wind  
energy

ENERGY SALES Electricity

Gas

Oil shale  
electricity
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President Konstantin Päts  
establishes Eesti Energia’s predecessor, 
the company Elektrikeskus 

Elektrikeskus is renamed  
Eesti Energia

Estonia’s and Eesti Energia’s first district 
heating power plant begins operation

The first 110 kV high-voltage power line, 
Ahtme-Tallinn, is completed

The 110 kV Ahtme–Narva–Leningrad  
transit line is completed

The first generating unit  
of the Balti power plant begins operation

1939

1945

1949

1951

1955

1959

80 years  
of innovative  
Eesti Energia
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1962

1964

1969

1972

1980

The first 330 kV high-voltage  
power line between the Balti power  
plant and Riga is launched 

Saaremaa is connected to Estonia’s main-
land grid via a 15 kV submarine power cable 

The first generating unit of the Eesti power 
plant begins operation

Estonia’s largest underground  
oil shale mine, the Estonia mine,  
begins operation

We open the Narva oil plant that produced 
shale oil using the UTT-3000 technology, 
today the plant is known as Enefit140

We open a web-based self-service portal  
for customers

2001

I  Eesti Energia Annual Report 2018  I  80 years of innovative Eesti Energia  I
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We open  
Estonia’s first  
modern wind  
farm in Virtsu 

Submarine power  
cable Estlink1 connects 
the power systems  
of the Baltic and Nordic  
countries 

We enter the Latvian market

We enter the Lithuanian market

We produce the first oil using  
the Enefit280 technology

Estonia’s electricity market is fully 
deregulated and energy producers 
enter the era of competition 

A waste-to-energy unit begins  
work at the Iru power plant  

The Auvere power plant produces  
its first electricity

We launch industry digitalisation  
project Industry 3.5

We establish a renewable energy 
company, Enefit Taastuvenergia,  
the present Enefit Green

2002

2006

2007
2012

2013

2015

2016

I  Eesti Energia Annual Report 2018  I  80 years of innovative Eesti Energia  I
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We begin bringing consumers  
closer to our production facilities  
by launching technology parks on  
the premises of the Balti power plant 
in Narva and the Iru power plant  
in Harju county

We enter the Polish electricity  
and gas sales market  

Following a tender, Elektrilevi  
begins managing the street lights  
of Tallinn and a year later the street 
lights of Tartu 

We reach a financial close  
in a 2.1 billion dollar oil shale project  
in Jordan 

We build our first solar power plant  
in Järva county

We enter the Finnish and Swedish 
electricity sales markets

Enefit Green purchases  
Nelja Energia, a renewable energy 
company operating in the Baltics,  
and becomes the leading wind energy 
producer in the region  

Elektrilevi begins offering telecommu-
nication infrastructure service

2016

2017

2018

I  Eesti Energia Annual Report 2018  I  80 years of innovative Eesti Energia  I
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Dear reader

The process began in January 2018 
and ended in June when the super-

visory board approved the strategy. Our new 
strategic action plan is the outcome of the joint 

efforts of Eesti Energia’s management team and super-
visory board. Since its adoption, we have made considerable 

progress in executing the strategy: we have acquired the Baltic 
renewable energy producer Nelja Energia and accepted from the buil-
der the Auvere power plant. These are definite milestones in making 
our energy production cleaner and more efficient. 

Although we have already some accomplishments under our belt, we 
need to maintain momentum in 2019 to achieve all the goals we have 
set. Among other things, by the end of the year we wish to be ready  
to make a decision on investing in a new oil plant. 

In all our activities, we need to consider the environment. Surging 
electricity and oil prices have enabled energy producers to produce  
more and earn higher revenue than probably no one could have 
expected at the beginning of 2018. Understandably, some customers 
may have been alarmed by the spike in the market price of electricity. 

In 2018, we developed a new strategic action plan, 
which is focused on customers and a cleaner  
environment. We also formulated a clear  
ambition: we wish to offer our customers  
useful and convenient energy solutions,  
produce energy increasingly more  
sustainably and thus contribute  
to making the world a cleaner  
place. I believe that these  
goals are important not  
only for our employees  
but also for our  
customers and  
society as  
a whole.

HANDO SUTTER  
Chairman of the Management Board 

I  Eesti Energia Annual Report 2018  I  Chairman’s letter  I
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In the Estonian price area, the average market price of electricity grew 
by 42% during the year to 47.1 euros per megawatt hour. Since the 
deregulation of the electricity market, the market price of electricity 
has never been so high in Estonia.

Via interconnectors, Estonia is well linked to the Nordic countries 
where most of the electricity is produced by hydro power plants. 
Hydro power is cheaper than thermal power and, accordingly, the  
output of hydro power plants has a strong impact on the market price 
of electricity in the entire Nordic and Baltic region. In 2018, however, 
the level of the Nordic water reservoirs dropped significantly below 
the historical median, fuelling growth in electricity prices.  

The rise in the market price of electricity is also underpinned by the 
price of CO2 emission allowances which has multiplied. The cost of the 
allowances has grown because the European Commission has decided 
that their auction volume should be cut annually. I do not remember a 
time in recent history when the energy markets were as jittery as they 
were in 2018. For example, within a month the market price of carbon 
allowances jumped from 17 to around 25 euros per tonne and then 
quickly plummeted below 20 euros. On the one hand, high emission 
allowance prices lower the competitiveness of electricity produced 
from fossil sources considerably. On the other hand, high carbon 
prices provide excellent opportunities for renewable energy to com-
pete in the market even without subsidies.  

The main objective of the climate and energy policy of the 
European Union is to increase the production of renewable 
energy and thereby reduce the human ecological footprint. 

Paradoxically, in the Nordic and Baltic market the upsurge in the price 

of CO2 emission allowances has created an unfair advantage for  
Russian electricity, which is produced without buying carbon 
allowances. It has been an issue for years but is still unresolved.  
We have to operate on the border of two value systems: on one side, 
market players fight against climate change, but on the other, they do 
pragmatic business which in no way meets the rules agreed within 
the European Union. We hope that decision-makers will eliminate this 
anomaly soon. 

The world market price of oil also grew considerably in 2018, reaching 
recent years’ highest level. The average price of Brent crude rose by 
31% to 72 US dollars per barrel. An increase in the world market price 
of oil has a direct positive impact on the sales margin of shale oil pro-
duced in Estonia. 

We have set ourselves the goal that in 2022 we will produce 40% of 
our electricity from renewable and alternative sources. The acquisition 
of Nelja Energia is a long step towards achieving that goal. The merger 
of Nelja Energia and our subsidiary Enefit Green has created a leading 
regional renewable energy producer that has not only substantial 
production assets but also an impressive development portfolio and 
excellent competencies. We expect to make good deals in renewable 
energy auctions in Lithuania in autumn 2019 already. We also see 
strong potential for developing renewable energy in Poland and our 
other markets in the Baltic Sea area. We hope that through an initial 
public offering, we can soon provide all stakeholders with an opportu-
nity to contribute to, and benefit from, Enefit Green’s growth story.

Eesti Energia’s large-scale energy production business line is under-
going the biggest change in its history. In 2018, when CO2 emission 
allowance prices were high, our older generating units which burn oil 
shale directly could supply less electricity to the market than previously. 

I  Eesti Energia Annual Report 2018  I  Chairman’s letter  I
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In 2019, we are planning to close four of our older generating units 
whose operating time is limited in order to meet the requirements of 
the European Union’s Industrial Emissions Directive. The units have 
been operating for over 50 years and supplied electricity to customers 
both in Estonia and other countries. On their retirement, around 600 
megawatts of capacity will leave the electricity market. 

The old generating units, which will be closed, will partly be replaced 
by the 300-megawatt Auvere power plant, the largest industrial 
investment ever made in Estonia. It is the most powerful, efficient and 
environmentally friendly controllable electricity production asset in 
our portfolio. At the Auvere power plant, we can use different domes-
tic, including renewable, fuels to produce electricity for the next two 
generations. The acquisition of Nelja Energia in 2018 strengthened our 
production asset portfolio with around 300 megawatts of renewable 
energy production capacities. Thus, in principle we have been able to 
replace the oldest generating units that are going to be retired with 
new and cleaner production assets. 

Eesti Energia’s large-scale energy production is not limited to pro-
ducing electricity by direct burning of oil shale. We use different fuels 
such as wood waste, peat, oil shale gas and shale oil. In 2018, we 
obtained documents from the Estonian Ministry of the Environment 
and the European Commission that enable us to supplement the range 
of fuel mixes used with old tyres. If everything goes according to plan, 
we can start using old tyres for industrial-scale oil production in 2019 
already. By doing it, we can help solve a major environmental issue 
not only in Estonia but also in the whole of Europe. 

The future of the oil shale industry lies in the coproduction of oil, 
electricity and gas. According to our information, Eesti Energia’s Enefit 
technology is the world’s most efficient and cleanest industrially  

proven technology for adding value to oil shale. In 2018, we produced 
a record quantity of oil. The experience and expertise gained from 
improving the operational reliability and efficiency of the Enefit280 
oil plant have been consolidated and we have started the preliminary 
design of a new oil plant. We expect that the investment required will 
be smaller than the one made in the existing Enefit280. The new plant 
should also be more efficient and reliable. 

Since 2018 we have been selling electricity and providing 
customer services in Finland and Sweden where we 
currently focus on increasing our customer portfolio. 

We have completed the first full year in the Polish market. We can see 
that in terms of sales volume Poland may become our largest home 
market in the next few years already. In the first half of 2019, we are 
planning to launch electricity sales to household customers in Latvia, 
where we have been operating as an energy supplier for over 12 years. 
Our competitive edge in our new home markets is the digital platform 
which has proven itself in Estonia and can be used in other countries 
where consumption data is made available to service providers. 

Last year, we had several pieces of good news for the customers  
of our distribution network operator Elektrilevi. Mostly thanks to 
Elektrilevi’s efficient operation, from the beginning of 2019 distribution 
charges were lowered by 8% on average. In the past couple of years, 
distribution charges have declined by a total of 17%. But there is more 
good news. The network, which has been carrying electrons, will soon 
also carry bits. In 2018, Elektrilevi won a public procurement tender 
and entered the telecommunication network business as an infra-
structure provider. We wish to deliver high-speed internet to homes 

I  Eesti Energia Annual Report 2018  I  Chairman’s letter  I
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and companies which to date have not had access to it on market 
terms. That market is growing rapidly. We can see that we can offer 
relevant infrastructure service at a highly competitive price. Manage-
ment of multiple infrastructures also enables us to provide efficient 
service in the development of an electric car charging network. 

Although in 2019 Eesti Energia celebrates its 80th anniversary, we are 
more open to innovation than ever and continuously invest in making 
the company smarter and more efficient. We appreciate our customers 
and strive to offer them exceptional customer experience. At the heart 
of our work is innovation. 

In 2018, we organised Enefit Idea Pitch, an international 
competition by which participants from different countries 
provided us with 100 ideas about energy services needed 
by customers and a smart electricity network. 

The winning idea was contributed by Elektrilevi’s employee Ott 
Antsmaa who suggested creating a customer-friendly subscription 
platform. We hope to realise the idea this year already. 

It may happen that 2019 will be the first year in Eesti Energia’s history 
where we will sell more electricity than we will produce. Naturally, 

this assumes increasing our sales volumes in our new home mar-
kets substantially. The current sentiment in the financial markets is 
that electricity prices will remain high through 2019. For companies 
producing energy from fossil fuels, however, this is not likely to trans-
late into high profits because the price of CO2 emission allowances 
is also high and not expected to decrease. The world market price 
of oil, which largely determines the revenue earned from the sale 
of shale oil, is expected to remain relatively stable for an extended 
period. On the other hand, there are strong tailwinds for renewable 
energy. I hope that we can soon make a decision on investing in our 
first subsidy-free wind farm. We are open to both new initiatives and 
opportunities for improving the efficiency of our existing operations. 
Only this way can we offer our customers useful and convenient 
solutions.

HANDO SUTTER
Chairman of the Management Board

I  Eesti Energia Annual Report 2018  I  Chairman’s letter  I
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Highlights  
of 2018

CUSTOMER SERVICES

•	 We began selling  
electricity in Finland  
and Sweden	 

•		We launched new  
services in our home 
markets	  

(see page 27)

RENEWABLE ENERgy

•		We increased our renewable energy 
capacities by acquiring Nelja Energia  

•		We built solar power plants of 7 MW   

(see page 31)

LARgE-SCALE ENERgy PRODUCTION

•		We accepted the Auvere power plant from the builder 
•		We increased our capacity to produce electricity from oil shale gas   

(see page 35)

NETWORk SERVICES

•		We obtained approval for lowering distribution charges from 1 January 2019

• We began offering telecommunication infrastructure service   

(see page 42)
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key figures and ratios

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Total electricity sales*, of which GWh 9,137 7,698 8,956 9,364 9,248

    wholesale sales* GWh 3,125 1,823 2,760 3,161 2,606

    retail sales GWh 6,012 5,875 6,196 6,203 6,642

Electricity distributed GWh 6,294 6,337 6,616 6,757 6,945

Shale oil sales ’000 tonnes 231 315 302 370 393

Heat sales GWh 1,063 1,018 1 148 986 983

Average number of employees No. 6,792 6,289 5,696 5,708 5,678

      

Revenue m€ 880.0 776.7 742.1 753.9 875.3

EBITDA m€ 312.3 265.8 327.3 264.2 283.2

Operating profit m€ 186.1 57.2 183.9 128.4 128.7

Net profit m€ 159.3 40.5 171.0 100.8 106.2

      

Investments m€ 275.9 245.6 140.7 144.0 215.1

Cash flow from operating activities m€ 228.2 307.7 200.3 268.8 166.3

FFO m€ 203.2 239.6 278.1 227.3 187.0

Non-current assets m€ 2,509.7 2,552.5 2,550.6 2,550.3 3,074.6

Equity m€ 1,619.5 1,571.9 1,698.0 1,763.9 1,859.6

Net debt m€ 834.7 792.0 716.6 582.4 1,048.1

      

Net debt / EBITDA times 2.7 3.0 2.2 2.2 3.7

FFO / net debt times 0.24 0.30 0.39 0.39 0.18

FFO / interest cover times 5.5 6.4 7.7 6.6 5.1

EBITDA / interest cover times 8.5 7.1 9.0 7.7 7.8

Leverage % 34.0 33.5 29.7 24.8 36.0

ROIC % 8.1 2.4 7.8 5.5 5.4

EBITDA margin % 35.5 34.2 44.1 35.0 32.4

Operating profit margin % 21.1 7.4 24.8 17.0 14.7

* Due to a change in the policy for reporting sales volume, from 2015 the figure includes the Auvere power plant’s total sales volume (the Group’s revenue does not include the Auvere power plant’s variable 
electricity production costs and revenue from the sale of electricity to the extent that these have been capitalised).

I Eesti Energia Annual Report 2018  I  Eesti Energia at a glance  I
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Operating 
environment
Eesti Energia’s operations and performance are 
influenced by both global and regional factors. 
Above all, our business is affected by oil,  
electricity and emission allowance prices,  
competition in the energy and customer 
 services markets and regulations  
governing the energy sector.
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In 2018, the following developments had an impact  
on Eesti Energia’s performance:

• electricity prices grew by more than a third;
• emission allowance prices rose threefold, hitting  

a nine-year high;
• world market prices of oil products surged to  

a three-year high.

According to the International Monetary Fund, in 2018 the global eco-
nomy grew by 3.7%. 

Electricity prices grew by more 
than a third
We produce electricity in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania. We sell  
electricity in Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Finland, Sweden and Poland. 
Consequently, our performance is influenced by electricity prices  
in those countries.  

The electricity markets of Estonia and its neighbouring countries are 
well connected via interconnectors. Therefore, Estonia’s electricity 
production and prices are also influenced by several factors outside 
our home markets, such as water levels at Norwegian hydro power 
plants and wind conditions in Denmark. 

average electricity price (€/mWh) 2018 2017 Change

norway 43.6 28.6 +52.4%

sweden 44.8 31.3 +43.1%

finland 46.8 33.2 +41.0%

Denmark 45.1 31.0 +45.5%

estonia 47.1 33.2 +41.9%

latvia 49.9 34.7 +43.8%

lithuania 50.0 35.1 +42.5%

poland 52.2 37.3 +39.9%

Due to hot and dry weather, in 2018 the average level of the Nordic 
water reservoirs was 57.1% of the maximum, i.e. 3.7 percentage points 
lower than in 2017. This drove up electricity prices compared to the 
year before. 

Weekly levels of nordic water reservoirs
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Electricity prices were further increased by a threefold  
rise in the market price of CO2 emission allowances. 

Energy producers using fossil fuels in the European Union have  
to purchase CO2 emission allowances for electricity production. 

In 2018, Eesti Energia’s clean spread (margin between the price of 
electricity and CO2 costs) was 29.5 €/MWh, 2.8 €/MWh up on 2017. 
This means that CO2 costs grew by 11.0 €/MWh while electricity  
prices grew by 13.9 €/MWh. 

Eesti Energia’s clean dark spread (CDS) for the period was  
12.0 €/MWh (+3.0 €/MWh, +34% compared to 2017). The changes  
in CO2 costs and oil shale costs had impacts of -11.0 €/MWh and  
+0.2 €/MWh on CDS respectively.

In Latvia and Lithuania, the level of electricity prices is higher than  
in Estonia and the Nordic countries because Latvia and Lithuania  
consume more electricity than they can produce and their electricity 
transmission connections with the neighbouring countries are limited. 
Moreover, from the middle of August to the end of October 2018 the 
Latvian and Lithuanian electricity prices were further increased by  
the long-term maintenance of the Nordbalt interconnector between 
Sweden and Lithuania. 

It was difficult for the Estonian and Finnish electricity to compete 
in the Latvian and Lithuanian electricity markets in 2018 because in 
allocating transmission capacities the Lithuanian transmission sys-
tem operator preferred cheaper electricity imported from Russia and 
Belarus. Russian electricity producers have a competitive advantage 
because the Russian electricity market regulations differ from those  
of the European Union. For example, Russian electricity producers 
do not have to purchase CO2 emission allowances and environmental 
requirements in Russia are more lenient than in the European Union.  

I  Eesti Energia Annual Report 2018  I  Operating environment  I
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to Asia. Demand grew 
due to a heatwave, which 
hit the entire Europe, increasing 
the need to cool air in production and 
industrial buildings.

In 2018, the average price of fuel oil (1% sulphur content)  
was 340.5 €/t, i.e. 25.7% (+69.7 €/t) up on 2017.

Liquid fuels prices

Liquid fuel prices surged  
to a three-year high
A widely-traded oil product, which is closest to our shale oil, is fuel  
oil with 1% sulphur content. The price of fuel oil depends mainly on the 
price of Brent crude oil. 

In the first half of 2018, the price of Brent crude oil trended upward. 
The rise was attributable to an agreement between OPEC members to 
cut oil production by 1.8 million barrels per day, which took effect at 
the beginning of 2017 and was in force until the end of 2018. In addi-
tion to production restrictions, the price stayed high due to political 
tensions in the Middle East and a decrease in the US active oil rig 
count.

In the second half of the year, the price of Brent crude dropped.  
The USA, Russia and Saudi Arabia increased oil production and 
growing supply lowered the oil price. The downtrend was supported 
by slowing global growth and slumping stock markets.

In 2018, the average price of Brent crude oil was 71.7 USD/bbl,  
i.e. 30.9% (+16.9 USD/bbl) higher than in 2017.

Asia is the main market for European fuel oil with 1% sulphur content. 
When export opportunities to Asia are limited, European fuel oil inven-
tories increase and the local market price of the product drops. In the 
first half of 2018 when export opportunities to Asia were limited the 
price of fuel oil decreased. In the second half-year, however, there 
was strong demand for fuel oil in Europe and good export opportunities 
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The price of CO2 emission allowances affects the cost of electricity 
produced by direct burning of oil shale, particularly the cost of elect-
ricity produced by our older production assets whose CO2 intensity is 
higher. 

In February 2018, the European Commission approved the 
European Union’s emissions trading system reform as a 
result of which the auction volume of emission allowances 
is going to decrease annually.

After the enactment of the reform, CO2 emission allowance prices rose 
sharply. The price was the highest of the year on 10 September when 
it hit 25.23 €/t, a nine-year high.

In 2018, the average price of CO2 emission allowances was 15.6 €/t,  
i.e. 165.9% (+9.7 €/t) up on 2017.

CO2 emission allowance prices grew three times during the year

I  Eesti Energia Annual Report 2018  I  Operating environment  I
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EUROPEAN UNION’S EMISSIONS 
TRADINg SySTEM REFORM 

To promote clean energy and energy efficiency, the European  
Union has adopted measures for reducing CO2 emissions and provi-
ding incentives for Europe’s transition to a low-carbon economy. 

The European Union’s emissions trading system (EU ETS) was 
launched in 2005 to achieve the targets set out in the EU climate 
and energy policy. In order to reduce emissions, a price was put on 
every tonne of CO2 emitted. The system covers companies opera-
ting in the energy production and other energy-intensive sectors  
in the European Union, Iceland, Liechtenstein and Norway.

the eu 2030 climate and energy framework, which was agreed  
in october 2014, sets the following key targets: 
1) Renewable energy 2030 – to increase the share of renewables 

to 27% of the end energy consumption by 2030. 
2) End energy consumption 2030 – to increase energy efficiency 

by at least 27% by 2030.
3) Greenhouse gas emissions 2030 – to cut emissions in the EU by 

at least 40% below the levels of 1990 by 2030.  

To achieve the greenhouse gas emissions target for 2030, in Feb-
ruary 2018 the European Commission approved the EU ETS reform.  
In line with the reform, the total volume of emission allowances will 
be reduced annually by 2.2%. The reform brought about a sharp 
rise in the price of CO2 emission allowances.

ESTONIA’S NATIONAL DEVELOPMENT  
PLAN FOR THE ENERgy SECTOR UNTIL 2030 

In carrying out our activities and setting our goals, we observe both 
the EU environmental targets and the national development plan 
for the energy sector until 2030 (NDPES 2030) approved by the 
government of Estonia. The latter regulates activities related to  
the electricity, heating and fuel sectors as well as activities related 
to the use of energy in the transport and housing sectors. 

the key targets of nDpes 2030 are as follows:
• The fuel and electricity markets will be free, unsubsidised and 

open. 
• Electricity generation capacity in Estonia will exceed 

consumption.
• Estonia’s electricity system will have been synchronised with 

the synchronous area of the European Union.
• The share of renewable energy will increase and account  

for 50% of end energy consumption.
• 80% of heat generated in Estonia will be produced from 

renewable sources. 
• The system average interruption duration index (SAIDI) of the 

distribution network will not exceed 90 minutes per consump-
tion point per year.

• New buildings will meet the energy efficiency requirements  
of nearly zero-energy buildings.
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Renewable energy and off-grid 
production are a growing trend 
In 2018, renewable energy production continued to gain momentum 
across the world. 

In Estonia, electricity produced from renewable sources 
amounted to 1,662 gWh, accounting for 16% of Estonia’s 
total electricity output for 2018. 

Renewable energy has strong potential in Estonia. However, to realise 
that potential, implementing renewable energy should be made easier 
and a framework supporting the development of the sector adopted.

A global decline in the prices of 
renewable energy solutions is also 
having a positive effect on the sector in  
Estonia. We see a growing interest not only in wind but also in solar 
power production, which has become a competitive alternative even  
in the Nordic climate. 

Off-the-grid or local electricity production, which complements the 
conventional grid-tied or central electricity production with off-grid 
production units set up near the point of consumption, is a growing 
trend across the world. Under the European Union’s energy efficiency 
directives, from 2020 permits are only to be granted for the const-
ruction of nearly zero-energy buildings. The requirement has further 
increased the interest in, and need for, off-the-grid renewable energy 
production solutions.0 
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Electricity produced from renewable energy in Estonia

Source: Elering
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Strategy
Eesti Energia’s strategy is driven by our  
ambition to offer customers useful and  
convenient energy solutions, produce  
energy increasingly more sustainably  
and thus contribute to making the  
world a cleaner place. This ambition,  
which is at the heart of the group’s  
strategy, also underpins our  
goals and the action plans  
of all our business lines.



25

We considered all those factors in updating the Group’s strategy  
in 2018:

• customers’ expectations are changing. In place of just electricity 
sales, customers expect of their partner services of increasingly 
higher quality and more practical use as well as transparent and 
responsible behaviour. There is also a growing interest in the 
opportunity to self-produce energy.

• electricity consumption is increasing. As a result of electrifica-
tion, electricity is replacing several conventional sources of energy, 
such as fossil fuels. The rise in consumption is also supported by  
a growing use of electricity in the transport sector.

• Development of new technologies is accelerating. Renewable 
energy production technologies are becoming more efficient and 
competitive. Off-the-grid production solutions are gaining popula-
rity and digitalisation is offering more and more new opportunities 
in the energy sector.

• markets and regulations are changing. Renewable energy  
auctions in our home markets, new environmental regulations 
requiring cleaner energy production and associated tax changes 
provide incentives for increasing renewable energy output.

For Eesti Energia, the new situation 
involves challenges as well as opportu-
nities for developing new services and entering 
new markets.

In terms of business lines, we believe that customer services and 
renewable energy will have the greatest growth potential in the next 
few years. In network services, we will mainly focus on extending our 
service range because by managing multiple infrastructures we can 
provide new network services, such as street lighting, high-speed 
internet and electric vehicle infrastructure management, efficiently 
and effectively. In large-scale energy production, we have to be 
able to respond flexibly to changes in electricity markets. We see an 
opportunity for improving profitability by expanding the co-production 
of oil, gas and electricity. Opportunities for increasing the profitability 
of our controllable production assets may also arise in the capacity or 
frequency markets. 

Further information about the strategic goals and development plans 
of our main business lines is provided in relevant chapters. 

The development of the energy sector is influenced the 
most by changes in the regulatory environment, techno-
logical developments and competition in the energy and 

customer markets. 

I  Eesti Energia Annual Report 2018  I  Strategy  I



26 Network services: 
 Managing multiple infrastructures to ensure lower  
 electricity distribution charges

We will focus on securing a reasonable quality and price for the elect-
ricity distribution service. Management of multiple infrastructures and 
new services will ensure lower distribution charges for Estonian people.

 Large-scale energy production:  
 Ensuring the future of large-scale energy production

The historical oil shale industry will have developed into a large-scale, 
modern and controllable energy production industry that uses diffe-
rent fuels. We will make sure that both now and in the future people 
can use, at all times, reasonably priced and increasingly cleaner energy.

 Renewable energy:   
 Increasing the output of renewable energy

The share of electricity produced from renewable and alternative 
sources will account for 40% of our output. We will produce rene- 
wable energy in Estonia and other countries of the Baltic Sea region.

 Customer services: 
 growing in the energy markets of the Baltic Sea region

We will provide energy solutions to one million customers in the Baltic 
Sea region, helping them use energy more smartly and sustainably.

Our strategic goals by business line  
are as follows:

By 2022 we want to  
grow into a provider  

of energy solutions operating  
in the Baltic Sea region that:

• has one million customers; 
• that use energy smartly; and

•	 • produces energy using diverse and, 
to an increasing extent, renewable  

sources.
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Customer services
Eesti Energia’s customer services business 
line provides our customers with useful 
energy solutions and exceptional customer 
experience. We sell electricity, heat, gas 
and energy solutions to both household  
and corporate customers.
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Our goal is to make our customers’ life easier and more 
convenient in all our home markets. We offer customer 

services in Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Finland and 
Sweden. Internationally we operate under the Enefit and  

in Estonia under the Eesti Energia brand.

Our home markets comprise countries where the energy market  
is transparent and well-functioning and we can stand out with our 
e-services and uniform product platform.

In Estonia and Sweden, we serve both household and corporate  
customers. In Finland, we cater mainly to household customers but 
are also exploring opportunities for serving the corporate segment.  
In Latvia, we have focused on corporate customers but are now pre- 
paring to start serving household customers from 2019. In Lithuania 
and Poland, where the electricity market for household consumers  
is regulated, we serve corporate customers only.

WE HAVE a total of 494,819 household customers  
and 92,656 corporate customers.

We began selling electricity in ESTONIA in 1939,  
in LATVIA in 2006, in LITHUANIA in 2007, in POLAND  
in 2017 and in FINLAND and SWEDEN in 2018.

In terms of electricity sales, our market share is 60%  
in ESTONIA, 15% in LATVIA and 7% in LITHUANIA.

In Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania and Poland, we also sell gas. 

FACTS
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Highlights of 2018

We began selling electricity solutions in Finland and 
Sweden

In Finland, we have been offering electricity solutions to household 
customers since March 2018. In Sweden, we began offering electricity 
services to household and corporate customers in April 2018. Both in 
Finland and Sweden, we position ourselves as an energy supplier that 
stands out for its simple and convenient e-solutions such as the Enefit 
mobile app that we offer to our Finnish customers.  

We increased the sales of solar power solutions

We offer our customers two options for implementing solar power:  
a full-service solution and a turnkey production solution. 

In the case of a full-service solution, we install solar panels on 
the customer’s available premises free of charge and also arrange 
everything else necessary to produce solar power. The customer  
does not need self-financing and only has to pay on a current basis 
the price agreed for the electricity produced.

In the case of a turnkey solution, the customer purchases the solar 
power production equipment. We make sure that the process is 
smooth from design and installation up to the final adjustment and 
delivery. We offer turnkey solar power solutions to our customers  
in Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania and Poland. 

We began offering lighting as a service 

Since 2018, we have been offering our customers lighting as a service 
(LaaS) to help them operate more energy efficiently.

We replace the customer’s old 
light sources with new ones, e.g. LED 
lights. The customer has no need to make 
an investment and can start saving on energy con-
sumption expenses as soon as the solution is complete.

We launched a new electricity package

In Estonia, we launched a new convenient electricity package, 
Equal, which enables the customer to pay the same monthly charge 
throughout the year. The equal monthly amount includes the cost of 
electricity consumed, the distribution charge, the renewable energy 
charge and the electricity excise duty. The new power plan comes 
with free electrical appliance and power failure insurance. The new 
solution has been well received, particularly by customers that use 
electricity for heating during the cold period. The Equal package 
allows allocating electricity costs more evenly over the year. We are 
planning to offer similar products in our other home markets.
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Strategic goals

Exceptional customer experience is the key to retaining existing and 
winning new customers. Therefore, we will communicate more with 
our customers and offer them useful solutions, train our customer 
service staff and improve the functionality of our service channels, 
particularly the digital ones. 

In the customer services 
business line, OUR gOAL 
for 2022 is to grow into an 
energy solutions provider 
operating in the Baltic Sea 
region that has at least one 
million satisfied customers.

to achieve this goal, we will focus on the following  
in the provision of customer services in 2018-2022:

• Ensuring exceptional customer experience
• Developing innovative and useful additional services
• Increasing sales of customer services

From 2019, we are going to measure customer experience in all our 
home markets. The target is to have a positive net promoter score 
(NPS) in all the markets by 2022.

In developing additional services in the customer services business 
line, we will focus on smart solutions for managing electrical equip-
ment and electric vehicles and meeting the requirements for nearly 
zero-energy buildings. 

To increase sales volumes, we are considering entering the Lithuanian 
household consumer market that will be deregulated in 2020.

one
million 
satisfied customers
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Renewable energy
Since 2016, the renewable energy production  
units of Eesti Energia group have been incor- 
porated into the subsidiary Enefit green.  
In November 2018, Enefit green also  
became the owner of the production 
units of the former Nelja Energia.
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Our renewable energy production sources are  
the most diverse in the Baltic Sea region.  

We produce energy from wind, sun, biomass,  
municipal waste and water. 

Our wind and solar power production capacities extend to 398 MW 
and 7 MW respectively. In addition, at cogeneration plants we have 
capacities for producing a total of 25 MW of electricity and 85 MW  
of heat from renewable sources.

The owner has granted Eesti Energia permission to prepare for  
the initial public offering of Enefit Green’s shares.
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WE HAVE
• a total of 22 wind farms with a total capacity  

of 398 MW in Estonia and Lithuania
• 2 cogeneration plants in LATVIA
• 1 cogeneration plant in ESTONIA
• 1 waste-to-energy plant in ESTONIA
• 1 hydro power plant in ESTONIA 
• minority interests in 2 biogas power plants in ESTONIA
• 1 pellet factory in LATVIA
• 19 solar power plants on the premises of customers  

and Eesti Energia.

FACTS

OUTPUT IN 2018
• We produced 481 GWh of electricity from renewable 

and alternative sources.

• Enefit Green produced 388 GWh of electricity,  
which accounted for 81% of our renewable and  
alternative energy output.

• Enefit Green produced 601 GWh of heat, including 
190 GWh from renewable sources.

I  Eesti Energia Annual Report 2018  I  Renewable energy  I
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Highlights of 2018

We tripled our renewable energy production capacity

On 29 May, Enefit Green signed a purchase and sale agreement by 
which it acquired 100% of the shares in the renewable energy com-
pany Nelja Energia. In November, after the Estonian, Latvian and 
Lithuanian competition authorities had approved the transaction,  
Enefit Green became the owner of Nelja Energia. Enefit Green pur- 
chased Nelja Energia because the acquisition is well aligned with our 
strategic goal to produce 40% of electricity from renewable and alter-
native sources in 2022.

As a result of the transaction, Enefit Green’s annual renewable energy 
output will grow from 0.3 TWh to over 1 TWh, i.e. almost three times.  

We completed the first stand-alone renewable energy 
production system

The Estonian island of Ruhnu received a stand-alone electricity sys-
tem (a system not connected to the mainland power grid) that ensures 
the security of electricity supply for the islanders.

During the Ruhnu project, we developed a prototype of a stand-alone 
renewable energy production system. We also gained a lot of expe-
rience for offering similar stand-alone systems in areas where access 
to the traditional electricity distribution service is limited.

On Ruhnu, at least 50% of electricity is now produced from renewable 
sources: wind, sun and biodiesel. The island’s modern electrical sys-
tem includes a battery bank that allows storing wind and solar power 
for periods when the weather does not favour electricity production. 

To make sure there is electricity regardless of season and weather,  
the island will also continue to have a diesel generator that partly runs 
on biodiesel.

We expanded solar power production

The year 2018 saw strong growth in the Estonian solar power market: 
roughly two times more solar energy production capacities were ins-
talled than in all previous years combined. 

In 2018, we installed solar power plants with a total capacity of 7 MW. 
The plants were built on both Eesti Energia’s and customers’ premises. 
In Estonia for instance, new solar power plants are located in the vici-
nity of our Paldiski wind farm, in our former mining area in Laaskõrve, 
Ida-Viru county, and next to our Iru and Paide power plants.

However, 5 MW of new solar power production capacities are on the 
premises of our corporate customers and help cover part of their 
electricity consumption. Further information on solar power consump-
tion options offered to customers is provided in the chapter Customer 
services (see page 27).

Our solar power plants produce roughly 6,500 MWh of renewable 
electricity per year. The quantity would meet the annual electricity 
needs of over 2,000 households with average electricity consumption.

We created an opportunity for building a wind farm  
in Finland

In June, Enefit Green signed an agreement with the Finnish state- 
owned enterprise Metsähallitus, which has created an opportunity  
for developing the Tolpanvaara wind farm in Finland. The wind farm  
is expected to be built in a relatively remote area with good wind con-
ditions located between the forests belonging to Metsähallitus. 
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Strategic goals

Our goal is to produce,  
through close collaboration  
between Enefit green and our  
large-scale energy production  
units, 40% of electricity from  
renewable and alternative  
sources in 2022. This assumes  
more than three-fold growth  
compared to the current level.

40%  
of electricity from  

renewable and 
 alternative  

sources in 2022

We expect that by 2022 we will have installed 50 MW of solar power 
plants. We are planning to install the first solar power plants outside 
Estonia in Poland.

To execute our extensive growth plan, we need to raise a significant 
amount of debt capital. In addition, we are ready to organise an IPO of 
a minority interest in Enefit Green. The listing of Enefit Green would 
enable every interested party to benefit directly from the development 
of renewable energy.

to achieve this ambitious goal, we will focus on the following  
in 2018-2022:

• Seizing renewable energy investment opportunities in our 
  home markets
• Raising additional capital through the initial public offering  
 (IPO) of a minority interest in Enefit green

Several countries among our home markets have expressed an 
interest in expanding their renewable energy output and organising 
cross-border renewable energy auctions to achieve this. 

To seize investment opportunities, we will expand our wind power pro-
duction in Estonia, Finland and Lithuania. In Finland and Lithuania, we 
also wish to participate in renewable energy auctions.

Installed 
capacity* 

MW

Additional  
capacity   

via 2018/19 
auctions 

MW
Solar energy 110
Wind energy 310

Wind energy 2,041 450

Solar energy 1.5
Wind energy 78
Solar energy 88 100
Wind energy 533 200
Solar energy 199 750
Wind energy 6,000 900

growth opportunities in our home markets

* Installed capacity as of the end of 2018

Wind energy Solar energy
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Large-scale energy 
production
In large-scale energy production, we have tradi- 
tionally focused on adding maximum value to 
Estonia’s most important natural resource –  
oil shale. In addition to oil shale, our large- 
scale energy production entities can  
produce energy from alternative  
sources such as biomass, peat,  
oil shale gas and tyre chips.  
Our goal is to increase the  
share of alternative fuels  
in our production  
processes.
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The business line comprises three production entities: the mining 
entity Enefit Kaevandused, the energy production entity Enefit Ener-
giatootmine and the technical solutions provider Enefit Solutions.

Our large-scale energy production facilities are located in the north-
east part of Estonia, in Ida-Viru county, where we are one of the 
largest employers.

We have been working hard to improve the efficiency and sustainabi-
lity of our energy production operations for years already, investing in 
new technologies and upgrading our older facilities by installing sta-
te-of-the-art pollution control equipment. The emissions of our new 
production assets such as the Auvere power plant and the Enefit280 
oil plant are times smaller than those of our older production assets. 
Our efforts have borne fruit: studies confirm that air in Estonia, inclu-
ding Ida-Viru county where most of our production assets are located, 
is among the cleanest in Europe.

Thanks to our electricity output, Estonia has been  
an electricity exporter and earned export revenue. 

Most of our liquid fuel output is also exported. 

LARGE-SCALE ENERGY PRODUCTION OPERATIONS COMPRISE:
• oil shale mining
• logistics from mining to production units
• electricity production
• oil production
• heat production
• design, construction, sale, maintenance and repair of technical  
 solutions

OUTPUT IN 2018
• 8.7 TWh of electricity, including 93 GWh of renewable energy 
• 411 thousand tonnes of liquid fuels
• 391 GWh of heat for the city of Narva 
• 16.0 million tonnes, i.e. 35.2 TWh of oil shale 

CURRENTLY OPERATING LARGE-SCALE ENERGY  
PRODUCTION FACILITIES:
• Auvere power plant (capacity: 305 MW) was accepted from  
 the builder in 2018
• Eesti power plant (capacity: 1,530 MW) started operating in 1969
• Balti power plant (capacity: 365 MW) started operating in 1959
• Enefit280 oil plant (capacity: 34 t/h) produced the first oil in 2012
• Enefit140 oil plants (capacity: 30 t/h) started operating in 1980
• Estonia mine started operating in 1972 
• Narva opencast started operating in 1970
• Enefit Solutions’ Jõhvi factory started operating in 1948

FACTS
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Highlights of 2018

We accepted the Auvere power plant

On 31 July, we accepted from the builder, General Electric, the Auvere 
power plant. The 300 MW plant is the largest industrial investment in 
Estonia’s history and helps secure Estonia’s energy independence.

The Auvere power plant can supply the grid with 2.2 TWh of elect-
ricity per year, a quantity equal to a quarter of Estonia’s annual 
electricity consumption which is slightly above 8 TWh. In addition  
to oil shale, the plant can use other fuels: biomass (up to 50%), peat 
(up to 20%) and oil shale gas (up to 10%). The Auvere power plant can 
produce over 1 TWh of renewable energy per year. 

Compared to our older generating units that have not been renovated, 
the Auvere power plant’s nitrogen emissions are 3, sulphur emissions 
10 and particle emissions 20 times smaller per unit of energy produced.

The completion of the Auvere power plant was awarded the titles of 
Ida-Viru County Business Deed of the Year 2018 and Estonia’s Energy 
Deed of the Year 2018.

We increased the use of oil shale gas in electricity 
production

In 2018, we completed a development project in the Eesti power plant 
by which we increased a generating unit’s capacity to use oil shale gas 
from 13% to 50%. Oil shale gas is a by-product of shale oil production, 
which has high calorific value and can be used to produce electricity.
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By increasing the use of oil 
shale gas, we improve the flexi-
bility and profitability and reduce the 
environmental impacts of our electricity 
production operations. 

We are expanding opportunities for the use  
of wood waste 

We began building a complex for shredding wood waste and separa-
ting and removing metals on the premises of the Balti power plant. 
The complex will be completed at the end of 2019.

Wood waste supplied to us such as parts of demolished buildings, old 
frames, doors or furniture contains a lot of metal and, therefore, can-
not be immediately used by a power plant. In the complex that we are 
building, wood waste will be shredded and elements not suitable for 
burning (e.g. metal parts) will be separated and removed. 

We use wood waste in the Balti power plant’s cogeneration unit where 
in 2018 we produced 73 GWh of electricity from renewable fuels, 
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including wood waste. Such a quantity can meet the annual electricity 
needs of 25,000 households with average electricity consumption. 

We signed a three-year agreement for selling oil shale

We signed an agreement on the sale of oil shale to Viru Keemia Grupp 
(VKG) under which we are going to sell them almost 1 million tonnes of 
oil shale within three years. 

We are increasing our participation in the circular 
economy

The circular economy offers us opportunities to reuse the by-pro-
ducts of energy production. For example, every year our Estonia mine 
produces about 5 million tonnes of limestone but currently only a 
few hundred thousand tonnes of the by-product is reused in crushed 
stone products.

Under an agreement signed in summer 2018 with the rail transport 
provider Operail, during 12 months we will supply 300,000 tonnes of 
limestone to various regions across Estonia. Limestone is well suited 
to the construction of roads, big squares, dams and other large infra-
structure assets.

In 2018, we also signed a cooperation agreement with Tallinn Univer-
sity of Technology to explore opportunities for increasing the reuse of 
limestone extracted as a mining by-product. The research project will 
be completed in 2019.   

We obtained an opportunity to start producing oil  
from old tyres

In 2018, a regulation specifying when recovered tyres cease to be 
waste entered into force, enabling us to start using old, end-of-life 
tyres in oil production together with oil shale. We expect to start pro-
ducing oil from old tyres in 2019 already. By doing that, we will create 
an efficient and environmentally friendly option for reusing old tyres. 

We can start using tyres for industrial-scale oil production when our 
integrated environmental permit has been updated. We have also app-
lied to the European Chemicals Agency to obtain a REACH registration 
for liquid fuels produced industrially from a mix of tyre chips and oil 
shale.

In Estonia up to 12,000 tonnes and in Europe over 3 million tonnes of 
old tyres are scrapped every year. Eesti Energia can solve the old tyre 
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recycling issue not only in Estonia but also in the neighbouring count-
ries because our production facilities can reuse up to 200,000 tonnes 
of old tyres per year.

The European Commission allocated our oil plants 
free allowances for the emission of 4.3 million tonnes 
of CO2

Under the European Union’s greenhouse gas emission allowance 
trading regulation, industries exposed to a significant risk of carbon 
leakage can apply for free emission allowances to safeguard themsel-
ves against the negative impacts of cross-border competition brought 
about by the climate policy.

Based on the regulation, at the end of 2018 the European Commis-
sion made a positive decision regarding Eesti Energia’s application for 
free emission allowances for its oil industry. As a result, at the end of 
2018 we received free emission allowances for 3.3 million tonnes of 
CO2. According to the same decision, we will also receive free emission 
allowances for 556,000 tonnes of CO2 in 2019 and 548,000 tonnes  

of CO2 in 2020. Altogether, we will receive free emission allowances 
for roughly 4.3 million tonnes of CO2 based on the decision of the 
European Commission. 

We will transfer the asset management operations  
of our large-scale energy production facilities to 
Enefit Solutions

We continued the process started in 2017 for transferring the asset 
management operations of our large-scale energy production facilities 
and related staff to Enefit Solutions. In 2018, the maintenance teams 
of our oil production assets and dragline excavators used in oil shale 
mining were transferred. We also made preparations for transferring 
the electrical equipment maintenance and repair team of the Narva 
opencast at the beginning of 2019.
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Strategic goals

In the large-scale energy  
production business line,  
OUR gOAL is to develop Estonia’s  
historical oil shale industry  
into a modern and efficient  
large-scale energy production  
industry that produces energy  
not only from oil shale but also  
from various alternative sources.

to achieve the above goal, we will focus on the following  
in 2018-2022:

• Increasing the output and improving the quality of liquid fuels
• Diversifying the range of fuels used in energy production
• Increasing the flexibility of electricity production
• Improving competitiveness through digitalisation
• Building the Narva underground mine
• Creating a comprehensive asset management system
• Increasing participation in the circular economy 

 

We are planning to build a new oil plant that uses the Enefit280 tech-
nology. The new plant should increase Eesti Energia’s annual shale oil 
output from 0.4 million tonnes to 0.7 million tonnes. We hope to make 
an investment decision in 2019. 

To develop 
Estonia’s historical  
oil shale industry  
into a modern and  

efficient large-scale 
energy production

To improve the quality of, and add value to, our liquid fuels, we are 
planning to build a refinery complex for the after-treatment of oil shale 
gasoline and middle oil. Refined products have better quality and hig-
her value both in terms of price and marketing opportunities. We are 
exploring opportunities to find partners for the project.

To increase the quality of liquid fuels and improve customer service, 
we will also focus on extending the operating cycle of the Enefit280 
oil plant, improving the quality of gasoline produced and expanding 
the tank park.

A rise in the output of liquid fuels is accompanied by growth in the 
volume of electricity produced from oil shale gas. In 2018, we used 
oil shale gas to produce 457 GWh of electricity. We are planning to 
increase the figure to 1.58 TWh by 2022. This will enable us to reduce 
the direct burning of oil shale and thus also adverse impacts on the 
environment in the coming years.

I  Eesti Energia Annual Report 2018  I  Large-scale energy production  I
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We see strong growth potential in the use of biomass.

To realise the potential more extensively, we wish to participate  
in the European Union’s statistical transfers of renewable energy.  
By using alternative fuels, our large-scale energy production facilities 
can contribute to achieving the goal of producing 40% of electricity 
from renewable and alternative energy sources in 2022.

To mitigate risks and ensure more flexible production in periods of 
volatile market prices, we will develop a solution to cold start the Eesti 
power plant. We are also planning to implement several digital tools 
in our production units that will support flexible use of production 
assets. They will help us implement data-based management: analyse 
the work of generating units in detail to manage them more precisely.

We will implement a system that will enable us to monitor fuel quality 
in real time, generate delivery notes automatically and thus improve 
the efficiency of the logistics processes. 

We are making preparations for opening an underground mine in the 
southern part of the Narva opencast in 2023. To keep oil shale losses 
and environmental impacts as low as possible, we are planning to use 
longwall mining in the new mine. The new technology will lower the 
product cost of oil shale and increase the competitiveness of our oil 
shale assets.

We will continue creating a comprehensive asset management  
system and transferring asset management operations to Enefit  
Solutions. The purpose of the streamlining is to ensure the operational 
reliability of our technical systems and, through efficient management 
processes, a competitive product cost for oil shale. We are also plan-
ning to digitalise our asset management processes. 

We will make large-scale energy production cleaner 
and more environmentally friendly by expanding our 
participation in the circular economy. 

We will increase the use of limestone in the stabilisation of soil  
in infrastructure construction. We will also seek opportunities for 
increasing the use oil shale ash in construction, agriculture and  
plastic production.

By developing the historical oil shale industry into an efficient large- 
scale energy production industry we can ensure that consumers can 
use, both today and in the future, reasonably priced energy whose 
production is increasingly cleaner and well controlled. 
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Network services
Our subsidiary Elektrilevi delivers electricity to 
almost all the households and companies, i.e. 
93% of all electricity consumers, in Estonia. 

As a distribution service provider, Elektrilevi 
has to ensure the reliability of the distri- 
bution network and a reasonable price  
for the distribution service and to  
provide good customer service.



43

To improve the reliability of the distribution network, we continuously 
invest in renewing the network and making it more weatherproof. We 
try to resolve unplanned interruptions as quickly as possible. To pre-
vent interruptions, we consistently develop our network maintenance 
processes.

Seeing the results of network renewal may take years. However,  
customer service can be improved daily. This means informing custo-
mers promptly and solving their problems as quickly and effectively 
as possible.

In addition to electricity distribution, Elektrilevi offers a number  
of new network services. For example, Elektrilevi manages the street 
lights of Tallinn and Tartu which account for 40% of all the street  
lights in Estonia. 

In 2018, we started to build a high-speed internet network 
on our distribution network infrastructure. 

We are planning to expand our network services portfolio even 
further, as strong competence and synergy between different infra-
structures enable us to offer infrastructure services sustainably and 
cost-effectively. The cost savings resulting from smart management  
of multiple infrastructures also help provide the electricity distribu- 
tion service at a more favourable price.

• Our customers include 470,719 households and 33,550 companies.
• We have 23,657 substations, 228 area and 220 distribution substa-

tions, 38,760 km of weatherproof power lines and 21,520 km of bare 
conductor lines. 

• 67% of our low- and medium-voltage network is weatherproof. 
• Within 5 years, the number of supply interruptions has decreased  

2 times.

FACTS

N
et

w
or

k 
se

rv
ic

es

I  Eesti Energia Annual Report 2018  I  Network services  I



44

Highlights of 2018

We obtained approval for lowering electricity 
distribution charges from 2019 

The Estonian Competition Authority approved Elektrilevi’s applica- 
tion for lowering distribution charges from 1 January 2019 by 8.4%  
on average.

The price cut is attributable to improvements in Elektrilevi’s operating 
efficiency and a favourable economic environment. The fixed charge 
component, included in pricing policies in 2017, also played a role. 
During the year, our customers surrendered 3% of unused capacity 
and terminated more than 2,000 network contracts in places without 
consumption. Higher network efficiency lowers costs and allows us  
to reduce the prices charged from customers.

We will develop a telecommunication services 
network based on the existing electricity distribution 
infrastructure

We will create an open telecommunication market in Estonia where 
all telecommunication operators can offer their services via a central 
network.

In 2018, we tested the construction of a high-speed internet network 
on electricity lines in the framework of several pilot projects. This 
included building a high-speed internet connection for about 600  
customers in the Veskimetsa district in Tallinn. 

In October, Elektrilevi won the procurement tender for supplying the 
‘last mile’ of high-speed internet networks in Estonia. The state organi-
sed the tender to allocate 20 million euros to support the construction 
of high-speed internet networks in areas without high-quality internet 
service and alternative options for obtaining it in the near future. 

With the support of the state, we will provide 40,000 buildings with a 
high-speed internet connection. In addition, we will build network con-
nections in areas, which are currently without high-quality high-speed 
internet connections, taking the network to at least 100,000 properties 
with roughly 200,000 households (the properties include apartment 
buildings). We are planning to build the high-speed network within five 
years.
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Strategic goals

In the network services business  
line, OUR MAIN gOAL is to mana- 
ge multiple infrastructures to  
ensure the reasonable availa- 
bility and price of the distribu- 
tion service. We wish to lead 
the way both in Estonia and  
globally in offering smart, con- 
venient and competitive energy  
and infrastructure solutions.

to achieve this goal, we will focus on the following in  
the provision of network services in 2018-2022:

• Developing a customer-centric culture
• Ensuring the competitiveness of the distribution network
• Implementing efficient business processes
• Providing new network and additional services
• Participating in the design of the regulatory environment

We wish  
to lead the way both  

in Estonia and globally  
in offering smart, 

convenient and competitive 
energy and infrastructure 

solutions

We will enhance our customer-centric approach by mapping the  
customer’s journey, developing standard service situations and 
making them available to the customer through the e-environment. 
In 2022, self-service will account for 68% of our total service volume 
(2018: 57%). We will make the process of connecting to the distribution 
network more flexible and faster.

We will ensure the competitiveness of the distribution network by  
preparing a long-term network development strategy, which is based 
on total gain to society and a balanced investment policy. We will test 
different production and consumption management platforms and sto-
rage technologies. We will create increasingly more value through 
digital solutions: we will improve the cyber defence of our distribution 
network’s business-critical management systems and data commu-
nication networks.

We will increase the efficiency of our business processes by impro-
ving cooperation with partners and implement real time fault detection 
systems. We will also introduce machine analysis of network opera-
tion data and develop our data mining skills and competencies. 

New revenue sources include new network services such as street 
 lighting and the development of telecommunication infrastructure.  
We will continue to build high-speed internet networks in areas that 
do not have them. We will offer our customers an off-the-grid pro-
duction solution unique in this part of the world, which will meet the 
electricity consumption needs of a household round the year.

By managing multiple infrastructures, offering new additional services 
and implementing smart network management solutions we can imp- 
rove the efficiency of our processes and network management ope-
rations. This, in turn, allows us to provide the electricity distribution 
service at a more favourable price. 

N
et

w
or

k 
se

rv
ic

es

I  Eesti Energia Annual Report 2018  I  Network services  I



46

Development 
projects
The development unit manages the development 
projects necessary for achieving the strategic  
goals of all the group’s business lines,  
applying the best practices and techno- 
logical solutions.
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An important area of development for Eesti Energia continues to  
be digitalisation. Through the collection and in-depth analysis of a 
comprehensive set of high-quality data, we create a basis for modern, 
efficient and effective data-based business management.

The development unit is also responsible for Eesti Energia’s know- 
how export projects. Eesti Energia has extensive and diverse expe-
rience in the energy industry that can be applied in many countries  
all over the world.

In finding the best and smartest solutions, the development unit works 
closely with both internal and external partners including universities, 
start-ups and other companies.

Enefit Idea Hub: We received 100 ideas through  
the Enefit Idea Pitch

In 2015, we created the idea bank Enefit Idea Hub to collect ideas and 
identify innovative business opportunities systematically. It is a place 
where our employees, partners and others interested in contributing 
to the development of the energy sector can submit their ideas.

Our goal is to support Eesti Energia’s growth by identifying new busi-
ness opportunities whose annual impact on the completion of the 
project would amount to 5-10% of the Group’s EBITDA. Since 2015, 
Enefit Idea Hub has provided us with 951 ideas which have resulted  
in 35 projects.

In 2018, we organised our first international idea competition Enefit 
Idea Hub – The Pitch. We gathered ideas in two categories: smart 
customer solutions and smart network. In the framework of the idea 
competition, we met with interested parties on inspiration days in  
Tallinn, Tartu, Helsinki, Lappeenranta, Kraków, Poznań and Wrocław. 
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We received a total of 
100 ideas from Estonia, 
Poland, Latvia, Finland and 
Lithuania.

The jury awarded the first place to the idea 
that proposed creating a single subscription platform 
that Elektrilevi’s customers could use for communicating with diffe-
rent energy service providers. The idea was submitted by our own 
employee, Ott Antsmaa, who is the market and regulatory affairs team 
leader at Elektrilevi. In addition to this idea, we analysed the feasibility 
of many other promising ideas.

We pay a lot of attention to digitalising our business

Thanks to smart meters and customer service e-solutions, such as our 
self-service environment and mobile app, we are leading the way in 
network and customer services.

Our new Auvere power plant for instance has 40,000 sensors that 
enable us to collect data on all of the power plant’s processes and 
equipment. The data we collect allows us to manage the power plant 
more effectively and efficiently. We are also creating digital manage-
ment capabilities for our other large-scale energy production assets 
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and processes. We work with start-ups in implementing digital ser-
vices and big data.

We started to offer complete solutions  
to large energy consumers 

In 2017, we opened two technology parks: one near Narva on the pre-
mises of the Balti power plant and the other in Harju county on the 
premises of the Iru power plant. The parks operate under the name of 
Enefit Technology Parks. 

Using the transmission and distribution networks to deliver large amounts 
of electricity to the end consumer causes significant transmission and 
distribution losses and costs. Therefore, bringing large consumers near 
the power plants is a more cost-efficient and sustainable solution.

At the end of 2018, Enefit Technology Parks had 8 customers whose 
total expected annual electricity consumption (after the launch of pro-
duction) is around 100 GWh. The quantity equals the annual electricity 
needs of 30,000 households with average electricity consumption. 

Our ambition is to increase the technology parks’ annual 
consumption volume at least threefold. 

The target for the next few years is to increase the annual consump-
tion volume to 350 GWh. This would make Enefit Technology Parks 
the largest of their kind in the Baltics.

We export our energy expertise

Eesti Energia has 80 years of experience in developing oil shale 
energy. Our development projects in Jordan and in the United States  

in Utah confirm that we have competencies and capabilities for deve-
loping oil shale energy technology transfer projects across the world.

We also have considerable experience in producing energy from 
waste. The Iru waste-to-energy power plant began operating in 2013 
and the representatives of several countries have shown interest in 
acquiring a similar plant.

We continuously seek opportunities for sharing and applying our 
experience in the oil shale energy and waste-to-energy industries  
in other countries.

Our subsidiary Enefit American Oil obtained a permit 
to build an utility corridor in Utah, the USA

We are developing a mine and oil plant construction project on the 
company’s private property in Utah. However, the connections neces-
sary for the project require the construction of a utility corridor across 
federal land. The company is planning to build a water supply pipeline, 
a natural gas supply pipeline, an oil product line and power lines in the 
utility corridor. To continue the development of the project, we have to 
apply for and obtain air pollution and mining permits.

Work on opening an oil shale mine and building  
a power plant in Jordan continued

In 2018, work on opening an oil shale opencast and building a power 
plant in a project in Jordan in which Eesti Energia has an ownership 
interest continued. Overburden removal continued in the opencast. 
The construction of mining infrastructure is under way and prepa-
rations are being made for setting up the power plant for current 
operation. In 2018, Eesti Energia received the first dividend payment 
from the project in Jordan.
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We protect  
the environment
Our ambition is to produce energy increasingly more 
cleanly and sustainably. Besides increasing the  
production of renewable energy, in the period  
2010-2018 we invested around 1.2 billion  
euros in reducing the environmental  
impacts of our large-scale energy  
production operations, acquiring  
technologies that improve ope- 
rating efficiency and building  
new, more environmentally  
friendly production  
capacities. 

Plants near the sediment basin of the Estonia mine
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Our efforts have borne fruit – our energy 
production meets the European Union’s 
environmental regulations and enables 
Estonia to achieve the objectives of the 
Paris Climate Agreement. Studies1 confirm 
that air in Estonia, including Ida-Viru county 
where most of our energy production faci-
lities are located, is among the cleanest in 
Europe.

Within 20 years, our large-scale energy 
production facilities’ nitrogen emissions 
have decreased by a third, sulphur emis-
sions around three times and particle 
emissions 30 times.

Tests proved that Enefix, an oil 
shale ash-based soil improver,  
has a positive effect on crop yields 
In April, a summary of the tests carried out with the Enefix soil imp-
rover in partnership with the Estonian organic producers’ association 
during a period exceeding one year in both traditional and organic 
fields was completed. The tests confirmed that oil shale ash has a 
positive effect on crop yields, helps neutralise soil pH and is suitable 
for organic farming.

When electricity is produced from oil shale, high-calcium fly ash that 
is safe for the environment and suitable for liming, is separated from 

flue gas. We began wholesaling Enefix, an oil shale ash-based soil 
treatment product, to agricultural and horticultural businesses in 
2016. Oil shale ash can also be used as a cement substitute in road 
construction, building block and plastic production, and cementing oil 
and gas wells.

In March 2018, our monthly sales hit a five-year high – we sold 
20,000 tonnes of ash of which 11,000 tonnes to the agriculture sector 
and the rest to the construction sector. 

More extensive recycling of oil shale ash helps increase the value 
derived from oil shale and use the by-products of energy production 
efficiently and sustainably.

1 European Environment Agency report Air quality in Europe 2018
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Oil production facilities  
completed an action plan  
for reducing odour issues 
We invested over 4 million euros in reducing odour nuisances under  
a four-year action plan that was approved by the Estonian Environ-
mental Board.

by the end of 2018, we completed the following major improvement 
and development activities of the action plan: 

• we modernised Enefit140 oil plants’ oil shale and heat carrier fee-
der units, reconstructed flares and installed oxygen sensors on 
electrostatic precipitators;

• we installed a hydrocarbon vapour recovery unit in the tank farm 
for oil products; 

• we built a refining plant where pungent-smelling mercaptans and 
hydrogen sulphide are removed from oil shale gasoline;

• we launched an ambient air monitoring station in the area between 
Auvere and Vaivara.

Cleaner  
environment  
through digitalisation
We installed a real-time fuel quality measuring system on fuel 
conveyors.

Precise real-time data on fuel quality enables us to plan and manage 
production capacities better. It helps reduce deviations in production 
processes and ensures cleaner energy production. 

Digitalisation projects that help protect the environment have great 
potential in the development of cleaner and modern energy produc-
tion solutions. Thus, we will continue carrying out such projects also 
in the future.
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Universities are going to study  
the characteristics of oil shale  
ash produced in Estonia
At the request of the Ministry of the Environment, Tallinn University  
of Technology and the University of Tartu are going to study the cha-
racteristics of different types of oil shale ash to determine whether or 
not they should be classified as hazardous waste.

In producing oil shale electricity and shale oil by applying different 
technologies, around 9.5 million tonnes of oil shale ash is produced in 
Estonia every year. Most of this, i.e. 9.3 million tonnes is stored in dis-
posal sites. Under current regulations, oil shale ash is fully classified 
as hazardous waste and this imposes significant restrictions on its use. 

The study, which is going to be funded by the Environmental Invest-
ment Centre, will be completed in summer 2019. 

Environment day 2018 reviewed 
PÕXIT – Estonia’s exit from the oil 
shale industry
In August, we hosted Eesti Energia’s traditional environment day which 
was attended by over 200 people. The main topic was PÕXIT – Esto-
nia’s exit from the oil shale industry. Government officials, scientists, 
entrepreneurs and the representatives of political parties discussed 
the implications of PÕXIT and the prospects of the oil shale industry.

It was concluded that although the share of renewable energy is 
increasing, it cannot yet replace oil shale energy and reasonable 

co-existence is 
possible. Oil shale 
energy production is 
becoming less harmful 
for the environment even wit-
hout PÕXIT. The key lies in the use 
of environmentally friendly technologies 
and the implementation of renewable energy 
which are also among Eesti Energia’s strategic goals for the coming 
years. 

On the World Cleanup Day  
we cleaned forests of 7 tonnes  
of old tyres 
During the World Cleanup Day, our employees collected from forests 
7 tonnes of tyres that were cleaned, crushed and sent to our oil plants 
and Enefit Green’s Iru waste-to-energy plant.

In Estonia roughly 12,000 tonnes of old tyres are scrapped every year. 
In nature, they decompose very slowly. At the same time, old tyres are 
a potentially valuable raw material for energy production.

Eesti Energia can use up to 200,000 tonnes of old tyres per year as  
a fuel in both oil and electricity production.
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We also protect the environment in our offices

eesti energia’s systematic environmental activities are  
underpinned by the following principles which make up our 
environmental policy:

• We use an environmental management system, which complies 
with international standards: ISO 14001 and the EU Eco-Manage-
ment and Audit Scheme (EMAS). 

• We observe all Estonian, EU and international environmental regu-
lations, conventions and agreements which apply to our operations.

• We analyse the environmental impacts of our activities and reduce 
them through technological solutions and innovation as well as by 
improving efficiency and reusing materials.

• We reduce the CO2-intensity of the energy we produce. To achieve 
this, we diversify our energy portfolio and use renewable sources 
of energy in combination with the best possible technology in tech-
nologically and economically appropriate volumes.

• We work with both Estonian and international research institutions 
and consulting companies to achieve our environmental objectives.

• In conducting procurement tenders, where other conditions are 
comparable, we prefer bidders that have a certified environmen-
tal management system and use sustainable technologies and 
materials.

OUR ENVIRONMENTAL POLICy 
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We strive to reduce the environmental impacts of our office buil-
dings. We follow the green office principles which aim to save natural 
resources, reduce waste and make the working environment healthier.

Eesti Energia’s first Green Office Certificate was awarded at the begin-
ning of 2017 to our head office in Tallinn. At the end of the same year, 
our head office also received the title of Green Office of the Year. The 
office building of our oil industry in Auvere applied for a Green Office 
Certificate in 2018 and obtained it at the beginning of 2019.
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kEy ENVIRONMENTAL FIgURES

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

output

Electricity GWh 9,687 7,689 9,071 9,736 9,132

    incl. renewable energy GWh 297 361 380 404 481

Heat GWh 1,309 1,288 1,358 1,186 1,199

incl. biomass and waste 
energy

GWh 337 357 412 424 403

Liquid fuels thousand t 265 337 318 395 411

Oil shale gas million m3 72 95 91 112 108

ResouRces useD

Oil shale million t 17.0 13.7 15.2 16.6 15.6

Natural gas million m3 43.8 47.1 60.7 37.2 39.9

Biomass million t 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.2

Municipal waste thousand t 221.4 244.6 247.9 235.7 232.9

Cooling water million m3 1,454.5 1,365.1 1,481.9 1,486.7 1,348.8

Pumped mining water million m3 117.3 103.6 139.5 155.6 91.9

   incl. water from opencasts million m3 57.0 49.0 71.2 76.3 43.9

   incl. water from 
   underground mines

million m3 60.3 54.7 68.3 79.2 48.0

* The resource charge figure for 2016 was influenced by retrospective reduction of the resource charge rate. 
 Excluding the impact of retrospective reduction, resource charges for 2016 would have amounted to 17.3 million euros.

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

emissions to aiR

SO2 thousand t 24.2 17.5 20.7 22.6 18.2

NOx thousand t 8.5 5.9 6.4 6.7 5.9

Particles thousand t 8.5 3.5 2.3 2.5 2.1

CO2 million t 12.8 10.0 11.5 12.3 11.3

soliD Waste

Oil shale fly and  
bottom ash

million t 7.9 6.3 7.0 7.2 7.2

   incl. recycled million t 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2

Waste rock million t 6.4 6.6 5.0 4.2 4.2

   incl. recycled million t 1.8 2.0 1.5 1.4 1.2

Releases to WateR

Suspended matter thousand t 0.8 0.6 1.0 0.9 0.7

Sulphates thousand t 51.7 60.1 71.1 86.2 59.1

enviRonmental chaRGes

Resource charges* m€ 28.5 28.1 1.3 15.3 25.0

Pollution charges m€ 31.8 30.4 30.3 28.7 27.4
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Our people
We strive to be an innovative international 
value-based company that has high mana- 
gement quality and employs dedicated  
people. Only by consistently developing  
our employees can we be sustainable  
and successful not only today  
but also in the years to come 
 and achieve our strategic  
objectives.



56

our personnel development strategy is aimed at:

• identifying competencies and development needs  
which are critical for long-term success and using them  
to prepare development programmes and competency 
models; and

• identifying talent, i.e. future managers and their develop-
ment needs.

We have a diverse workforce
Eesti Energia is a diverse organisation – our employees include  
Estonians, Russians, Ukrainians, Latvians, Lithuanians, Poles, Finns, 
Swedes and other ethnic groups. Therefore, inside the organisation we 
share most of the information in three languages – Estonian, Russian 
and English.

At 31 December 2018, Eesti Energia had 5,763 employees: 4,551 men 
and 1,212 women. The year-end number of managers was 720.

Developing the organisation  
is the key to success
We believe that developing and training people is critical for gaining a 
competitive edge and, thus, the key to our future success. In 2018, we 
arranged 1,426 training events for our employees. 

We encourage internal knowledge and experience sharing: 40% of all 
training events organised in 2018 were internal ones. We have over  
100 internal trainers who regularly provide training to others.

On-the-job 
learning helps 
maintain expertise  
in the company

We pay a lot of attention to diversifying our peo-
ple’s professional knowledge and skills. To achieve this, in 2018 we 
adopted the Group’s on-the-job learning policy. On-the-job learning 
is part of our internal training programme, which ensures that organi-
sation-specific competencies are preserved and passed on. A uniform 
on-the-job learning programme also helps develop future specia-
lists internally. We launched an on-the-job learning programme at our 
energy production entity Enefit Energiatootmine in 2001 already.  
We prepare on-the-job learning curricula for all business-critical posi-
tions. In 2018, on-the-job learning programmes were completed by  
98 employees at our energy production entities, 772 employees at our 
mining entities and 30 employees at Enefit Solutions.

To make sure that our mining entity Enefit Kaevandused has internally 
developed specialists, we organise annual development days where 
line managers talk about their work and challenges. The days are 
also used to highlight the importance of self-development and discuss 
ways to increase employee engagement.
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Implementation of the strategy 
begins at the top 
Modern industry, which is characterised by rapid technological 
advancement, needs skilful people management. Strategy imple- 
mentation begins at the level of managers whose behaviour sets  
an example for their team members. Accordingly, we pay a lot of 
attention to developing both current and future managers.

We develop leadership competencies

In 2017, we launched a programme for developing our managers’ 
leadership competencies. In spring and summer 2018, 74 managers 
completed the leadership development programme and in autumn  
a new class of 102 managers began their studies. In the course of the 
programme, Estonia’s best management trainers help our managers 
develop both their theoretical knowledge and practical skills in crea-
ting and implementing strategy, leading and developing teams and 
managing change.

Management conference: Innovation, strategy and 
management 

In March, we organised Eesti Energia’s third annual management con-
ference. On this occasion, the key topics were innovation, strategy and 
management. A lot of attention was also paid to business digitalisation 
opportunities.

The conference ended with the election of the Manager of the Year.  
In 2018, the title was awarded to Raine Pajo who holds a doctor’s 
degree in engineering and has been a member of the Group’s mana-
gement board for the past 12 years. Raine started his career at Eesti 

Energia as an intern 
and through the years 
moved up to become a 
member of the management 
board. He is an example and inspi-
ration for many colleagues. In February 
2019, Raine’s contribution to the development of 
the energy sector was recognised by the president of Estonia, Kersti 
Kaljulaid, who awarded him the Order of the White Star (Fourth Class).

Managers’ summer academy: Competent, powerful 
and dignified 

The managers’ summer academy event “Competence. Power. Dignity” 
held in August brought together more than 200 managers from our 
companies and business units.

Developments in the energy sector change customers’ expectations 
and create new business models. Therefore, we discussed how com-
petence, power and dignity help us seize opportunities and overcome 
challenges. Managers have to be spokesmen and bold decision- 
makers who can keep their teams motivated and on the right course. 
A manager has to notice talent and support its development.
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We implemented  
an e-environment  
for performance management 
In August, we introduced a new e-environment for performance 
management: Goal Management. The new environment is a daily 
management tool that helps describe and monitor people’s goals and 
set activities and indicators for their achievement. It can also be used 
to prepare development plans for team members.

We have dedicated people who 
believe in the company’s success
In spring 2018, we carried out our annual employee engagement and 
satisfaction survey2. For the first time the survey was completely 
electronic and the participation rate was the highest ever: we received 
feedback from 4,516 people, i.e. 82% of our employees.

Based on the TRI*M index, the Group’s average score was 66, excee-
ding the average scores of both the global energy sector and the 
Estonian manufacturing sector. Compared to the previous survey, 
which was conducted in 2016, our employees’ engagement has grown 
by 6 points.

A quarter of our employees feel highly engaged (growth from 17% to 
24%). They are happy in their jobs and consider the working environ-
ment motivating. The improvement is attributable to the company’s 
success and the employees’ belief that it will continue. Our employees 
consider Eesti Energia a reliable employer and appreciate the oppor-
tunity to work with the best in their field, flexible working hours,  

high work safety and 
motivation packages. 
Satisfaction with deve-
lopment opportunities, work 
equipment and the transparency 
of the remuneration system is somewhat 
below average. We will focus on improving these 
areas in the following years.

We have been Estonia’s most  
preferred employer for five years  
in a row
In the Estonian annual employers’ reputation survey, we won the first 
place for the fifth consecutive year already. People appreciate the 
stability, security and exciting work offered by Eesti Energia.

Furthermore, a survey conducted by CV-Online, the most popular 
Estonian job site, reflected that Eesti Energia is the company where 
Estonian people wish to work the most. People like our competi-
tive salaries as well as the company’s good reputation and career 
opportunities.

2 The survey, which is conducted every two years, is carried out by the market research company kantar Emor.
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We give back  
to society
We are aware that our activity has  
a significant impact on our environment. 
We believe that the principles of  
corporate social responsibility  
should be followed daily. 
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We make sure that our production processes  
are as environmentally friendly as possible and  

contribute to social initiatives. We also support enginee-
ring education and innovation in the energy industry  

to make sure that the field would have dedicated future 
leaders and professionals. 

We promote a sporty  
and healthy lifestyle
We support Estonian health trails

We have been contributing to the development of Estonian health 
trails together with Swedbank and Merko for 13 years already. 
Through our joint efforts, we have built new and fixed old health trails, 
upgraded snow production facilities and developed a network of ligh-
ted trails. Today there are more than 100 health trails across Estonia 
that are visited millions of times per year. 

We have a tradition to clean and improve health trails on the commu-
nity activities day “Let’s do it!”. In 2018, we participated in the event on 
the grounds of the Äkkeküla health and sports club where we planted 
over 200 trees and cleaned the Pähklimäe health trails and outdoor 
fitness station.

We help organise the running event Narva Energiajooks

In summer 2018, the running event Narva Energiajooks, organised 
by Eesti Energia and non-profit association Spordiürituste Korralda-
mise Klubi was attended by over 4,000 sports enthusiasts. The event, 

which was held for the 
eighth time already, was 
part of the national programme 
for celebrating the Republic of Estonia 
100th anniversary.

We support talented young people
To ensure the sustainability of the energy sector, we need talented 
and innovative young people both now and in the future. We have 
launched a future talent programme aimed at universities and voca-
tional schools as well as secondary schools. We support initiatives 
that help develop excellent professional skills and obtain engineering 
education in a range of fields including energy and IT.

Talented young People’s Energy Fund

In 2013, Eesti Energia and the Association of Ida-Viru Local Govern-
ments created Talented Young People’s Energy Fund. Twice a year we 
provide grants to young people from Ida-Viru county who have shown 
outstanding results in their studies or recreational activities in order to 
support their education and recreational activities.
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In 2018, we supported the recreational activities of 50 young people 
from Ida-Viru county. Grant recipients included young people inter-
ested in science, robotics, music and arts. Since 2013, the Energy 
Fund has awarded grants to 232 future talents from Ida-Viru county. 
Through the Energy Fund, Eesti Energia and the Association of Ida-
Viru Local Governments have contributed over 50,000 euros to the 
development of young people of the region.

In addition to traditional grants, in the 10th jubilee round of grants 
awarded by the Fund in June 2018 Eesti Energia awarded a special 
grant for outstanding results in technology and science. The grant 
went to Konstantin Dukatš, a 17-year-old interested in physics and 
maths who in April was also named the Best Young Physicist among 
Estonian secondary school students.

We support young welders

Eesti Energia also designs and makes metal structures and equipment 
for mining, energy and manufacturing companies all over the world. 
Through the years, we have been a partner and internship base for the 
Ida-Virumaa Vocational Education Centre, supporting the development 
of future specialists. Welding is one of the most popular professions 
among the young people of Ida-Viru county. Thus, for two years we 
have supported the school’s prestigious welding competition Viru 
Welder, which has become popular not only in Estonia but also in the 
neighbouring countries. Competitors include young specialists from 
Estonian, Latvian, Lithuanian, Swedish and Russian vocational schools.

We offer diverse internship opportunities 

Every year we offer approximately 200 internship opportunities in 
both Tallinn and Ida-Viru county, being the largest internship provider 
in Estonia. On average, every eleventh new employee joins us through 
internship. In 2018, Eesti Energia received 1,195 internship applications. 

We consistently  
develop the compe-
tencies of the staff who 
supervise interns and recognise 
our most talented and outstanding 
interns by entering them in the national  
contest of interns. In the contest of 2018, Enefit  
Solutions’ intern Aleksandr Petrov was named the Best Intern in  
Estonia in the category of vocational education.

We work closely with educational institutions

We cooperate with universities and vocational schools to make sure 
that we will continue to have specialists with the skills and know- 
ledge we need and to help develop the study processes. Our emplo- 
yees visit schools as guest teachers to share their professional expe-
rience at IT and engineering lectures and seminars. In 2018, we gave 
53 guest lessons.

Thanks to the initiative of the member of our management board Raine 
Pajo, since 2008 Tallinn University of Technology (TalTech) has offered 
a series of lectures “Strategic Development in the Energy Sector”, which 
is designed not only for students but also for the employees of Eesti 
Energia and others interested in the energy industry. In 2018, for the first 
time, the lectures were also delivered at TalTech’s Virumaa College.
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In 2018, we organised 53 field trips and excursions which brought 
1,265 pupils and students to our production facilities. The most popu-
lar places are the Eesti power plant and our renewable energy 
facilities: the Iru power plant, the Keila-Joa hydro power plant and the 
Paldiski wind farm.

We support gaining professional qualifications

For years, we have been promoting large-scale energy production by 
providing scholarships to successful students. In 2018, we transferred 
over 31,000 euros into a fund through which we supported Estonian 
students who are already working for us or whom we would definitely 
like to employ.

We work with the Energy Discovery Centre

For years we have been working with the Energy Discovery Centre  
in Tallinn to introduce children to the world of science and energy.  
The Centre has over one hundred exhibits that allow exploring and 
testing physical phenomena in a safe environment. In 2018, we began 
building a new exposition “The Story of Our Energy”, which introduces 
our production units and energy production methods in a fun and 
engaging way. The exposition will be opened in 2019 to celebrate Eesti 
Energia’s 80th anniversary.

In partnership with the Energy Discovery Centre and the Estonian 
Association of Large Families, we continued the tradition of a Christ-
mas donation, which was started in 2017. In 2018, the Christmas 
donation helped organise fun family days which were attended by  
267 families with four or more children.
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We work with the Estonian Research Council  
to increase young people’s interest in science 

In 2018, we signed a cooperation agreement with the Estonian Rese-
arch Council in the framework of which we will support the production 
of the Estonian science contest and TV series Rocket69. Within four 
years starting from 2019, we will contribute 100,000 euros to that 
project.

Every year, we have awarded Eesti Energia’s special prize at the 
national students’ research competition organised by the Estonian 
Research Council. In 2018, the prize went to Andrey Dašuk from the 
Narva Pähklimäe Secondary School who wrote a paper on studying 
the sulphur and benzene content of different types of gasoline.

Eesti Energia is recognised  
as a responsible company
green office

We observe the green office principles and hold the Green Office Certi-
ficate. Further information on this is provided in the chapter We protect 
the environment (see page 49).

golden award for responsible business 

In 2018, Eesti Energia received the Golden Award for Responsible  
Business for the third year in a row.

The award is given to organisations that stand out for their sustainable 
development, environment-friendly operations and employee, customer 
and community engagement. Corporate social responsibility encom-
passes not only support projects and sponsoring but everything from 
corporate governance and decision-making processes to improving 
customer services and protecting the environment.
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We are a responsible taxpayer. We know 
that the taxes paid by the group play  
an important role in the development  
of our home markets. 

Tax footprint
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in our activities, we observe our tax risk management policy according to which we:  

1. fulfil all our obligations under tax laws and regulations;  
2. conduct all transactions at market prices and document them in accordance with relevant requirements;
3. submit to the tax administrator Country-by-Country Reporting (CbCR);
4. assess the tax consequences of new projects on the group’s tax liabilities;  
5. maintain open and trust-based relations with tax administrators;
6. involve external advisers in projects where we lack in-house tax technical competencies.

Our tax footprint
In disclosing our tax footprint, we follow generally accepted best prac-
tice and present tax information, broken down by taxes and countries. 

In calculating our tax footprint, we distinguish between taxes borne 
and taxes collected: 
• taxes borne are taxes directly borne by Eesti Energia; 
• taxes collected are taxes for which Eesti Energia acts as an inter-

mediary, i.e. we collect the taxes from consumers and employees 
and transmit them to the tax administrator. 

Our tax footprint includes the taxes borne and collected in all our 
home markets.

In 2018, taxes borne and collected by us in Estonia totalled 105.8 mil-
lion euros and 118.6 million euros respectively. Consequently, the 
Group’s tax footprint in Estonia amounted to 224.4 million euros.

With 66.2 million euros, Eesti Energia group is the largest 
payer of payroll taxes in Estonia. 

The year-on-year change in taxes borne is mainly attributable to  
the fact that in 2017 the dividend distribution in Estonia was made  
in December and associated income tax was paid in January 2018.
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TAx FOOTPRINT:  
Tax payments by Eesti Energia group* (m€)

Estonia 
2018

Estonia 
2017

Latvia 
2018

Latvia 
2017

Lithuania 
2018

Lithuania 
2017

Poland 
2018

Poland 
2017

Finland 
2018

Finland 
2017

Sweden 
2018

Sweden 
2017

total 
2018

total 
2017

TAxES BORNE
Employment taxes 41.4 39.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.0 42.0 39.5
Environmental charges 50.9 47.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 50.9 47.4
Corporate income tax 11.6 0.3 0.1 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 12.0 0.3
Customs VAT 0.5 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.3
Taxes on property 0.4 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.2
total taxes borne 104.8 87.4 0.2 0.1 0.4 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.0 105.8 87.7
TAxES COLLECTED
Excise taxes 33.7 33.4 1.6 1.5 0.2 0.1 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 36.3 35.0
Payroll taxes 24.8 23.7 0.3 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.0 25.5 24.0
Net VAT (i.e. Sales VAT minus 
VAT on purchases)

36.2 37.6 12.2 10.0 8.2 4.8 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.0 56.8 52.4

total taxes collected 94.7 94.7 14.1 11.7 8.5 4.9 0.9 0.1 0.2 0.0 0.2 0.0 118.6 111.4
total taxes 199.5 182.1 14.3 11.8 8.9 5.0 1.0 0.2 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.0 224.4 199.1

* Reported on a cash basis

The value Eesti Energia delivers to society, and it’s broke down 

374.6
million  
euros

129.8
million  
euros

Economic value retained
(before the deduction of depreciation,  
amortisation and other finance income  
and expenses)

Other operating expenses 
(operating expenses, expenses  

on plant and equipment, other expenses  
to suppliers)

Taxes to the state
(excise duty, payroll taxes, 

environmental charges,  
income tax)

Employee remuneration 
expenses

(basic remuneration, performance 
bonuses, holiday pay)

Interest  
expenses accrued 

(within financial expenses, excluding 
capitalised items)

114.4
million 
euros

36.4
million 
euros

897.6
million 
euros

242.4
million 
euros

Economic value generated  
by the group in 2018

(i.e. revenue and other operating income)

* Presented on an accrual basis
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Corporate governance
Eesti Energia’s sole owner is the Republic  
of Estonia. The owner’s representative  
is the minister of finance.
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Management principles
The objective of Eesti Energia’s supervisory board and management 
board is to develop and manage Eesti Energia so that we would be 
a positive example for other companies in terms of strategic clarity, 
good corporate governance practices, operating efficiency, financial 
performance and collaboration with stakeholders.

The management board and the supervisory board  
manage Eesti Energia in line with the owner’s expectations, 
the group’s strategy, vision and values and applicable laws 
and regulations. 

To improve management quality, we develop our managers. Further 
information on managers’ development is provided in the chapter  
Our People (see page 55).

To achieve our strategic goals, we need dedicated people. Ensuring 
employee engagement and motivation is the responsibility of our 
managers who observe the Group’s values and people management 
principles. We keep our employees continuously informed about the 
organisation’s goals and their achievement. We provide a safe working 
environment and high work ethic. We pay our employees a competi-
tive salary and notice and recognise our people. Eesti Energia’s people 
management policies are available to all staff via our internal commu-
nication channels.

Organisational 
structure 
It is important for us that Eesti Energia’s structure should be simple 
and aligned with the organisation’s goals and needs. We change our 
structure when this is required by changes in the business environ-
ment. In December 2017, we divided Eesti Energia into four business 
lines: large-scale energy production, renewable energy, network 
services and customer services. Major development projects in all 
business lines are carried out with the assistance of the development 
unit. The business lines and their strategic goals are described in rele-
vant chapters.
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gENERAL MEETINg  

Eesti Energia’s highest governing body is the general meeting,  
which decides (among other things):
• the establishment and acquisition of new companies;
• the liquidation of existing companies;
• the appointment and removal of members of the supervisory board;
• major investments;
• the appointment of the auditor; and
• the approval of the results of the financial year.

The supervisory board communicates the results of its supervision 
activities to the sole shareholder. Eesti Energia’s supervisory board 
has 6 to 8 members that are appointed by the resolution of the minis-
ter of finance who represents the sole shareholder, taking into account 
the proposals made by the nomination committee of the supervisory 
board members of companies in which the state is a shareholder.  
The supervisory board is headed by a chairman. The requirements  
and expectations for members of the supervisory board are set forth 
in the Commercial Code and the State Assets Act. The supervisory 

The governing bodies of the Group’s parent, Eesti Energia AS, are the general meeting, the supervisory board and the management board. 

Eesti Energia’s governing bodies 

SUPERVISORy BOARD  

The supervisory board is a governing body that has the following 
main responsibilities:
• planning the Group’s activities;
• organising the Group’s management and supervising the activities 

of the management board;
• approving the Group’s strategy and supervising the implementation 

of the strategy; and
• adopting major strategic decisions.

Eesti Energia’s sole shareholder is the Republic of Estonia which is represented at the general meeting by the minister of finance.  
The annual general meeting is convened once a year, within four months after the end of the Group’s financial year, at the time and in the place  
determined by the management board. 

board is also guided by the articles of association of Eesti Energia AS 
and the rules of procedure of the supervisory board. 

At the end of 2018, the supervisory board of Eesti Energia comprised 
the chairman of the supervisory board Väino Kaldoja and members of 
the supervisory board Kaie Karniol, Danel Tuusis, Ants Pauls, Andres 
Liinat, Ivo Palu and Einari Kisel.

The remuneration of members of Eesti Energia’s supervisory board 
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is regulated by the State Assets Act according to which the amount 
of the remuneration and its payment procedure are at the discretion 
of the sole shareholder. Taking into consideration the proposal made 
by the nomination committee of the supervisory board members of 
companies in which the state is a shareholder, the remuneration of 
the chairman of the supervisory board and a member of the super-
visory board is 2,000 euros and 1,000 euros per month respectively. 
Members of the supervisory board are not entitled to any termination 
benefits or additional remuneration. As a rule, the supervisory board 
meets once a month, except during the summer months. In 2018,  
the supervisory board held 12 meetings. 

In addition to participating in meetings of the supervisory board, mem-
bers of the supervisory board actively support the activities of Eesti 
Energia. They visit Eesti Energia’s entities and business units to gain 
insights and meet owner’s representatives, business partners and 
other stakeholder groups where this is important for Eesti Energia.

In 2018, members of the supervisory board were present when the 
president, the prime minister and the minister of finance visited Eesti 
Energia. They also visited Enefit Green’s Paide cogeneration plant  
and Iru waste-to-energy plant. Members of the supervisory board 
also attended meetings with the management board of Elering, the 
Narva-Jõesuu city council and city government and the mayor of 
Narva. Together with the management board, the supervisory board 
met the representatives of EfTEN Capital and Eleon and visited Eleon’s 
turbine assembly plant. 

In 2018, the legal adviser of the supervisory board was attorney at law 
Sven Papp from law firm Raidla Ellex. 

Supervisory Board Members’ participation 
in meetings and total remuneration paid

Participation
in meetings 

in 2018

Total 
remuneration 

in 2018 (€)

Total 
remuneration 

in 2017 (€)

Väino kaldoja 12 24,000 16,639

Danel Tuusis 12 12,000 8,184

Ants Pauls 12 12,000 9,184

kaie karniol 12 12,000 8,894

Andres Liinat 12 12,000 6,636

Ivo Palu 12 12,000 7,636

Einari kisel 12 12,000 7,636

Supervisory boards of subsidiaries and associates  

The powers and responsibilities of members of the supervisory boards 
of Eesti Energia’s subsidiaries and associates are set forth in their 
articles of association. Their supervisory boards consist of members 
of Eesti Energia’s management board. The meetings of the supervisory 
boards of subsidiaries and associates take place according to need 
and in line with legal requirements. The term of office of a member of 
the supervisory board of a subsidiary or associate coincides with the 
member’s term of office on Eesti Energia’s management board. Mee-
tings are called in accordance with the Group’s rules, the subsidiary’s 
or associate’s articles of association, the law and agreements with 
co-shareholders.
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SUPERVISORy BOARD 
(as at 31 December 2018)

DANEL TUUSIS / 48
Member

Beginning of term of office: 12 June 2014
End of term of office: 11 May 2020

ANTS PAULS / 78
Member

Beginning of term of office: 6 October 2015
End of term of office: 11 May 2020

VÄINO kALDOJA / 62
Chairman

Beginning of term of office: 18 May 2017 
End of term of office: 11 May 2020 

kAIE kARNIOL / 48
Member

Beginning of term of office: 12 May 2017
End of term of office: 11 May 2020

IVO PALU / 39
Member

Beginning of term of office: 12 May 2017
End of term of office: 11 May 2020

EINARI kISEL / 46
Member

Beginning of term of office: 12 May 2017
End of term of office: 11 May 2020

ANDRES LIINAT / 56
Member

Beginning of term of office: 12 May 2017
End of term of office: 11 May 2020
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Management board  
The Group’s executive management is the responsibility of Eesti Ener-
gia’s management board. In managing the company, the management 
board follows the instructions of the supervisory board, relevant gui-
delines, the owner’s expectations and the Group’s strategy that has 
been approved by the supervisory board. The chairman of the mana-
gement board is appointed by the supervisory board. Members of the 
management board are approved by the supervisory board based on 
proposals made by the chairman of the management board. 

In June 2018, the composition of Eesti Energia’s management board 
changed. The contract of the member of the management board And-
res Sutt was terminated by mutual agreement and the supervisory 
board did not appoint a new member of the management board. At 
the year-end, the management board of Eesti Energia comprised the 
chairman of the management board Hando Sutter and members of the 
management board Andri Avila, Raine Pajo and Margus Vals. 

The remuneration of members of Eesti Energia’s management board is 
regulated by the State Assets Act. The amount of their remuneration 
is at the discretion of the supervisory board. Members of the mana-
gement board are remunerated for fulfilling their responsibilities as 
members of the management board. Their remuneration is set out in 
the contracts signed with them and it can be altered subject to mutual 
agreement. Members of the management board may be paid additio-
nal remuneration. The total amount of additional remuneration paid 
during the financial year may not exceed fourfold average monthly 
remuneration received by the member of the management board in 
the previous financial year. The assignment of additional remuneration 
must be justified and consistent with the Group’s performance, value 
added and market position. Termination benefits may only be paid 
when the supervisory board removes a member of the management 

board on its initiative before the term of office expires and the amount 
may not exceed the management board member’s remuneration for 
three months.

As a rule, the management board meets once a week. Where neces-
sary, meetings are held electronically. In 2018, 57 meetings were held, 
of which 4 were conducted electronically. 

Management Board Members’ participation 
in meetings and total remuneration paid

Participation
in meetings 

in 2018

Total 
remuneration 

in 2018 (€)

Total 
remuneration 

in 2017 (€)

Hando Sutter 52 210,000 202,150

Raine Pajo 54 136,500 130,150

Margus Vals 52 135,000 130,150

Andri Avila 52 135,000 130,150

Andres Sutt 27 54,585 9,000

Differences applying to  
the management of the distribution 
network operator Elektrilevi OÜ  
Under the Electricity Market Act, Elektrilevi as the distribution network 
operator has to ensure, among other things, that all market partici-
pants are treated equally and that the network operator’s information 
is protected. In line with the law and best practice, Eesti Energia has put 
in place differences applying to the management of Elektrilevi, which 
ensure the network operator’s independence in adopting investment 
decisions, conducting procurements and maintaining the confidentiality 
of information pertaining to market participants and customer contracts.
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HANDO SUTTER / 48
Chairman of the Management Board

Beginning of term of office:  
1 December 2014

End of term of office:  
30 November 2019

ANDRI AVILA / 43
Member of the Management Board

Beginning of term of office:   
1 March 2015

End of term of office:
30 November 2019

RAINE PAJO / 42
Member of the Management Board

Beginning of term of office:   
1 December 2006

End of term of office:   
30 November 2019

MARgUS VALS / 39
Member of the Management Board 

Beginning of term of office:   
1 December 2014

End of term of office:   
30 November 2019

MANAgEMENT BOARD 
(as at 31 December 2018)
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PREVIOUS CAREER
•	 Nord	Pool	Spot	AS:	 

Regional Market Manager, Estonia,  
Latvia, Lithuania and Russia

•	 US	Invest	AS:	 
Development Adviser

•	 Olympic	Entertainment	 
Group AS:  
Chief Operating Officer

EDUCATION
•	 Estonian	Business	School,	 

MBA Course 
•	 Tallinn	University	of	Technology,	 

Mechanical Engineer

PREVIOUS CAREER
•	 Premia	Foods	AS:	 

Member of the Management 
Board/Chief Financial Officer

•	 Olympic	Entertainment	 
Group AS: Chairman  
of the Management Board

•	 Olympic	Entertainment	Group	
AS: Member of the Management 
Board/Chief Financial Officer/ 
Chief Operating Officer

EDUCATION
•	 Concordia	International	University	

Estonia, International Business 
Administration  
cum laude

PREVIOUS CAREER
•	 Eesti	Energia:	Member	of	the	Management	

Board, Technical Director, environment, 
electricity and heat production, energy trading, 
technology industry, oil production

•	 OÜ	Põhivõrk	(current	name	Elering):	Chairman	
of the Supervisory Board, Member of the 
Management Board, Head of Development 
Department, Director of Electrical Grid Planning 
Division, Client Account Manager 

•	 Finnish	Transmission	System	Operator	Fingrid	
Oy: Network Planner

•	 AS	Ecomatic:	Product	Manager

EDUCATION
•	 Tallinn	University	of	Technology,	 

MA in Business Administration
•	 Tallinn	University	of	Technology,	 

MSc and Doctor of Engineering
•	 Tallinn	University	of	Technology,	 

Electrical Engineer

PREVIOUS CAREER
•	 Eesti	Energia	AS:	 

Director of Strategy
•	 Eesti	Energia	AS:	 

Director of Energy Trading

EDUCATION
•	 London	Business	School,	 

Master of Research
•	 Tallinn	University	of	Technology,	

BA in Economics
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Orica Eesti OÜ

 

  Companies wholly owned by Eesti Energia AS

  Companies in which Eesti Energia has a majority interest

  Companies in which Eesti Energia has a strategic minority interest

Attarat Power 
Holding Company BV

Attarat Mining
Company BV

Attarat Operation 
and Maintenance

Company BV

 Elektrilevi OÜ

Enefit Kaevandused AS

 Enefit
Energiatootmine AS

 
Enefit US LLC

Enefit Jordan BV
Jordan Oil Shale
Energy Company

Enefit Outotec
Technology OÜ

 

Narva Soojusvõrk AS

Enefit American Oil Co.

EAO Real Estate Corp

EAO Federal Lease LLC

EAO State Leases LLC

EAO Technology LLC

EAO Orion LLC

Enefit Sp. z o.o
(Poland)

Enefit Green AS

 Enefit SIA
(Latvia)

Enefit UAB
(Lithuania)

Attarat Holding OÜ

EESTI ENERGIA AS

Enefit Solutions AS

Enefit OY
(Finland)

Enefit AB
(Sweden)

Nelja Energia AS*
Enefit Power and
Heat Valka SIA

* Enefit Green AS acquired Nelja Energia AS on 6 November 2018. 
 After that the merger and restructuring of the companies began which 
 will be completed in the first half of 2019. 

gROUP STRUCTURE 
(as at 31 December 2018)
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Reporting principles  
Timely and reliable information is the key to quality management deci-
sions. We have implemented reporting processes for monitoring our 
key performance indicators and other important metrics on a weekly, 
monthly, quarterly and annual basis. Once a month, we compare 
our results to the budget and the latest forecast. Once a quarter, we 
review our action plan for the rest of the year and, where necessary, 
adjust our business operations so that they are appropriate in the cur-
rent market situation. Once a year, we update the Group’s five-year 
strategic action plan. 

In 2017, we approved the principles for the Group’s key performance 
indicators to make sure that the activities of all levels of management 
are aligned with the Group’s main goals. We continuously share infor-
mation to adopt more effective performance indicators. 

In 2017, we began using the Tableau data analytics and reporting sof-
tware for the Group’s monthly reporting. In 2018, Tableau was also 
implemented for the Group’s and the main business units’ weekly 
reporting as well as Elektrilevi’s monthly reporting.

Contemporary management information dashboards allow obtaining 
feedback on our results more quickly and conveniently and in more 
interactive manner and help make higher-quality and faster manage-
ment decisions. In 2019, we expect to implement Tableau for regular 
reporting at all our major units.

In addition to numerous reports submitted to the Statistical Office, 
three times a year we release a thorough quarterly report and once  

a year our annual report. To present our quarterly and annual results, 
we hold a press conference and organise a conference call for inves-
tors. We also share a detailed summary of our results with our 
employees.  

We release information on the company’s operations that may affect 
the price of the Eurobond in accordance with the rules of the London 
Stock Exchange and, in the first place, via the information system of 
the London Stock Exchange. We release other information which is 
not expected to affect the price of the Eurobond via media channels.  
In both cases, we disseminate information in line with the Group’s 
rules for handling inside information, which are designed to protect  
the interests of bondholders and ensure fair and orderly trade of  
the bonds. All relevant information about Eesti Energia and its subsi-
diaries must be available to all bondholders and potential investors in  
a timely, consistent and equitable manner (to the same extent, at the 
same time and in the same manner).

Supervision of the Group
The Group has implemented a multi-level process to ensure effective 
supervision over the operation of the internal control system. Supervi-
sion is carried out by the Group’s supervisory board and management 
board, the audit committee, the supervisory boards and management 
boards of Group entities, and the risk management, internal audit and 
other departments and units entrusted with supervision such as the 
procurement and environmental services units.
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Ultimate responsibility for the implementation and proper  
functioning of the group’s risk management policies and internal 
control system rests with the management board. To fulfil  
the obligation, the management board, among other things:

• approves risk management principles and policies for individual 
risk areas;

• develops a strategy and organises the preparation of a budget;
• manages the group’s activities in a manner which ensures that  

the group implements the approved strategy and meets the 
budget;

• organises the development and approval of operational agree-
ments and requirements necessary for managing Eesti Energia;

• applies management measures to develop a risk-conscious  
management culture; and

• monitors the group’s current and expected level of risks so  
that it would meet the group’s risk appetite and risk tolerance.

The management board of a subsidiary is supervised by the subsi-
diary’s supervisory board, which consists of members of the Group’s 
management board. The chairman and members of a subsidiary’s 
management board inform the subsidiary’s supervisory board about 
the subsidiary’s performance and outlook on a regular basis and about 
all important risks and transactions promptly and completely and in 
accordance with relevant procedures.

Documents governing the Group’s activities generally also apply to 
its subsidiaries and are, where necessary, officially adopted by the 
subsidiaries. Any changes made to documents governing the Group’s 
activities also apply to the subsidiaries.

A member of a subsidiary’s management board has to participate in 
the development of documents governing the Group’s activities to 

ensure that the documents take into account the subsidiary’s interests. 
A subsidiary’s management board must immediately inform the subsi-
diary’s supervisory board if, and why, the subsidiary does not comply 
with a document governing the Group’s activities.

Audit committee and external 
auditor
The audit committee is a body set up by the Group’s supervisory 
board, which is responsible for advising the supervisory board in mat-
ters related to accounting, audit, risk management, internal control 
and internal audit, supervision and budgeting, and legal and regula-
tory compliance.

The audit committee has four members. The composition and the 
chairman of the audit committee are determined by the Group’s 
supervisory board. The audit committee meets according to an 
agreed schedule at least once a quarter. In 2018, the committee had 
11 ordinary meetings. The audit committee submits its report to the 
supervisory board once a year, before the supervisory board approves 
the Group’s annual report. The audit committee statement is presented 
on page 78.

Eesti Energia’s financial statements are audited in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing. Under Eesti Energia’s articles of 
association, the appointment of the auditor of the financial statements 
is the responsibility of the general meeting. The general meeting has 
appointed audit firm PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) as the audi-
tor of the financial statements for financial year 2018. The person 
authorised to sign the auditor’s report depends on the country of 
incorporation of the Group entity. The auditor responsible for the audit 
of the consolidated financial statements is certified public accountant 
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Tiit Raimla. Eesti Energia does not disclose the fee paid to the exter-
nal auditor because the Group believes that this could undermine the 
outcomes of future procurements.

PwC presented the results of the work related to the reporting period  
in two stages:
1) interim audit results were presented at a meeting of the audit  

committee in December 2018; and
2) year-end audit results were presented at a meeting of the audit 

committee in February 2019.

The independent auditor’s report is presented on page 195.

The audit committee evaluates the independence of the external 
auditor and carries out supervisory activities to prevent conflicts 
of interest. For this, the audit committee has established a set of 

principles to be followed when the auditor wishes to provide additional 
services to Group entities. 

In 2018, PwC provided the Group with tax and some other advisory 
services permitted by the Estonian Auditors Activities Act.

Audit Committee Members’ participation in meetings and total 
remuneration paid

Participation
in meetings 

in 2018

Total 
remuneration 

in 2018 (€)

Total 
remuneration 

in 2017 (€)

kaie karniol 11 4,125 3,224

Danel Tuusis 11 2,750 1,855

Ants Pauls 11 2,750 1,927

Mait Palts 9 4,500 2,500

kAIE kARNIOL / 48
Chairwoman

Beginning of term of office: 16 June 2016
End of term of office: 16 June 2019

DANEL TUUSIS / 48
Member

Beginning of term of office: 1 November 2015
End of term of office: 21 January 2022

ANTS PAULS / 78
Member

Beginning of term of office: 23 February 2017
End of term of office: 23 February 2020

MAIT PALTS / 39
Member

Beginning of term of office: 15 June 2017
End of term of office: 15 June 2020

AUDIT COMMITTEE
(as at 31 December 2018)
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• development and operation of the internal control system;
• monitoring of the legal and regulatory compliance of the company;
• organisation of the internal audit function.

The audit committee finds that the activities of Eesti Energia group do  
not involve any deficiencies of which the management is unaware and/or 
which could have a material impact on the Group’s annual report for 2018.

The audit committee submitted its activity report and assessments 
along with this statement to the supervisory board of Eesti Energia in 
February 2019.

kaie karniol
Chairwoman of the Audit Committee

Internal audit
The work of the internal audit function is organised in accordance  
with the Auditors Activities Act and related regulations as well as 
the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal 
Auditing. The role of the internal auditors is to contribute to impro-
ving the internal control environment, risk management and business 
management culture. The work of the internal audit function covers 
the activities of the whole Group. Ensuring effective operation of the 
internal audit function is the responsibility of the internal audit depart-
ment. The department is accountable to the audit committee and the 
supervisory board. The action plan of the internal audit department 

is approved and evaluated by the audit committee. The internal audi-
tors’ report on 2018 was submitted to the audit committee in February 
2019.

The Group has established a system for the declaration of economic 
interests by which employees who may encounter conflicts of inte- 
rest in their work declare their economic interests and confirm their 
independence through regular self-assessment. To the knowledge  
of Eesti Energia, the members of the Group’s management board and 
the management boards of the subsidiaries did not have any conflicts 
of interest in 2018 and they did not conduct any related party transac-
tions on terms different from market terms. An overview of related party 
transactions conducted in 2018 is presented in the financial statements.

In 2018, the audit committee carried out its responsibilities in accor-
dance with its approved statutes and action plan. No restrictions were 
imposed on our activities and the Group’s representatives made all the 
necessary information available to us. Well-defined reporting lines 
ensured a fluent flow of relevant information to us. We informed the 
Group’s supervisory board and the representatives of the Group’s 
management board of the opinions we formed based on our work and 
related suggestions.

We formed our opinion on the following activities of the group in 
fiscal year 2018:
• adherence to established accounting policies;
• operation of processes for the preparation and approval of budgets 

and financial statements;
• arrangement of a sufficient and effective external audit and assu-

rance of its independence;

AUDIT COMMITTEE STATEMENT
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Risk management
The group’s risk management is the responsibility  
of the group’s management board. Overseeing  
risk management activities and processes  
to make sure that they function properly  
is the responsibility of the group’s  
supervisory board, audit committee  
and internal audit department.
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The purpose of Eesti Energia’s risk management  
activities is to:
• support the implementation of Eesti Energia’s strategy;
• help achieve the group’s financial and operating targets;
• identify potential opportunities;
• prevent undesirable events.

Implementing a process for managing the risks which are inherent in 
our operations and affect our performance is the responsibility of the 
managers of Group entities and units. 

The Group’s risk appetite is outlined in its strategy and expressed in 
its budget. The Group’s risk tolerance is set out in Group-wide policies, 
thresholds, limits and external regulatory requirements and permits. 
We have established risk management mandates, limits and thres-
holds for managing financial risks including the price risk of production 
assets, counterparty credit risk and liquidity risk. 

Risk management framework  
and organisation
Our risk management framework consists of risk management 
principles and policies established by the Group’s management board, 
which describe the risk management process and stakeholders’ roles 
and responsibilities as well as the principles and policies for mana-
ging the main risks. In developing our risk management principles and 
policies, we rely on international standards and best practice. Our risk 
management measures are aimed at preventing the realisation of risks 
and we update them based on changes in the Group’s strategy, activi-
ties and organisational structure. 

Risk profile  
Our risk profile describes the risks which affect our business and acti-
vities the most, such as strategic risk, financial risk (including market, 
credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risk), technological and 
technical risk, legal risk, compliance risk, environmental risk, working 
environment and occupational safety risk, security and fire risk, tax 
risk, IT risk, fraud risk and personnel risk.  

Assessing and updating the risk profile is part of our day-to-day 
management activities. We assess the risks involved in both existing 
activities and those under development. 

Main risks and their mitigation
Risks that have a strong impact on the achievement of our objectives 
include market risk, which is part of financial risk, legal risk, environ-
mental risk, information technology (IT) risk and operational risks. 
We pay a lot of attention to ensuring the continuity of vital and busi-
ness-critical operations, data protection and occupational safety.

Market and financial risks

Market risk is the risk that changes in the market (demand, the prices 
of products and services) will expose the Group to changes in the 
values of its assets or liabilities or the amount of income earned on its 
assets and services. 

Market risk has a significant impact on the revenue we earn from the 
sale of our goods and services and the purchase of the resources we 
use in our production activities. The most significant market risk is 
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price risk, which is the risk of changes in the prices of electricity, 
liquid fuels and emission allowances. 

To better mitigate financial risks, in 2018 we launched 
a project for reviewing our financial risk management 
process, principles and policies. 

The purpose is to make sure that our risk management methods  
are in compliance with best practice. We also use derivative financial  
instruments to hedge our financial risks (for further information,  
see page 130). 

Legal risk

The Group’s operation is strongly influenced by treaties, conventions 
and regulations adopted in our home markets, the European Union 
and internationally. Legal risk arises from regulators’ activities and 
political decisions and influences our day-to-day business activities. 
We manage legal risk by monitoring trends and developments in the 
legal environment, participating actively in the development of new 
legislation and making sure that our activities comply with laws and 
regulations. 

Environmental risk

Our strategic goal is to limit adverse environmental impacts. Environ-

mental risk arises in the situation where the Group’s activity or failure 

to act causes more environmental damage than is allowed by the 

environmental permits issued to us and jeopardises the achievement 

of the Group’s goals.

We prevent adverse environ-

mental impacts by implementing 

appropriate technological solutions, 

improving efficiency and applying circular 

and reuse of materials. To control and reduce our environmental 

impacts, we have implemented an environmental management system 

that complies with the requirements of ISO 14001 and EMAS (the EU 

Eco-Management and Audit Scheme). 

IT risk

IT risk is the risk that a Group entity cannot meet its business goals 

due to deficiencies in its IT solutions. The main IT risks are the failure 

of IT systems and loss of data or data confidentiality.  

Due to the importance of IT and information systems both in the 

management of our daily operations and achieving our strategic goals, 

we have strengthened our IT risk management competencies and 

executed improvement plans. We have also adjusted our operations 
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so that they comply with the requirements of the General Data  

Protection Regulation (GDPR) that took effect on 25 May 2018.  

Operational risks 

Operational risks result from inadequate or ineffective processes, 

people, equipment, systems, or external events. Operational risks are 

managed by applying policies, standards, management principles and 

performance indicators. The impact of some operational risks is mitiga-

ted by purchasing insurance cover.

Because of the scale and volume of the group’s operations 
we pay a lot of attention to managing fraud risk, which is 
one of the most important operational risks. 

To mitigate the threat of the realisation of fraud risk and resulting los-
ses, we have improved the effectiveness of preventive measures: we 
have adopted a code of ethics and fraud risk management principles 
that comply with relevant international standards, we arrange staff 
days and training programmes that focus on fraud risk, and we coope-
rate with law enforcement authorities.

We pay a lot of attention to mitigating occupational safety and working 
environment risks. All our production entities have implemented occu-
pational health and safety assessment system OHSAS 18001. Our goal 
is to work without accidents and occupational diseases. We believe it 
is important to include employees in identifying working environment 
risks and implementing risk mitigation measures.

Risk reporting  

The Group’s risk reporting and information exchange processes 
ensure that risk-related information reaches all relevant stakehol-
ders. We measure the success of our processes and activities and the 
achievement of our goals and targets using key performance indica-
tors (KPI).

The risks which have a significant impact on the achievement of the 
Group’s goals and targets are regularly reported to the Group’s mana-
gement teams, management board and audit committee. Management 
and other relevant parties are notified without delay of any significant 
events and changes in the Group’s risk profile.
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In 2018, Eesti Energia increased revenue  
by 16% and improved EBITDA and net  
profit by 7% and 5% respectively.

Financial results
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Revenue and EBITDA
The Group’s revenue for 2018 amounted to 875 million euros, a 16%  
improvement on 2017 (+121.4 million euros). Revenue growth was  
driven mainly by a rise in the sales volume and price of shale oil and 
electricity. The Group increased the sales volumes of all key products 
except heat whose sales volume remained at the level of 2017. 

EBITDA grew by 7% to 283.2 million euros (+19.0 million euros).

Net profit rose by 5% to 106.2 million euros (+5.4 million euros).

Electricity and shale oil EBITDA increased the group’s 
EBITDA by +33.2 million euros and +19.7 million euros 
respectively. 

In the case of both products, growth was mainly attributable to  
a higher sales price and larger sales volume. Distribution EBITDA  
dropped by 7.3 million euros due to a decline in network charges. 

EBITDA on other products and services declined compared to 2017.  
The main reason was the positive impact of several one-off items recog-
nised in 2017, such as revenue from liquidated damages received for 
the delay in the delivery of the Auvere power plant and revenue from 
the reduction of the Group’s interest in a development project in Jordan. 
In 2018, the impact of positive one-off items was considerably smaller, 
resulting in a year-on-year decrease in EBITDA. 

Group's sales revenue breakdown and change

Sales 
revenues

2017

Electricity  Distribution Shale oil Other Sales
revenues

2018

 

 
m €

754

70

84

113

241

437

86

247

351

+86.3 (6.8) +27.1 +14.8 875

+121.4 (+16.1%)

Group's EBITDA breakdown and change

EBITDA
2017

Electricity  Distribution Shale oil Other EBITDA
2018

 

 m €

264

24

9
44

100

131

35

107

98

+33.2 (7.3) +19.7 (26.6)
283

+19.0 (+7.2%)
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Electricity 
Through the years, electricity has been one of the main 

sources of Eesti Energia’s revenue and profit.  
In 2018, we also earned the largest share of revenue  

from the sale of electricity. 

Electricity revenue 

Revenue from the sale of electricity grew by 25% compared to 2017, 
mainly through growth in the market prices of electricity. The positive 
effect of higher market prices was neutralised by the negative effect 
that a threefold rise in the price of CO2 emission allowances had on 
our margins. Electricity revenue for 2018 amounted to 437.1 million 
euros (+25%, +86.3 million euros).

Share of electricity product in Group's 
sales revenues and EBITDA

 

50%  
of sales 

revenues

46%  
of EBITDA

Average sales price Electricity sales volume**

Average electricity 
sales price*

NP Estonia average 
electricity price

2017 2018

2017 2018 Wholesale sales Retail sales

€/MWh

9.4 9.2

TWh

* Total average sales price of electricity product (including retail sales and wholesale sales). Average sales price excludes sales and gain on derivatives, subsidies for renewable energy and municipal waste gate fees.
** Sales volume includes Auvere power plant's total sales volume

3.2
6.2

2.6
6.6

37.9
47.4

33.2
47.1

Electricity sales revenue

2017 2018

Subsidies and waste gate fees

Sales revenues (excl. subsidies and waste gate fees)

m €

351
437

332 416

+9.6 (+25.3%) +13.9 (+41.7%) +86.3 (+24.6%) -0.1 (-1.2%)
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Average sales price of electricity 

The Group’s average sales price of electricity was 47.4 €/MWh,  
i.e. 25.3% higher than in 2017 (+9.6 €/MWh). The average sales  
price does not include the impact of derivative transactions. Including 
the impact of derivative transactions, the average sales price of  
2018 would have been 46.7 €/MWh, i.e. 19.8% higher than in 2017  
(+7.7 €/MWh). Loss on derivative transactions amounted to -6.7 million 
euros (-171%, -16.1 million euros).

Electricity sales volume and Eesti Energia’s  
market share

In 2018, we sold 4.7% more electricity than in 2017. Wholesale sales 
decreased by 41 GWh to 2,276 GWh (-1.8%) and retail sales grew by 
440 GWh to 6,642 GWh (+7.1%) compared to 2017. Retail sales broke 
down between markets as follows: Estonia 4,506 GWh (-32.8 GWh), 
Latvia 1,122 GWh (+97.1 GWh), Lithuania 774 GWh (+134 GWh), Poland 
235 GWh (+235 GWh), Finland 1.3 GWh (+1.3 GWh) and Sweden  
4.8 GWh (+4.8 GWh).

In terms of customers’ electricity consumption volumes, 
Eesti Energia’s market share in Estonia was 60%  
(+0.1 percentage point compared to 2017). 

At the end of 2018, universal service was consumed at 20% of elect-
ricity consumption points. Customers trust Eesti Energia: at the 
year-end when contracts are mostly renewed, 98.8% of our Estonian 
customers decided to extend their electricity contract. Most of our 
customers prefer fixed-price plans. 

Eesti Energia opera-
tes in Latvia, Lithuania, 
Poland, Finland and Swe-
den under the Enefit brand. To 
meet our contractual sales commit-
ments, we buy electricity from the power 
exchange. 

In 2018, Eesti Energia’s market shares in Latvia and Lithuania were 
14.5% and 6.6% respectively. Our total share of the Baltic retail 
electricity market was 26%, remaining at the same level as in 2017. 
In Poland, Finland and Sweden, our electricity sales are still in the 
start-up phase. 

Electricity production volume

In 2018, we produced 9,132 GWh of electricity, 6.2% less than in 2017 
(-604 GWh). The decrease is attributable to more extensive repairs at 
the Eesti, Balti and Auvere power plants, the fact that three generating 
units were put on seasonal hold and a substantial year-on-year rise in 
the price of CO2 emission allowances, which increased electricity pro-
duction costs. 
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Renewable energy production rose to new heights, surging to  
480.7 GWh (+19.1%). 305.4 GWh of this was generated by wind farms, 
which were the main contributors to renewable energy growth. 
Thanks to better wind conditions and higher operational reliability, 
wind farms produced more electricity than a year earlier. Growth in 
output was also influenced by the acquisition of Nelja Energia. Com-
pared to 2017, the output of wind farms grew by 42.1% (+90.5 GWh). 
Electricity produced from other renewable sources amounted to  
175 GWh, most of which, i.e. 169 GWh, was produced from biomass.

Renewable energy and efficient cogeneration support received  
in 2018 amounted to 17.2 million euros (+0.9 million euros).

key figures of the electricity product

2018 2017

Return on fixed assets* % 5.8 7.7

Electricity EBITDA €/MWh 14.7 11.5

* Excluding impairment of production assets recognised in December 2013 and December 2015

Electricity EBITDA

Electricity EBITDA grew by 33.9% to 131.2 million euros (+33.2 million 
euros). 

The impact of a higher margin was +43.7 million euros. Average elect-
ricity revenue per megawatt hour (excluding the impact of derivative 
transactions) grew by 9.7 euros (impact: +86.5 million euros). Growth 
in average variable costs had an impact of -42.8 million euros. Variable 
costs grew mainly through higher electricity purchase and CO2 emission 
allowance costs. 

Growth in electricity sales volume improved EBITDA by 9.3 million euros.

The impact of a change in fixed costs was -14.8 million euros. The figure 
includes the impacts of higher repair costs of -4.6 million euros, higher 
labour costs of -10.4 million euros and the impact of fixed costs resulting 
from inventories of +3.0 million euros. 

A decrease in gain on derivative transactions lowered EBITDA by 16.1 mil-
lion euros.

Other impacts of +11.2 million euros resulted mainly from a change in the 
value of derivative financial instruments (impact: +5.9 million euros) and 
the recognition of environmental provisions (impact: +5.5 million euros).

Electricity EBITDA development

EBITDA
2017

 Volume
impact

on EBITDA

Change
in fixed
costs

Gain on
derivatives

Other EBITDA
2018

 

 

m €

98.0

+43.7
+9.3 (14.8)

(16.1) +11.2 131.2

+33.2 (+33.9%)

Margin
impact

on EBITDA
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Distribution service  
Distribution service is another major source of revenue  

and profit for Eesti Energia.

Distribution revenue, sales volume and price 

In 2018, distribution revenue decreased by 2.7% to 240.6 million  
euros (-6.8 million euros) although sales volume increased by 2.8%  
to 6,945 GWh (+188 GWh). Growth in sales volume was supported by 
a favourable economic environment and good weather conditions.

The average price of the distribution service was 34.6 €/MWh  
(-2 €/MWh, -5.4%). The decrease in distribution service revenue 
and average price is mainly attributable to the lowering of network 
charges.

Share of distribution product in Group's 
sales revenues and EBITDA

 

27%  
of sales 

revenues

35%  
of EBITDA

6.8 6.936.6 34.6

Average sales price Distributon sales revenue Distribution volume

2017 2018

€/MWh m € TWh

247.4 240.6

2017 2018 2017 2018

+0.2 (+2.8%) -2.0 (-5.4%)  -6.8 (-2.7%)
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Distribution losses

Distribution losses totalled 319.2 GWh, accounting for 4.3% of elect-
ricity entering the network (2017: 343.4 GWh and 4.7%). Energy losses 
have remained at a consistently low level thanks to more accurate 
metering achieved through the implementation of smart meters. 

Compared to 2017, the volume of distribution losses decreased by 7%.

Supply interruptions

In 2018, the average duration of unplanned interruptions was  
142 minutes (2017: 105 minutes). The average duration of planned 
interruptions was 90 minutes (2017: 80 minutes). The duration of 
planned interruptions depends on the volume of scheduled network 
maintenance and renewal operations. 

The number of supply interruptions is primarily influenced by the 
weather, which in 2018 was less favourable than the year before.  
The rise in the unplanned System Average Interruption Duration Index 
(SAIDI) resulted from windy weather in the second half of 2018, which 
also increased the number of unplanned interruptions year on year. 

Power outages can be reduced by replacing bare conductors 
with weatherproof cables. At the end of 2018, 88% of Elektrilevi’s 
low-voltage network and 38% of its medium-voltage network was 
weatherproof.

Distribution EBITDA  

Distribution EBITDA decreased by 6.8% to 99.6 million euros  
(-7.3 million euros).

The decrease in distribution EBITDA is mainly attributable to a decline 
in the average sales price of the distribution service. The impact of 

key figures of the distribution product

2018 2017

Return on fixed assets % 5.7 6.7

Distribution losses GWh 319.2 343.5

SAIFI index 2.0 1.9

SAIDI (unplanned) index 141.8 105.3

SAIDI (planned) index 90.0 79.6

Adjusted RAB m€ 792.5 777.7

 a margin change was -11.6 million euros, which includes the impacts  
of a lower sales price of -13.6 million euros and lower variable costs  
of +2.1 million euros.  

Sales volume grew by 2.8%, improving distribution EBITDA by 4.3 million 
euros. 

Fixed costs resulting from the distribution service remained at the 
same level as in 2017 (impact: -0.04 million euros).

EBITDA
2017

Margin impact
on EBITDA

 Volume impact
on EBITDA

Change in 
fixed costs

 EBITDA
2018

 

Distribution EBITDA development
m €

107.0 (11.6)
+4.3 (0.0) 99.6

 -7.3 (-6.8%)
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Shale oil  
Shale oil production is an activity that has great potential.

Shale oil revenue and sales volume 

In 2018, we sold 392.7 thousand tonnes of shale oil, which gene- 
rated revenue of 113.1 million euros. Compared to 2017, shale oil  
revenue grew by 31.4% (+27.1 million euros) and sales volume by 6.1% 
(+22.5 thousand tonnes). Shale oil sales volume and revenue increa-
sed through a rise in output and higher market prices.  

Share of shale oil product in Group's 
sales revenues and EBITDA

 

13%  
of sales 

revenues

15%  
of EBITDA

Average shale oil sales price Shale oil sales revenue Shale oil sales volume

Average shale oil 
sales price

Average price of 
heavy fuel oil (1%)

2017 2018 2017 2018

€/t m € 1000 tonnes

261
330

271
341 86.1

113.1
370 393

2017 2018

+69.5 (+26.6%) +69.7 (+25.7%) +27.1 (+31.4%) +22.5 (+6.1%)
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Price of shale oil

In 2018, the average sales price of shale oil (excluding the impact of 
derivative transactions) grew by 26.6% to 330.4 €/t (+69.5 €/t). Growth 
was driven by higher prices in the world market for liquid fuels. 

Derivative transactions of 2018 resulted in a loss of 42.3 €/t. In 2017, 
derivative transactions gave rise to a loss of 28.4 €/t. Taking into 
account the impact of derivative transactions, in 2018 the average sales 
price of shale oil was 228.1 €/t (+23.9%, +55.6 €/t). The world market 
price of the reference product, heavy fuel oil, increased by 25.7% year 
on year.

Shale oil production volume

In 2018, we produced 410.5 thousand tonnes of shale oil, 4.0% more 
than in 2017 (+15.8 thousand tonnes). The rise in output is attributable 
to our production facilities’ higher operational reliability. 

Shale oil EBITDA  

Shale oil EBITDA grew by 82.4% to 43.6 million euros (+19.7 million 
euros).

Margin growth improved EBITDA by 24.2 million euros (+61.5 €/t).  
The figure includes the impacts of a higher average sales price of  
+27.3 million euros and higher average variable costs of -3.1 million 
euros.

A decrease in gain on derivative transactions lowered shale oil  
EBITDA by 6.1 million euros. Derivative transactions resulted in a loss 
of 16.6 million euros in 2018 and a loss of 10.5 million euros in 2017.

Growth in shale oil sales volume had an impact of +3.9 million euros. 

key figures of the shale oil product

2018 2017

Return on fixed assets* % 9.9 1.3

Shale oil EBITDA €/tonne 111.0 64.6

*  Excluding impairment of assets recognised in December 2015 in connection with the project 
    in Utah.

The impact of a change in fixed costs was -3.0 million euros. The most 
important item was growth in labour costs (impact: -3.4 million euros). 

Other impacts on shale oil EBITDA totalled +0.7 million euros, the 
largest item being a change in the value of derivative financial instru-
ments (impact: +0.5 million euros).

Shale oil EBITDA development

EBITDA
2017

Margin
impact

on EBITDA

 Volume
impact

on EBITDA

Change
in fixed
costs

Gain on
derivatives

Other EBITDA
2018

 

 

m €

23.9

+24.2
+3.9 (3.0)

(6.1)
+0.7 43.6

+19.7 (+82.4%)
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Other products and services
Other products and services comprise sales of heat, natu-
ral gas and industrial equipment. The impacts of one-off 

transactions are also recognised in this segment. 

Eesti Energia sells natural gas to both corporate and household  
customers. In 2018, our retail sales of natural gas in Estonia totalled 
593.5 GWh and based on customers’ gas consumption volumes,  
Eesti Energia’s market share was 11.4%. 

In other markets our retail sales of gas amounted to 389.1 GWh  
in Latvia, 57.9 GWh in Lithuania and 9.16 GWh in Poland. In terms  
of customers’ gas consumption volumes, our market share was 2.6%  
in Latvia and 0.3% in Lithuania. 

Revenue from the sale of other products and services

In 2018, revenue from the sale of other products and services totalled 
84.4 million euros, a 21.2% improvement on 2017 (+14.8 million euros). 
Revenue from the sale of mining products grew by 4.8 million euros, 
because in 2018 Eesti Energia sold 196 thousand tonnes of oil shale to 
external customers. Revenue of the pellet factory increased the seg-
ment’s revenue by 3.8 million euros. Revenue generated by oil shale 
engineering development units grew by 2.5 million euros.

Share of other products and services in Group's 
sales revenues and EBITDA

 

10%  
of sales 

revenues

3%  
of EBITDA

Sales revenues from other products and services

 

Other sales

Sales of mining products

Enefit Solutions' products 
sales revenue

Sales of natural gas

Sales of heat

m €

70

84

8
8

16

38

17

7
5

16

39

2017 2018

+14.8 (+21.2%)
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Revenue from the sale of heat grew by 1.2 million euros, mainly 
through an increase in gate fees charged for receiving waste for 
energy recovery. Heat sales volume dropped by 4 GWh (-0.4%).

Revenue from the sale of gas grew by 0.4 million euros. 

EBITDA on other products and services 

In 2018, EBITDA on other products and services decreased by  
26.6 million euros to 8.7 million euros.

A year-on-year decrease in liquidated damages received for the delay 
in the delivery of the Auvere power plant had an impact of -25.0 million 
euros. Liquidated damages agreed with the builder were recognised 
monthly until the delivery of the power plant in the summer of 2018. 
The amount recognised in 2017 was 31 million euros whereas the 
amount recognised in 2018 was 6 million euros. 

In 2017, the net impact of reducing the Group’s ownership interest in 
its oil shale electricity project in Jordan was +9.2 million euros. In the 
comparison of the periods, the transaction had a negative impact of 
the same amount. 

EBITDA on heat supply decreased by 3.4 million euros, mainly due to 
higher fixed costs.

35.3 (3.4)
(25.0)

(9.2) +11.0 8.7

Other EBITDA development

EBITDA
2017

Heat  Auvere 
liquidated damages

Jordan
Project

Other EBITDA
2018

m €

 
-26.6 (-75.3%)

Other impacts increased EBITDA by 11.0 million euros in aggregate. 
The figure includes growth in EBITDA on the sale of Enefit Solutions’ 
products, mining products, gas and pellets as well as the Group’s 
development projects.
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In 2018, net cash from operating activities 
was 166.3 million euros, 41.3%, i.e.  
116.9 million euros lower than EBITDA,  
which amounted to 283.2 million euros.

Cash flows
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283.2 (43.2)

+1.8 (20.6)
(30.9)

(11.7) (12.3) 166.3

EBITDA to operating cash flows development

EBITDA
2018

Changes 
in working

capital

 Derivative
instru-
ments

CO2
impact

Interest
paid

Income 
tax

Other Operating
cash flow

2018

 

m €

-116.9 (-41.3%)

Changes in working capital lowered cash flow relative to EBITDA by 
43.2 million euros. Working capital was reduced by increases in cur-
rent receivables and inventories with impacts of -7.5 million euros and 
-17.0 million euros respectively and a change in hedge collaterals with 
an impact of -18.4 million euros. The impact of growth in current liabili-
ties was +2.4 million euros. 

Settlements related to CO2 emission allowances increased operating 
cash flow relative to EBITDA by 1.8 million euros. 

The impact of derivative financial instruments (excluding CO2 instru-
ments) was -20.6 million euros, consisting of the impacts of electricity 
derivatives of -12.7 million euros and oil derivatives of -6.9 million 
euros. The impacts of derivatives comprise both monetary and 
non-monetary impacts on EBITDA and operating cash flow.

Interest paid on loans lowered operating cash flow by 30.9 million 
euros.

Income tax recognised in 2017 and paid at the beginning of 2018 lowe-
red operating cash flow by 11.7 million euros.

Other impacts totalled -12.3 million euros, including the impacts of the 
recognition of network connection fees of -8.2 million euros and fixed 
asset sales of -1.1 million euros.

Compared to 2017, net operating cash flow decreased by 38.1% 
(-102.5 million euros).

The impact of changes in working capital was -66.1 million euros.  
The change in current receivables had an impact of -24.8 million euros. 
The impacts of changes in inventories and current liabilities were -14.4 
million euros and -7.2 million euros respectively and the impact of a 
change in hedge collaterals was -15.1 million euros.

The impact of a year-on-year change in liquidated damages related to 
the delay in the delivery of the Auvere power plant was -36.9 million 
euros.

The impact of settlements related to CO2 emission allowances was 
+39.8 million euros due to a higher market price of the allowances. 
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The impact of derivative financial instruments (excluding CO2 instru-
ments) was -50.4 million euros, including the impacts of electricity 
derivatives of -36.9 million euros and oil derivatives of -12.5 million 
euros.

In 2018, income tax paid on dividends was 11.6 million euros larger 
than in 2017. 

Other impacts totalled +3.8 million euros.

Operating cash flow changes

Change
in

EBITDA

Changes
in working

capital

 Derivative
instru-
ments

CO2
impact

Income
tax

Auvere 
liquidated 
damages

Other Operating
cash flow

2017

Operating
cash flow

2018

 

m €

268.8 (66.1)

(36.9) +39.8 (50.4)
+19.0 (11.6) +3.8 166.3

-102.5 (-38.1%)
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In 2018, we invested 215.1 million euros  
(+49%, +71.1 million euros). Expenditures  
on the distribution network totalled  
81.6 million euros (+9%, +7.0 million  
euros) and maintenance and repair  
expenditures (excluding the  
distribution network) amounted  
to 62.0 million euros (+118%,  
+33.6 million euros). 

Investment
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Large-scale energy production
The largest capital expenditure of 2018 was the last payment made  
for the Auvere power plant which amounted to 33.9 million euros.  
The budgeted cost of building the power plant was 638 million euros 
and the actual total cost was 610 million euros. 

In 2018, we purchased 48 new machines and vehicles of 17.5 million 
euros in aggregate for our mining entity, Enefit Kaevandused, inclu-
ding 25 for the Estonia mine and 22 for the Narva opencast. The new 
assets include 15 mining dump trucks, 8 underground loaders,  
7 crawler dozers, 4 passenger vans, 3 explosives trucks, 3 wheel  
loaders, 2 roof bolting carriages and 2 underground dump trucks.

In the summer, we carried out a major overhaul of generating unit 11  
of the Balti power plant which cost 3.4 million euros.  

During the year, we completed a project for increasing the share  
of oil shale gas burnt in generating unit 8 of the Eesti power plant in 
which we invested 2.9 million euros. The total cost of the project  
was 14.7 million euros. 

We invested 2.0 million euros in building a direct power line from 
generating unit 8 of the Eesti power plant to the Narva opencast in 
order to save on network charges.  

We invested 1.3 million euros in increasing the capacity of the power 
lines supplying electricity to the technology park on the premises of 
the Balti power plant.  

At the end of the year, we began building a waste wood shredding and 
metal removal complex on the premises of the Balti power plant in 
which we invested 0.4 million euros. 

Capex breakdown by projects

2017 2018

m €

144

215

Oil shale gas burning

Auvere 300 MW power plant

Other developm. projects

Maintenance investments

Capitalised interest

Electricity network

28

10

22

75 82

13

62

21

34

+71.1 (+49.3%)

2017 2018

Investment breakdown by products
m €

144

215

Other

Shale oil

Distribution

Electricity
39

89

9

12

87

110

+71.1 (+49.3%)
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Further information on major projects of the large-scale energy  
production business line is provided in the chapter Large-scale energy 
production on page 35.

Renewable energy
In 2018, we built solar power plants of 7 MW in which we invested  
3.8 million euros in aggregate. 

We invested 0.4 million euros in a renewable energy solution for the 
island of Ruhnu, which consists of solar panels, a wind turbine,  
a diesel generator and batteries. 

Further information on major projects of the renewable energy busi-
ness line is provided in the chapter Renewable energy on page 31.

Network services 
In 2018, investments in maintaining and consistently improving 
the quality of the distribution network totalled 81.6 million euros, 
including investments in network connections of 25.3 million euros 
(2017: 74.6 million euros). 

During the year, we built 270 new substations and 1,556 km of 
network (2017: 221 new substations and 1,572 km of network).

At the end of 2018, 88% of Elektrilevi’s low-voltage network was 
weatherproof (at the end of 2017: 84%).

The weatherproof low-voltage network increased by 1,395 km and 
the bare conductor network decreased by 1,425 km during the year.

At the end of 2018, 67% of the low- and medium-voltage network 
was weatherproof (at the end of 2017: 64%).
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Developments in the energy sector are often 
capital intensive. Our available funds are not 
always sufficient for both building new pro-
duction facilities and expanding our business 
operations. To carry out major development  
projects, we therefore raise debt  
capital from the market. 

Financing



101

In making financing decisions, we observe Eesti Energia’s financing 
policy, which has been approved by the management board and sets 
out our financing principles as well as the permitted debt ratio and 
sources of debt financing. In line with the financing policy, Eesti  
Energia should generally keep its net debt to EBITDA ratio below 3.5 
(the ceiling may be exceeded for a short term when major investments 
or acquisitions are made). 

We have raised debt financing from the international bond market 
and, in the form of loans, from the European Investment Bank (EIB) 
and commercial banks. Besides long-term loans we use liquidity loans 
with flexible repayment options. 

Borrowings and credit ratings
At the end of 2018, the nominal value of the Group’s borrowings  
was 1,157.4 million euros (932.9 million euros at the end of 2017).  
The amortised cost of the Group’s borrowings was 1,109.5 million 
euros (881.1 million euros at the end of 2017). At the year-end, long-
term borrowings comprised Eurobonds listed on the London Stock 
Exchange with a nominal value of 606.3 million euros, loans from EIB 
with a nominal value of 156.7 million euros and loans from commercial 
banks with a nominal value of 394.4 million euros. At the end of 2018, 
Eesti Energia’s undrawn liquidity loans totalled 220 million euros.

During the year, loans from commercial banks grew in connection with 
the acquisition of Nelja Energia AS (Nelja Energia). We drew down new 
loans of 150 million euros from Swedbank and 80 million euros from 

OP Corporate Bank. Through the acquisition transaction, we also took 
over the bank loans and finance lease liabilities of Nelja Energia of 
162.8 million euros. 

In December 2018, Eesti Energia’s subsidiary Enefit Green signed loan 
agreements of 260 million euros (comprising 200 million euros from 
SEB bank and 60 million euros from Swedbank). The maturity term  
of the loan agreements is 5 years and repayments are made under  
a 7-year settlement schedule. The new loans will be used for refinan-
cing the bank loans taken over in the acquisition of Nelja Energia and 
meeting the company’s general needs. Enefit Green expects to comp-
lete the refinancing by the end of March 2019. 

‘19 ‘20 ‘21 ‘22 ‘23 ‘24 ‘25 ‘26 ‘27 ‘28

m €

Debt maturity

EIB Eurobond Other bank loans

43

149

301

44

534

28 26 20 7 7
106

500

253
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In 2018, we made EIB scheduled loan repayments of 18 million euros. 
In addition, in September 2018 we redeemed bonds of 152 million 
euros in connection with the arrival of the maturity date. 

In the acquisition of Nelja Energia, we also took over Nelja Energia’s 
bonds with a nominal value of 48.5 million euros, which were listed on 
the Oslo stock exchange and accrued interest at the rate of 6.5%. We 
decided to recall and retire the bonds before maturity. The bonds were 
redeemed in December 2018. 

At the end of 2018, the weighted average interest rate of Eesti Energia’s 
borrowings was 2.18% (2.76% at the end of 2017). The weighted ave-
rage interest rate of borrowings has decreased due to the redemption 

Loan breakdown by interest rates and borrowers  

Loans 
by interest rates

 

Foreign capital 
by borrowers

23

77

34

52

14

%

Fixed

Variable

Eurobond

EIB

Other bank loans

%

298.7

61.5

+166.3 (394.8)

(8.7)

Liquidity development in 2018

Liquid assets 
31 December 2017

Liquid assets 
31 December 2018

Operating
cash flow

 Investment
cash flow

Financing
cash flow

 

m €

-237.2 (-79.4%)

of bonds that matured in 2018 and carried a coupon rate of 4.25% and 
the draw-down of new loans with lower interest rates. 

Taking into account the impact of interest rate swaps, at the year- 
end the Group’s borrowings included loans with fixed base rates of 
897 million euros. Loans and finance lease liabilities with floating 
base rates amounted to 261 million euros. At the end of 2017, all of the 
Group’s borrowings had fixed base rates. All of the Group’s borrowings 
are denominated in euros. 

The Group’s year-end credit ratings were BBB (Standard & Poor’s, out-
look negative) and Baa3 (Moody’s, outlook stable). 
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Equity and financial ratios
At the end of 2018, the Group’s equity stood at 1,859.6 million euros. 
Eesti Energia’s sole shareholder is the Republic of Estonia. In Decem-
ber 2018, the Group paid the shareholder a net dividend of 15.8 million 
euros. 

The Group’s net debt amounted to 1,048.1 million euros at the end  
of 2018 (582.4 million euros at the end of 2017). 

At the reporting date, the net debt to EBITDA ratio was 3.7 (2.2 at  
the end of 2017). 

The current net debt to EBITDA ratio is above the ceiling of 3.5 set out 
in the financing policy. Eesti Energia’s strategy outlines measures for 
meeting the target set out in the financing policy. 

1

0

2

3

4

5 40%

32%

24%

16%

8%

0%

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Net debt/EBITDA, times Financial leverage, %

Net debt/EBITDA

Net debt/EBITDA Financial leverage (right sc.)

2.7

34% 34%
30%
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According to our projections, in 2019 our  
revenue and capital expenditures will increase  
and EBITDA will remain at the same level  
as in 2018.

Outlook for 2019
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We expect that revenue from the sale of electricity will be 
supported by a rise in the average sales price of electricity, 
which will also have a positive impact on electricity EBITDA. 

However, the positive impact of higher electricity prices will be neutra-
lised by growth in CO2 emission allowance prices. We expect that our 
revenue and EBITDA from the sale of oil shale will increase, driven by 
a rise in output and a higher market price. 
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Elektri müügitulusid 
mõjutab positiivselt 
prognoositav elektri 
keskmise müügi- 
hinna tõus

Capital expenditures will grow compared to 2018. According to plan, 
the largest investments will be made in renewable energy. 

We are planning to pay the owner a dividend of 57.0 million euros for 
2018 on which we will pay income tax of 14.3 million euros. The final 
amount of the dividend distribution is at the discretion of the owner. 
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Consolidated 
financial 
statements 
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in million EUR 1 January - 31 December Note

 2018 2017  

Revenue 875.3 753.9 5, 25
Other operating income 22.3 57.2 26
    
Change in inventories of finished goods and work-in-progress 11.2 1.5 11
Raw materials and consumables used (428.2) (354.6) 27
Payroll expenses (155.6) (141.6) 28
Depreciation and amortisation (154.5) (135.8) 5, 6, 8, 32
Other operating expenses (41.8) (52.2) 29
    

OPERATING PROFIT 128.7 128.4  
    
Financial income 0.4 0.8 30
Financial expenses (25.1) (19.7) 30

Net financial income (expense) (24.7) (18.9) 5, 30

    
Profit (loss) from associates using equity method 6.6 2.7 5, 9, 32
    

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 110.6 112.2 5
    
Corporate income tax expense (4.4) (11.4) 31
    

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 106.2 100.8  
    
Equity holder of the Parent Company 106.0 100.7  
Non-controlling interest 0.2 0.1  
    

Basic earnings per share (euros) 0.17 0.16 34
Diluted earnings per share (euros) 0.17 0.16 34

Consolidated income statement
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

in million EUR 1 January - 31 December Note
2018 2017

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 106.2 100.8  
    

Other comprehensive income    

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:    
Revaluation of hedging instruments 3.4 16.3 20
Currency translation differences attributable to foreign subsidiaries 1.0 (3.3) 20

Other comprehensive income for the year 4.4 13.0  

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR PROFIT  
ATTRIBUTABLE TO:

110.6 113.8  

    
Equity holder of the Parent Company 110.4 113.7  
Non-controlling interest 0.2 0.1  

The notes on pages 113-194 are an integral part of these 
consolidated financial statements.
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in million EUR 31 December Note

 2018 2017  

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 2,955.4 2,474.5 6
Intangible assets 61.3 38.7 8
Deferred tax assets 0.6 -  
Derivative financial instruments 11.5 0.2 12, 14, 15
Investments in associates 44.2 35.6 5, 9
Long-term receivables 1.6 1.3 13

Total non-current assets 3,074.6 2,550.3  

Current assets  
Inventories 90.5 67.9 11
Current intangible assets 126.4 97.1 16
Trade and other receivables 167.0 125.2 13
Derivative financial instruments 39.1 3.3 12, 14, 15
Cash and cash equivalents 61.5 298.7 12, 15, 17

Total current assets 484.5 592.2  
Total assets 3,559.1 3,142.5 5

EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable to equity holder 
of the Parent Company

Share capital 621.6 621.6 18
Share premium 259.8 259.8  
Statutory reserve capital 62.1 62.1 18
Hedge reserve (8.8) (12.2) 20
Unrealised exchange rate differences 9.6 8.6 20
Retained earnings 913.7 823.6 18

Total equity and reserves attributable to equity 
holder of the Parent Company

1,858.0 1,763.5  

Non-controlling interest 1.6 0.4  

Total equity 1,859.6 1,763.9  

in million EUR 31 December Note

 2018 2017  

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities    

Borrowings 966.8 711.2 12, 21
Deferred tax liabilities 12.9 - 36 
Other payables 1.6 1.5 22
Derivate financial instruments 2.8 - 12, 14
Deferred income 213.0 195.8 23
Provisions 31.4 32.5 24

Total non-current liabilities 1,228.5 941.0  
Current liabilities    

Borrowings 142.7 169.9 12, 21
Trade and other payables 212.6 177.6 22
Derivative financial instruments 20.5 18.2 12, 14
Deferred income 0.3 0.3 23
Provisions 94.9 71.6 24

Total current liabilities 471.0 437.6  
Total liabilities 1,699.5 1,378.6  
Total liabilities and equity 3,559.1 3,142.5  

Consolidated statement of financial position

The notes on pages 113-194 are an integral part of these 
consolidated financial statements.
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in million EUR 1 January - 31 December Note
 2018 2017  

Cash flows from operating activities    
Cash generated from operations 208.5 295.4 32
Interest and loan fees paid (30.9) (26.9)   30 
Interest received 0.3 0.3  
Corporate income tax paid (11.6) -  

Net cash generated from operating activities 166.3 268.8  

Cash flows from investing activities    
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (169.9) (113.0)  
Proceeds from connection and other fees 23.3 19.0 23
Proceeds from grants of property, plant and equipment 0.2 0.3 23, 26
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 2.1 2.2 6, 26
Dividends received from associates 2.6 1.6  
Contribution to the share capital of associates (3.2) (34.9) 35
Acquisiton of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (249.9) - 36
Loans granted - (0.8) 35
Repayments of loans granted - 28.4 35
Proceeds from sale of shares of associate - 18.5 35

Net cash used in investing activities (394.8) (78.7)  

Cash flows from financing activities    
Loans received 270.0 0.2 21
Redeemed bonds (200.5) - 21 
Repayments of bank loans (60.2) (66.3) 21
Repayments of other loans - (0.6)  
Repayments of financial leases (0.5) - 21
Dividends paid (15.8) (47.0) 19, 31
Acquisition of non-controlling interest in a subsidiary (1.7) (1.0) 10

Net cash used in financing activities (8.7) (114.7)  

Net cash flows (237.2) 75.4  
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 298.7 223.3 12, 15, 17
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 61.5 298.7 12, 15, 17

Net increase/(-)decrease in cash and cash equivalents (237.2) 75.4  

Consolidated statement of cash flows

The notes on pages 113-194 are an integral part of these 
consolidated financial statements.
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in million EUR       

Non-con-
trolling 
interest

Total 
equity Note Share capital

Share 
premium

Statutory 
reserve 

capital
Other 

reserves
Retained 
earnings Total

Equity as at 31 December 2016 621.6 259.8 62.1 (16.6) 770.2 1,697.1 0.9 1,698.0  

Profit for the year - - - - 100.7 100.7 0.1 100.8  
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - 13.0 - 13.0 - 13.0  
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 13.0 100.7 113.7 0.1 113.8  

Dividends paid - - - - (47.0) (47.0) - (47.0)  

Acquisition of non-controlling interest of 
subsidiary

- - - - (0.3) (0.3) (0.6) (0.9) 10

Total contributions by and distributions to 
owners of the company, recognised directly 
in equity

- - - - (47.3) (47.3) (0.6) (47.9)  

Equity as at 31 December 2017 621.6 259.8 62.1 (3.6) 823.6 1,763.5 0.4 1,763.9  

Profit for the year - - - - 106.0 106.0 0.2 106.2  
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - 4.4 - 4.4 - 4.4  
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 4.4 106.0 110.4 0.2 110.6  

Dividends paid     (15.8) (15.8) - (15.8) 19, 31

Increase of non-controlling interest due  
to acquisition of subsidiary

- - - - - - 2.7 2.7 36

Acquisition of non-controlling interest of 
subsidiary

- - - - - - (1.7) (1.7) 10

Total contributions by and distributions to 
owners of the company, recognised directly 
in equity

- - - - (15.8) (15.8) 1.0 (14.8)  

Equity as at 31 December 2018 621.6 259.8 62.1 0.8 913.7 1,858.0 1.6 1,859.6  

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Additional information about equity is disclosed in Note 18.

The notes on pages 113-194 are an integral part of these 
consolidated financial statements.
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1.  General information

The consolidated financial statements of Eesti Energia Group for 
the year ended 31 December 2018 include the financial information 
concerning Eesti Energia AS (parent company, legal form: public 
limited company) and its subsidiaries (the Group) and the Group’s 
participation in associated entities.

Eesti Energia is an international energy company operating in the 
Baltic Sea region’s energy market and the global oil market. Eesti 
Energia is engaged in mining oil shale, production of power, heat 
and oil, development of oil shale refining know-how and technol-
ogies as well as provision of services and products to customers. 
The company’s objective is to enhance Estonia’s primary natural 
resource in the most efficient manner possible and to reduce the 
ecological footprint of the oil shale-based energy sector. Besides 
oil shale, electricity is also generated from wind, water, mixed 
household waste and biomass. Outside Estonia, Eesti Energia oper-
ates under the Enefit trademark. The Group has investments in 
associates which operate in Jordan.

The registered address of the Parent Company is Lelle 22, Tallinn 
11318, Republic of Estonia.
The sole shareholder of Eesti Energia AS is the Republic of Estonia.
The bonds of Eesti Energia AS are listed on London Stock 
Exchange.

These consolidated financial statements of the Group were 
authorised for issue by the management board on 21 February 
2019. Under the Commercial Code of the Republic of Estonia, the 

annual report must additionally be approved by the supervisory 
board of the Parent Company and authorised for issue by the  
general meeting of shareholders.

2.  Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies used in the preparation of 
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These 
accounting policies have been consistently used for all reporting 
periods presented, unless otherwise stated. 

2.1  Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been pre-
pared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and International Financial Reporting Inter-
pritations Committee (IFRIC) Interpretations, as adopted by the 
European Union.  

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under 
the historical cost convention, except   financial assets and liabili-
ties (including derivative financial instruments) at fair value through 
profit and loss. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS 
requires the use of certain accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of apply-
ing the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher 
degree of judgement and where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed  
in Note 4.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements



114

I  Eesti Energia Annual Report 2018  I  Eesti Energia Annual Report Consolidated Financial statements  I

 y Investments in equity instruments are always measured at 
fair value. However, management can make an irrevocable 
election to present changes in fair value in other comprehen-
sive income, provided the instrument is not held for trading. If 
the equity instrument is held for trading, changes in fair value 
are presented in profit or loss.

 y Most of the requirements in IAS 39 for classification and  
measurement of financial liabilities were carried forward  
unchanged to IFRS 9. The key change is that an entity will be 
required to present the effects of changes in own credit risk 
of financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or 
loss in other comprehensive income. 

 y IFRS 9 introduces a new model for the recognition of impair-
ment losses – the expected credit losses (ECL) model. There 
is a ‘three stage’ approach which is based on the change in 
credit quality of financial assets since initial recognition. In 
practice, the new rules mean that entities will have to record 
an immediate loss equal to the 12-month ECL on initial recog-
nition of financial assets that are not credit impaired (or lifetime  
ECL for trade receivables). Where there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk, impairment is measured using lifetime 
ECL rather than 12-month ECL. The model includes operatio-
nal simplifications for lease and trade receivables.

2.2  Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(a) Adoption on new revised standards and interpretations
The following new or revised standards and interpretations 
became effective for the Group from 1 January 2018:

 – IFRS 9, Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement. 
Key features of the new standard are:
 y Financial assets are required to be classified into three mea-

surement categories: those to be measured subsequently at 
amortised cost, those to be measured subsequently at fair 
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and those 
to be measured subsequently at fair value through profit or 
loss (FVPL). 

 y Classification for debt instruments is driven by the entity’s 
business model for managing the financial assets and 
whether the contractual cash flows represent solely pay-
ments of principal and interest (SPPI). If a debt instrument is 
held to collect, it may be carried at amortised cost if it also 
meets the SPPI requirement. Debt instruments that meet the 
SPPI requirement that are held in a portfolio where an entity 
both holds to collect assets’ cash flows and sells assets may 
be classified as FVOCI.  Financial assets that do not contain 
cash flows that are SPPI must be measured at FVPL (for 
example, derivatives). Embedded derivatives are no longer 
separated from financial assets but will be included in  
assessing the SPPI condition.
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 y Hedge accounting requirements were amended to align 
accounting more closely with risk management. The standard 
provides entities with an accounting policy choice between 
applying the hedge accounting requirements of IFRS 9 and 
continuing to apply IAS 39 to all hedges because the standard 
currently does not address accounting for macro hedging.

 – IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The new 
standard introduces the core principle that revenue must be 
recognised when the goods or services are transferred to the 
customer, at the transaction price. Any bundled goods or ser-
vices that are distinct must be separately recognised, and any 
discounts or rebates on the contract price must generally be 
allocated to the separate elements. When the consideration 
varies for any reason, minimum amounts must be recognised 
if they are not at significant risk of reversal. Costs incurred to 
secure contracts with customers have to be capitalised and 
amortised over the period when the benefits of the contract  
are consumed.

 – Amendments to IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Custo-
mers. The amendments do not change the underlying principles 
of the standard but clarify how those principles should be app-
lied.  The amendments clarify how to identify a performance 
obligation (the promise to transfer a good or a service to a cus-
tomer) in a contract; how to determine whether a company is a 
principal (the provider of a good or service) or an agent (respon-
sible for arranging for the good or service to be provided); and 
how to determine whether the revenue from granting a licence 
should be recognised at a point in time or over time.  In addition 

to the clarifications, the amendments include two additional 
reliefs to reduce cost and complexity for a company when it first 
applies the new standard.

The impact of the standards that first came into effect on 1 January 
2018 is disclosed in Note 2.3.

There are no other new or revised standards or interpretations that 
are effective for the first time for the financial year beginning on 
or after 1 January 2018 that would be expected to have a material 
impact to the Group.

(b) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
Certain new or revised standards and interpretations have been 
issued that are mandatory for the Group’s annual periods begin-
ning on or after 1 January 2018, and which the Group has not early 
adopted: 

 – Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture  - Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 
28. These amendments address an inconsistency between the 
requirements in IFRS 10 and those in IAS 28 in dealing with 
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its 
associate or joint venture. The main consequence of the amend-
ments is that a full gain or loss is recognised when a transaction 
involves a business. A partial gain or loss is recognised when a 
transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business, 
even if these assets are held by a subsidiary and the shares of 
the subsidiary are transferred during the transaction. 

 – IFRS 16, Leases. The new standard sets out the principles for 
the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure 
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of leases. All leases result in the lessee obtaining the right to 
use an asset at the start of the lease and, if lease payments 
are made over time, also obtaining financing. Accordingly, IFRS 
16 eliminates the classification of leases as either operating 
leases or finance leases as is required by IAS 17 and, instead, 
introduces a single lessee accounting model. Lessees will be 
required to recognise: (a) assets and liabilities for all leases with 
a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is 
of low value; and (b) depreciation of lease assets separately 
from interest on lease liabilities in the income statement. IFRS 
16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting require-
ments in IAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its 
leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to account for 
those two types of leases differently.

The Group has applied the standard from 1 January 2019, using 
the modified retrospective application, with the effect of initially 
applying this standard recognised at the date of initial applica-
tion (i.e. 1 January 2019), accordingly, the information presented 
for 2018 has not been restated. As a result of the implementa-
tion, the assets and liabilities of the Group increased by a total 
of EUR 29.9 million. Interest expense for 2019 will increase by 
EUR 0.7 million, depreciation will increase by EUR 1.0 million and 
operating expenses will decrease by EUR 1.5 million.

 – Definition of materiality – Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: The 
amendments clarify the definition of material and how it should 
be applied by including in the definition guidance that until now 
has featured elsewhere in IFRS. In addition, the explanations 
accompanying the definition have been improved. Finally, the 
amendments ensure that the definition of material is consistent 

across all IFRS Standards.  Information is material if omitting, 
misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to 
influence the decisions that the primary users of general pur-
pose financial statements make on the basis of those financial 
statements, which provide financial information about a speci-
fic reporting entity. The amendments may have an effect on the 
extent of the information disclosed by the Group.

There are no other new or revised standards or interpretations 
that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a material 
impact on the Group.

2.3  Changes in accounting policies
This note explains the impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments and IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
on the Group’s financial statements.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 replaces the provisions of IAS 39 that relate to the rec-
ognition, classification and measurement of financial assets and 
financial liabilities, derecognition of financial instruments, impair-
ment of financial assets and hedge accounting.

The adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments from 1 January 
2018 resulted in changes in accounting policies, although no 
adjustments were recognised to the amounts in the financial state-
ments. The new accounting policies are set out in note 2.4. In 
accordance with the transitional provisions in IFRS 9, comparative 
figures have not been restated.

On 1 January 2018 (the date of initial application of IFRS 9), the 
Group’s management has assessed which business models apply 
to the financial assets held by the Group and has classified its 
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financial instruments into the appropriate IFRS 9 categories. On the 
date of initial application, 1 January 2018, the financial instruments 
of the Group were as follows, with any reclassifications noted (the 
reclassifications of the financial instruments on adoption of IFRS 
9 did not result in any changes to measurements):

in million EUR Measurement category Carrying amount EUR

 
Original 
(IAS 39)

New  
(IFRS 9) Original New Difference

Financial assets      

Trade and other 
receivables

Amortised 
cost

Amortised 
cost 123.9 123.9 -

Derivative financial 
instruments Fair value Fair value 3.5 3.5 -

Cash and cash 
equivalents

Amortised 
cost

Amortised 
cost 298.7 298.7 -

The Group will continue to apply IAS 39 guidance in accounting for 
all hedge instruments. The accounting principles are disclosed in 
note 2.4.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group has the following types of financial assets that are sub-
ject to the expected credit loss model:

 – trade receivables for sales of goods and from the provisions of 
services,

 – loans granted,
 – bank deposits,
 – cash and cash equivalents

The Group was required to revise its impairment methodology 
under IFRS 9 for each of these classes of assets. As a result of the 
change in of the change in impairment methodology there was no 
material increase of the loss allowance on 1 January 2018, thus 
no adjustments were made to the Group’s retained earnings and 
equity.

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment 
requirements of IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was immate-
rial as at 1 January 2018 and as at 31 December 2018.

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group has adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers from 1 January 2018 using the modified retrospec-
tive application, with the effect of initially applying this standard 
recognised at the date of initial application (i.e. 1 January 2018). 
Accordingly, the information presented for 2017 has not been 
restated – i.e. it is presented, as previously reported, under IAS 
18, IAS 11 and related interpretations. Additionally, the disclosure 
requirements in IFRS 15 have not been applied to comparative 
information.

As a result of the application no adjustments were recognised to 
the amounts in the financial statements at 1 January 2018

2.4  Financial instruments:  
Accounting policies from 1 January 2018

Financial assets

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measure-
ment categories:

 y those to be measured subsequently at fair value  
(either through OCI or through profit or loss), and

 y those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s business model for  
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the 
cash flows.
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Recognition and derecognition
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are rec-
ognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to 
purchase or sell the asset.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash 
flows from the financial assets have expired or have been trans-
ferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership.

Measurement
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair 
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through 
profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of finan-
cial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the 
Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash flow 
characteristics of the asset. 

All Group’s debt instruments are classified in amortised cost meas-
urement category.

Amortised cost
 Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where 
those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and inter-
est are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these 
financial assets is included in finance income using the effective 
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is 

recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other income/
(expenses). Foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment 
losses are presented as separate line items in the statement of 
profit or loss.

As at 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018, the following financial 
assets of the Group were classified in this category:

 – trade receivables;
 – loans granted;
 – bank deposits;
 – cash and cash equivalents.

Equity instruments
The Group has no investments in equity instruments.

Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are carried at their fair value. All 
derivative instruments are carried as assets when fair value is pos-
itive and as liabilities when fair value is negative. Changes in the fair 
value of derivative instruments are included in profit or loss for the 
year. The Group applies hedge accounting and has decided to con-
tinue to apply IAS39 guidance to account for all hedge instruments 
according to the option presented by IFRS 9. Accounting principles 
for hedge accounting are disclosed in note 2.17.

Impairment 
The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected 
credit losses (“ECL”) associated with its debt instruments carried at 
amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on 
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.
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The measurement of ECL reflects: (i) an unbiased and probability 
weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of pos-
sible outcomes, (ii) time value of money and (iii) all reasonable and 
supportable information that is available without undue cost and 
effort at the end of each reporting period about past events, current 
conditions and forecasts of future conditions.

For trade receivables without a significant financing component 
the Group applies a simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9 and 
measures the allowance for impairment losses at expected lifetime 
credit losses from initial recognition of the receivables. The Group 
uses a provision matrix in which allowance for impairment losses 
is calculated for trade receivables falling into different ageing or 
overdue periods.

Accounting principles until the 31 December 2017 are disclosed in 
notes 2.14 – 2.19.

2.5  Revenue from contracts with customers:  
Accounting policies from 1 January 2018

Revenue is income arising in the course of the Group’s ordinary 
activities. Revenue is measured in the amount of transaction price. 
Transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the Group 
expects to be entitled in exchange of transferring control over 
promised goods or services to a customer, excluding the amounts 
collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue 
when it transfers control of a good or service to a customer. 

Sale of goods – wholesale
The Group manufactures and sells shale oil and shale in the 
wholesale market. Sales are recognised when control of the prod-
ucts has transferred, being when the products are delivered to the 

wholesaler, the wholesaler has full discretion over the channel and 
price to sell the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that 
could affect the wholesaler’s acceptance of the products. Deliv-
ery occurs when the products have been shipped to the specific 
location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred 
to the wholesaler, and the wholesaler has accepted the products 
in accordance with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions 
have lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for 
acceptance have been satisfied. 

No element of financing is deemed present as the sales are made 
with a credit term of up to 90 days, which is consistent with market 
practice. 

A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is 
the point in time that the consideration is unconditional because 
only the passage of time is required before the payment is due.

If the Group provides any additional services to the customer after 
control over the goods has passed, revenue from such services is 
considered to be a separate performance obligation and is recog-
nised over the time of the service rendering.

Sale of services – electricity, gas, heat
The Group provides electricity, gas and heat sale services under 
fixed-price and variable price contracts. Revenue from providing 
services is recognised in the accounting period in which the ser-
vices are rendered. For fixed-price contracts, revenue is recognised 
based on the actual service provided up to the end of the reporting 
period as a proportion of the total services to be provided because 
the customer receives and uses the benefits simultaneously. This is 
determined based on the actual units delivered.
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If the contract includes variable consideration, revenue is recog-
nised only to the extent that it is highly probable that there will be 
no significant reversal of such consideration.

Connection fees
When connecting to the electricity network, the clients must pay 
a connection fee based on the actual costs of infrastructure to be 
built in order to connect them to the network. The management has 
concluded that the connection fees do not represent a separate 
performance obligation from the sale of electricity or the ongoing 
provision of network transmission services, and thus the revenue 
from connection fees is deferred and recognised as revenue over 
the estimated average useful lives of assets providing the ser-
vice, being 32 years. Connection fees received from customers are 
carried in the statement of financial position as “Deferred income” 
within long-term liabilities.

Financing component
The  Group does not have any contracts where the period between 
the transfer of the promised goods or services to the customer 
and payment by the customer exceeds one year. Consequently, 
the Group does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time 
value of money.

Accounting principles until the 31 December 2017 are disclosed in 
Note 2.29.

2.6  Consolidation

(a) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The 
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has 
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and 
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which 
control is transferred to the Group and are de-consolidated from 
the date that control ceases.  

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business 
combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a 
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities 
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity inter-
ests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes 
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabil-
ities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination 
are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. 
The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree 
on an acquisition-by acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the 
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised 
amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition 
date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest 
in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date; 
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any gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are recog-
nised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is rec-
ognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to 
the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be 
an asset or liability is recognised in accordance with IAS 39 either 
in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. 
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeas-
ured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the aggregate of 
the consideration transferred and the fair value of non-controlling 
interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed. If the consideration is lower than the fair value of the net 
assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized in 
profit or loss.

In preparation of consolidated financial statements, the financial 
statements of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries are con-
solidated on a line-by-line basis. In preparation of consolidated 
financial statements, inter-company transactions, balances and 
unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When necessary, 
amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform 
with the Group’s accounting policies. 

In the Parent Company’s separate financial statements the invest-
ments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. 

(b) Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change 
of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in 
loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions – that is, 
as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The 
difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the 
relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the 
subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains and losses on disposals to 
non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity. 

(c) Disposal of subsidiaries
When the Group ceases to have control any retained interest in the 
entity is remeasured to its fair value at the date when the control 
is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or 
loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of 
subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, 
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previ-
ously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that 
entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the 
related assets and liabilities. This may mean that amounts previ-
ously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to 
profit or loss.

(d) Associates
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant 
influence but not control, generally accompanying a sharehold-
ing of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in 
associates are accounted for using the equity method of account-
ing and are initially recognised at cost, and the carrying amount 
is increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s share of 
the profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. The 
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Group’s investment in associates includes goodwill identified on 
acquisition.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant 
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassi-
fied to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or 
losses is recognised in the income statement and its share of 
post-acquisition movements in the associates’ other comprehensive 
income is recognised directly in other comprehensive income with 
a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the invest-
ment. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or 
exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured 
receivables, the Group does not recognise any further losses, 
unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made 
payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any 
objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. 
If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment 
as the difference between the recoverable amount of the asso-
ciate and it’s carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent 
to “Share of other profit/loss of the associates” in the income 
statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream trans-
actions between the Group and its associate are recognised in the 
Group’s financial statements only to the extent of unrelated inves-
tor’s interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are eliminated 

unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the 
asset transferred.  Accounting policies of associates have been 
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group.

2.7  Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the 
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. 
The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allo-
cating resources and assessing performance of the operating 
segments, is the management board of the Parent Company. 

2.8  Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s 
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in euros, 
which is the functional currency of the parent company and pres-
entation currency of the Group. The financial statements have been 
rounded to the nearest million, unless stated otherwise.  

(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional 
currency using the official exchange rates of the European Central 
Bank prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where 
items are re-measured. When the European Central Bank does not 
quote a particular currency, the official exchange rate against the 
Euro of the central bank issuing the currency is used as the basis. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement 
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of such transactions are recognised in the income statement. Mon-
etary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated using the official exchange rate of the European Cen-
tral Bank prevailing at the balance sheet date or on the basis of 
the official exchange rate of the central bank of the country issu-
ing the foreign currency when the European Central Bank does not 
quote the particular currency. Foreign exchange gains and losses 
from translation are recognised in the income statement, except for 
gains and losses from the revaluation of cash flow hedging instru-
ments recognised as effective hedges, which are recognised in 
other comprehensive income. Foreign exchange gains and losses 
that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are pre-
sented as finance income and costs; other foreign exchange gains 
and losses are presented as other operating income or other oper-
ating expenses.

(c) Group companies
The results and financial position of the subsidiaries that have a 
functional currency different from the presentation currency are 
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

 – assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate of the 
European Central Bank at the date of that balance sheet;

 – income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates 
of the period (unless this average is not a reasonable approxi-
mation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the 
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are 
translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions); and

 – all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a 

foreign subsidiary are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign 
subsidiary and translated at the closing rate. Exchange differences 
arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

None of the subsidiaries in the Group operates in a hyper-inflation-
ary economy.

2.9  Classification of assets and liabilities as current  
or non-current

Assets and liabilities are classified in the statement of financial 
position as current or non-current. Assets expected to be disposed 
of during the next financial year or during the normal operating 
cycle of the Group are considered as current. Liabilities whose due 
date is during the next financial year or that are expected to be set-
tled during the next financial year or during the normal operating 
cycle of the Group are considered as current. All other assets and 
liabilities are classified as non-current.

2.10  Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment (PPE) are tangible items that are 
used in the operating activities of the Group with an expected 
useful life of over one year. Property, plant and equipment are pre-
sented in the statement of financial position at historical cost less 
any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. Histor-
ical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the items. The cost of purchased non-current assets 
comprises the purchase price, transportation costs, installation, 
and other direct expenses related to the acquisition or implementa-
tion of the asset. The cost of the self-constructed items of property, 
plant and equipment includes the cost of materials, services and 
payroll expenses. 
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If an item of property, plant and equipment consists of components 
with significantly different useful lives, these components are 
depreciated as separate items of property, plant and equipment. 

When the construction of an item of property, plant and equipment 
lasts for a substantial period of time and is funded with a loan or 
other debt instrument, the related borrowing costs (interest) are 
capitalised in the cost of the item being constructed. Borrowing 
costs are capitalised if the borrowing costs and expenditures for 
the asset have been incurred and the construction of the asset has 
commenced. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is ceased when the 
construction of the asset is completed or when the construction 
has been suspended for an extended period of time. 

Subsequent expenditures incurred for items of property, plant and 
equipment are included in the carrying amount of the item of prop-
erty, plant and equipment or are recognised as a separate asset 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated 
with the assets will flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can 
be measured reliably. The replaced component or proportion of the 
replaced item of PPE is de-recognised. Costs related to ongoing 
maintenance and repairs are charged to the income statement.

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other asses is calculated 
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual 
values over their estimated useful lives, as follows: 

Buildings 30–40 years
Facilities, including  

electricity lines 12.5–50 years
other facilities 10–60 years

Machinery and equipment, including  
transmission equipment 5–45 years
power plant equipment 7–32 years
other machinery and equipment 3–30 years

Other property, plant and equipment 3–10 years

The expected useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment 
are reviewed during the annual stocktaking, when subsequent 
expenditures are recognised and in the case of significant changes 
in development plans. When the estimated useful life of an asset 
differs significantly from the previous estimate, it is treated as a 
change in the accounting estimate, and the remaining useful life of 
the asset is changed, as a result of which the depreciation charge 
of the following periods also changes. 

An asset’s carrying amount is written down to its recoverable 
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount (Note 2.12).

To determine the gains and losses from the sale of property, plant 
and equipment, the carrying amount of the assets sold is sub-
tracted from the proceeds. The resulting gains and losses are 
recognised in the income statement items under “Other operating 
income” or “Other operating expenses” respectively. 
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2.11  Intangible assets
Intangible assets are recognised in the statement of financial posi-
tion only if the following conditions are met:

 – the asset is controlled by the Group;
 – it is probable that the future economic benefits that are attribu-

table to the asset will flow to the Group;
 – the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 

Intangible assets (except for goodwill) are amortised using the 
straight-line method over the useful life of the asset.

Intangible assets are tested for impairment if there are any impair-
ment indicators, similarly to the testing of impairment for items 
of property, plant and equipment (except for goodwill). Intangi-
ble assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet 
available for use are tested for impairment annually by comparing 
their carrying amount with their recoverable amount.

(a) Goodwill 
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is not subject to amor-
tisation. Instead, for the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is 
allocated to cash-generating units and an impairment test is per-
formed at the end of each reporting period (or more frequently if 
an event or change in circumstances demands it). The allocation 
is made to those cash-generating units that are expected to ben-
efit from the synergies of the business combination in which the 
goodwill arose. Goodwill is allocated to a cash generating unit or 
a group of units, not larger than an operating segment. Goodwill is 
written down to its recoverable amount when this is lower than the 
carrying amount. Impairment losses on goodwill are not subse-

quently reversed. Goodwill is reported in the statement of financial 
position at the carrying amount (cost less any impairment losses) 
(Note 2.12). When determining gains and losses on the disposal of 
a subsidiary, the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity 
sold is regarded as part of the carrying amount of the subsidiary.

(b)  Development costs
Development costs are costs that are incurred in applying research 
findings for the development of specific new products or processes. 
Development costs are capitalised if all of the criteria for recogni-
tion specified in IAS 38 have been met. Capitalised development 
costs are amortised over the period during which the products are 
expected to be used. Expenses related to starting up a new busi-
ness unity, research carried out for collecting new scientific or 
technical information and training costs are not capitalised.

(c) Contractual rights
Contractual rights acquired in a business combination are recog-
nised at fair value on acquisition and are subsequently carried at 
cost less any accumulated amortisation. Contractual rights are 
amortised using the straight-line basis over the expected duration 
of the contractual right.

(d) Computer software
Costs associated with the ongoing maintenance of computer sof-
tware programs are recognised as an expense as incurred.Acquired 
computer software which is not an integral part of the related 
hardware is recognised as an intangible asset. Development costs 
that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identi-
fiable software products controlled by the Group are recognised as 
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intangible assets when the following criteria are met: 
 – it is technically feasible to complete the software product so 

that it will be available for use;
 – management intends to complete the software product and use it;
 – there is an ability to use the software product;
 – it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate 

probable future economic benefits;
 – adequate technical, financial and other resources for completing 

the development and using the software product are available;
 – the expenditure attributable to the software product during its 

development can be reliably measured.

Capitalised software development costs include payroll expenses 
and an appropriate portion of related overheads. Other develop-
ment expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised 
as an expense as incurred. Development costs previously recog-
nised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent 
period. Computer software development costs are amortised over 
their estimated useful lives (not exceeding 15 years) using the 
straight-line method.

(e) Right of use of land
Payments made for rights of superficies and servitudes meet-
ing the criteria for recognition as intangible assets are recognised 
as intangible assets. The costs related to rights of use of land 
are depreciated according to the contract period, not exceeding 
99 years. 

(f) Greenhouse gas emission allowances
Greenhouse gas emission allowances controllable by the Group 
are accounted for as current asset. Greenhouse gas emission 
allowances received from the state free of charge are recognised 
at zero cost. Any additionally purchased allowances are recognised 
at purchase cost or based on the revaluation method, if the Group 
has acquired the greenhouse gas emission allowances more than 
presumably needed and the Group has a plan to sell the allow-
ances. The provision for greenhouse gas emissions is set up in the 
average price of the greenhouse gas emission allowances that are 
owned by the Group or that will be allocated to the Group free of 
charge (Note 2.27). 

(g) Exploration and evaluation assets of mineral resources
Expenditures that are included in the initial measurement of explo-
ration and evaluation assets include the acquisition of rights to 
explore; topographical, geological, geochemical and geophysi-
cal studies; exploratory drilling; sampling and activities related 
to evaluation of the technical feasibility and economic viability of 
extracting a mineral resource. 

Exploration and evaluation assets are initially recognised at cost. 
Depending on the nature of the asset, the exploration and evalua-
tion assets are classified as intangible assets or items of property, 
plant and equipment. Expenditure on the construction, installation 
and completion of infrastructure facilities is capitalised within items 
of property, plant and equipment, other exploration and evaluation 
assets are recognised as intangible assets. After initial recogni-
tion, exploration and evaluation assets are measured using the cost 
model.



127

I  Eesti Energia Annual Report 2018  I  Eesti Energia Annual Report Consolidated Financial statements  I

Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment (Note 
2.12) when one or more of the following circumstances are present:

 – the period for which the Group has the right to explore in the 
specific area has expired during the period or will expire in the 
near future, and is not expected to be renewed;

 – substantive expenditure on future exploration for and evalua-
tion of mineral resources in the specific area is neither budgeted 
nor planned;

 – exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the speci-
fic area have not led to the discovery of commercially viable 
quantities of mineral resources and the Group has decided to 
discontinue such activities in the specific area;

 – sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a development in 
the specific area is likely to proceed, the carrying amount of the 
exploration and evaluation asset is unlikely to be recovered in 
full from successful development or by sale.

(h) Mining rights
Mining rights controllable by the Group are accounted for as cur-
rent or non-current intangible assets depending on the expected 
realisation period. Mining rights received from the state free of 
charge are recognised at zero cost. The fee for extracted natural 
resources that is paid according to the volume of natural resources 
extracted is recognised in expenses as incurred (Note 2.25).

2.12  Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that have indefinite useful lives (for example goodwill or 
intangible assets not ready to use) are not subject to amortisa-
tion but are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject 

to amortisation/depreciation and land are reviewed for impair-
ment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss 
is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of the asset’s:

 – fair value less costs of disposal; and
 – value in use.

If the fair value of the asset less costs to sell cannot be determined 
reliably, the recoverable amount of the asset is its value in use. The 
value in use is calculated by discounting the expected future cash 
flows generated by the asset to their present value. 

An impairment test is carried out if any of the following indicators 
of impairment exist: 

 – the market value of similar assets has decreased;
 – the general economic environment and the market situation 

have worsened, and therefore it is likely that the future cash 
flows generated by assets will decrease;

 – market interest rates have increased;
 – the physical condition of the assets has considerably 

deteriorated;
 – revenue generated by assets is lower than expected;
 – results of some operating areas are worse than expected;
 – the activities of a certain cash generating unit are planned to be 

terminated.
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If the Group identifies any other evidence of impairment, an impair-
ment test is performed. 

Impairment tests are performed either for an individual asset or 
group of assets (cash-generating unit). A cash-generating unit 
is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash 
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the 
cash inflows generated by other assets or groups of assets. An 
impairment loss is recognised immediately as an expense in the 
income statement.

At the end of each reporting period, it is assessed whether there 
is any indication that the impairment loss recognised in the prior 
periods for an asset other than goodwill may no longer exist or 
may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount is estimated. According to the results of the estimate, the 
impairment loss can be partially or wholly reversed. An impairment 
loss recognised for goodwill shall not be reversed in a subsequent 
period. 

2.13  Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held forsale
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as assets 
held for sale when their carrying amount is to be recovered prin-
cipally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing 
use, and a sale is considered highly probable. They are stated at 
the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

2.14  Financial assets

2.14.1  Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following catego-
ries: at fair value through profit or loss financial assets, loans and 
receivables. The classification depends on the purpose for which 
the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the 
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial 
assets held for trading, acquired for the purpose of selling in the 
short term. Derivatives are also recognised at fair value through 
profit or loss unless they are designated and effective hedg-
ing instruments. Assets in this category are classified as current 
assets.

(b) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. Loans and receivables are included in current assets, 
except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. These are classified as non-current assets. The 
Group’s loans and receivables are included in the statement of 
financial position lines “Cash and cash equivalents”, “Deposits at 
banks with maturities of more than three months”, “Trade and other 
receivables”. 
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2.14.2   Recognition and measurement
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or 
de-recognised using the trade-date accounting method. Invest-
ments which are not carried at fair value through profit or loss are 
initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs. Financial 
assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially rec-
ognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the 
income statement. Financial assets are de-recognised when the 
rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or 
have been transferred and the Group has transferred substan-
tially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership. Financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair 
value. Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method.

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the finan-
cial assets at fair value through profit or loss are presented in 
the income statement line “Net financial income (-expense)”in the 
period in which they arise or are incurred (Note 30). Interest income 
on available-for-sale financial assets and on loans and receivables 
is reported in the income statement line “Financial income” (Note 
30). The Group has not received any interest income or dividend 
income on financial assets recognised at fair value through profit or 
loss in the current and comparative reporting period. 

The fair values of quoted investments are based on the bid prices 
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. To find the fair value 
of unquoted financial assets, various valuation techniques are 
used. Depending on the type of financial asset, these include the 

listed market prices of instruments that are substantially the 
same, quotes by intermediaries and estimated cash flow analysis. 
The Group uses several different measures and makes assump-
tions which are based on the market conditions at the end of each 
reporting period. The fair value of derivatives is based on the 
quotes of exchange as far as possible

2.15  Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount 
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforcea-
ble right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention 
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be con-
tingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal 
course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bank-
ruptcy of the company or the counterparty.

2.16  Impairment of financial assets

Assets carried at amortised cost
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether 
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of finan-
cial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial 
assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there 
is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more 
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a loss 
event) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the esti-
mated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial 
assets that can be reliably estimated.
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Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors 
or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial diffi-
culty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, 
the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation, and where observable data indicate that there is 
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such 
as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with 
defaults.

For loans and receivables category the amount of the loss is meas-
ured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future 
credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the finan-
cial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount 
of the asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised 
in the consolidated income statement. If a loan or held-to-matu-
rity investment has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for 
measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate 
determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group 
may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value 
using an observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an 
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the previ-
ously recognised impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated 
income statement.

 

2.17  Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a deriv-
ative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured 
at their fair value. The method for recognising the resulting gain or 
loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedg-
ing instrument, and if it is, the nature of the item being hedged. The 
Group uses cash flow hedging instruments in order to hedge the 
risk of changes of the prices of shale oil and electricity. 

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the rela-
tionship between hedging instruments and  hedged items, and 
also its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking 
various hedge transactions. The Group also documents its assess-
ment and tests, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, 
of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions 
are highly effective in offsetting changes in the cash flows of the 
hedged items. 

The fair values of derivative financial instruments used for hedg-
ing purposes are disclosed in Note 14. Movements on the hedge 
reserve in other comprehensive income are disclosed in Note 
20. The full fair value of hedging derivatives is classified as a 
non-current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the 
hedged item is more than 12 months and as a current asset or lia-
bility when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than 
12 months. Derivatives held for trading are classified as current 
assets or liabilities.
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(a) Cash flow hedge
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives  
(for options only the intrinsic value) that are designated and qualify 
as cash flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income. 
The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised 
immediately in the income statement as a net amount within other 
operating income or operating expenses.

Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss 
in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss (for 
instance, when the forecast sale that is hedged takes place).  

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no 
longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain 
or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is rec-
ognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in 
the income statement. When a forecast transaction is no longer 
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported 
in equity is immediately recognised as other operating income or 
operating expenses in the income statement.

Hedging instruments, which are combined from various com-
ponents of derivative instruments, are recognised at fair value 
with changes through profit or loss until the acquisition of all 
components.

(b) Derivatives at fair value through profit or loss 
Derivatives which are not designated as hedging instruments are 
carried at fair value through profit or loss. The gains and losses 
arising from changes in the fair value of such derivatives are 
included within other operating income or operating expenses in 
the income statement.

(c) Derivatives at own use
Derivative contracts that are entered into use and continue to be 
held for the purpose of the receipt of the underlying commodity 
in accordance with the Group’s expected purchase requirements 
are accounted for as regular purchases of underlying commodi-
ties. For example, any futures contracts for buying greenhouse gas 
emissions allowances that are necessary for the Group’s electric-
ity production purposes are not recognised as derivatives on the 
balance sheet; the emissions allowances purchased are recognised 
as intangible assets when settlement of future contract occurs and 
emissions allowances are transferred to the Group. Any payments 
made to the counterparty before the settlement date are recog-
nised as prepayments for intangible assets.

If the terms of the contracts permit either party to settle it net in 
cash or another financial instrument or the commodity that is the 
subject of the contracts is readily convertible to cash, the contracts 
are evaluated to see if they qualify for own use treatment. Con-
tracts that do not qualify for own use treatment, are accounted for 
as derivatives as described above.
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2.18  Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include bank account balances and cash 
in transit as well as short-term highly liquid investments in banks. 

2.19  Trade receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchan-
dise sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subse-
quently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method, less provision for impairment. A provision for the 
impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objec-
tive evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts 
due according to the original terms of receivables. Significant finan-
cial difficulties of the debtor, the probability that the debtor will 
enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delin-
quency in payments (more than 90 days overdue) are considered 
indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. Material receivables 
are assessed individually. The rest of the receivables are collec-
tively assessed for impairment, using previous years’ experience of 
impairment which is adjusted to take account of current conditions. 
The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The carry-
ing amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income 
statement within other operating expenses. When a receivable is 
classified as uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance 
account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited in the income statement against 
other operating expenses.

If collection is expected within one year or less, the receivables are 
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-cur-
rent assets. Long-term receivables from customers are recognised 
at the present value of the collectible amount. The difference 
between the nominal value and the present value of the collecti-
ble receivable is recognised as interest income during the period 
remaining until the maturity date using the effective interest rate.

2.20  Inventories
Inventories are stated in the statement of financial position at the 
lower of cost or net realisable value. The weighted average method 
is used to expense inventories. The cost of finished goods and work 
in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct 
costs and related production overheads (based on normal oper-
ating capacity), but it excludes borrowing costs. The cost of raw 
and other materials consists of the purchase price, expenditure on 
transportation and other costs directly related to the purchase. 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

2.21  Share capital and statutory reserve capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. No preference shares 
have been issued. Unavoidable incremental costs directly attrib-
utable to the issue of new ordinary shares are shown in equity as 
a deduction from the proceeds. Shares approved at the General 
Meeting but not yet registered in the Commercial Registry are rec-
ognised in the equity line “Unregistered share capital”.

The Commercial Code requires the Parent Company to set up 
statutory reserve capital from annual net profit allocations, the 
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minimum amount of which is 1/10 of share capital. The amount of 
allocation to annual statutory reserve capital is 1/20 of the net 
profit of the financial year until the reserve reaches the limit set for 
reserve capital. Reserve capital may be used to cover a loss that 
cannot be covered from distributable equity, or to increase share 
capital.

2.22  Trade payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that 
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from sup-
pliers. Accounts payables are classified as current liabilities if 
payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are presented 
as non-current liabilities. Trade payables are recognised initially at 
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method.

2.23  Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction 
costs incurred, and are subsequently carried at amortised cost. Any 
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the 
redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the 
period of the borrowing using the effective interest method. 

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as 
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that 
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee 
is deferred and treated as a transaction cost when the draw-down 
occurs. 

Borrowings are recognised as current liabilities unless the Group 
has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for 
at least 12 months after the end of reporting period.

2.24  Borrowing costs
General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which 
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get 
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those 
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for 
their intended use or sale

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of spe-
cific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is 
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which they are incurred.

The capitalised borrowing costs are recognised in the statement of 
cash flows under item “Interest and loan fees paid”.
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2.25  Taxation

(a) Corporate income tax on dividends in Estonia
Under the Income Tax Act, the annual profit earned by entities is 
not taxed in Estonia. Corporate income tax is paid on dividends, 
fringe benefits, gifts, donations, costs of entertaining guests, 
non-business related disbursements and adjustments of the 
transfer price. From 1 January 2015, the tax rate on the net divi-
dends paid out of retained earnings is 20/80. In certain 
circumstances, it is possible to distribute dividends without any 
additional income tax expense. The corporate income tax arising 
from the payment of dividends is accounted for as a liability and 
expense in the period in which dividends are declared, regardless 
of the actual payment date or the period for which the dividends 

are paid. The income tax liability is due on the 10th day of the 
month following the payment of dividends.

Due to the nature of the taxation system, the entities registered in 
Estonia do not have any differences between the tax bases of 
assets and their carrying amounts and hence, no deferred income 
tax assets and liabilities arise. A contingent income tax liability 
which would arise upon the payment of dividends is not recognised 
in the statement of financial position. The maximum income tax 
liability which would accompany the distribution of retained ear-
nings is disclosed in the notes to the financial statement.

Tax Tax rate

Social security tax 33% of the payroll paid to employees and of fringe benefits

Unemployment insurance tax 0.8% of the payroll paid to employees 

Fringe benefit income tax 20/80 of fringe benefits paid to employees 

Pollution charges Paid for contamination of the air, water, ground water, soil and waste storage, and based on tonnage and type of waste

Fee for extraction right for oil shale 0.275-2.21 euros per tonne of oil shale extracted (in 2017 0.275-2.21 euros per tonne of oil shale extracted) 

Water utilisation charges 1.64-173.5 euros per 1,000 m3 of pond or ground water used (in 2017 1.62-171.78 euros per 1,000 m3 of pond or ground 
water used).

Land tax 0.1–2.5% on taxable value of land per annum

Tax on heavy trucks 3.50 – 232.60 euros per truck per quarter 

Excise tax on electricity 4.47 euros per MWh of electricity 

Excise tax on natural gas 50.65 euros per 1,000 m3 of natural gas (in 2017 40.52 euros per 1,000 m3 of natural gas)

Excise tax on shale oil 57.0 euros per 1,000 kg of shale oil

Excise tax on oil shale 0.93 euros per giga-joule

Corporate income tax on non-business related expenses 20/80 upon distribution of profits

(b) Other taxes in Estonia
The following taxes had an effect on the Group’s expenses:
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d) Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is recognised in foreign subsidiaries on tem-
porary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated finan-
cial statements. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are 
recognised under the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are 
not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of good-
will; deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial 
recognition of an asset and liability in a transaction other than a 
business combination  that at the time of the transaction affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is 
determined using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when 
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred 
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible tem-
porary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries and 
associates only to the extent that it is probable the temporary 
difference will reverse in the future and there is sufficient taxa-
ble profit available against which the temporary difference can be 
utilised. 

2.26  Employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits include wages and salaries as well 
as social security taxes, benefits related to the temporary halt-
ing of the employment contract (holiday pay or other similar pay) 
when it is assumed that the temporary halting of the employment 
contract will occur within 12 months from the end of the period in 

Latvia Income earned by resident legal persons is taxed at a rate of 20/80 upon distribution (in 2017 15% on income earned)

Lithuania Income earned by resident legal persons is taxed at an income tax rate of 15%

Germany Income earned by resident legal persons is taxed at an income tax rate of 30-33% (corporate tax, trade tax and solidarity surcharge combined) (in 2017 28.425% )

the USA Income earned by resident legal persons is taxed at an income tax rate of 21% (in 2017 35%)

Jordan Income earned by resident legal persons is taxed at an income tax rate of 24%. Jordan Oil Shale Energy is fully exempted from income tax according to the con-
tracts concluded with the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan.

the 
Netherlands

Income earned by resident legal persons is taxed at an income tax rate of 25%

Poland Income earned by resident legal persons is taxed at an income tax rate of 19%

Finland Income earned by resident legal persons is taxed at an income tax rate of 20%

Sweden Income earned by resident legal persons is taxed at an income tax rate of 22%

(c) Income tax rates in foreign countries in which the Group operates
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which the employee worked, and other benefits payable after the 
end of the period during which the employee worked.

If during the reporting period the employee has provided services 
in return for which benefits are expected to be paid, the Group will 
set up a liability (accrued expense) for the amount of the forecast 
benefit, from which all paid amounts are deducted.

Termination benefits  
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated 
by the Group before the normal retirement date, or whenever an 
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these 
benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits at the earlier 
of the following dates: (a) when the Group can no longer with-
draw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the Group recognises 
costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of IAS 37 and 
involves the payment of termination benefits. In the case of an offer 
made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination bene-
fits are measured based on the number of employees expected to 
accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the 
end of the reporting period are discounted to their present value. 
Redundancy provisions are set up for redundancies occurring in the 
course of restructuring (Note 2.27).

Other employee benefits 
Provisions have been set up to cover the benefits arising from col-
lective agreements and other agreements and the compensation 
for work-related injuries (Note 2.27).

2.27  Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable 
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obliga-
tion, and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are 
measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be 
required to settle the obligation using an interest rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to 
the passage of time is recognised as interest expense. 

Provisions are recognised based on management’s estimates. If 
required, independent experts may be involved. Provisions are not 
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that 
an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by consid-
ering the class of obligations as a whole. Although the likelihood 
of an outflow of resources may be small for any individual item, it 
may be probable that some outflow of resources will be needed 
to settle the class of obligations as a whole. If that is the case, the 
provision is recognised (if the other recognition criteria are met).

Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
adjusted to reflect current best estimates. The costs related to 
setting up provisions are charged to operating expenses or are 
included within the acquisition cost of an item of PPE when the pro-
vision is related to the dismantlement, removal or restoration or 
other obligation, incurred either when the item is acquired or as a 
consequence of use of the item during a particular period.
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Provisions are used only to cover the expenses for which they 
were set up.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision 
is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the reimbursement 
shall be recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that 
reimbursement will be received if the Group settles the obliga-
tion. The reimbursement shall be treated as a separate asset. The 
amount of the reimbursement may not exceed the amount of the 
provision.

(a) Provisions for post-employment benefits and work-related 
injury compensation

If the Group has the obligation to pay post-employment benefits to 
their former employees, a provision is set up to cover these costs. 
The provision is based on the terms of the obligation and the esti-
mated number of people eligible for the compensation.

Provisions for work-related injuries are recognised to cover 
expenditure related to future payments to former employees 
according to court orders over the estimated period of such an 
obligation.

(b) Environmental protection provisions
Environmental protection provisions are recognised to cover envi-
ronmental damages that have occurred before the end of the 
reporting period when this is required by law or when the Group’s 
past environmental policies have demonstrated that the Group has 
a constructive present obligation to liquidate this environmental 
damage. Experts’ opinions and prior experience in performing envi-
ronmental work are used to set up the provisions.

(c) Provisions for the termination of mining operations
Provisions for the termination of mining operations are set up to 
cover the costs related to the closing of mines and quarries, if it 
is required by law. Experts’ opinion and prior experience gained 
from the termination of mining operations is used to set up the 
provisions.

(d) Provision for termination benefits
Provisions for termination benefits have been recognised to 
cover the costs related to employee redundancy if the Group 
has announced a restructuring plan, identifying the expenditure, 
the business or part of a business concerned, the principal loca-
tions affected, the location, function and approximate number of 
employees who will be compensated for termination of their ser-
vices, the timing of the implementation of the plan; and if the Group 
has raised a valid expectation among those affected that it will 
carry out the restructuring by starting to implement that plan or 
announcing its main features to those affected by it.

(e) Provision for the dismantling cost of assets
The provisions for the dismantling of assets are set up to cover the 
estimated costs relating to the future dismantling of assets if the 
dismantling of assets is required by law or if the Group’s past prac-
tice has demonstrated that the Group has a present constructive 
obligation to incur these costs. The present value of the disman-
tling costs of assets is included within the cost of property, plant 
and equipment.

(f) Provisions for greenhouse gas emissions
A provision for greenhouse gas emissions is set up in the average 
price of the greenhouse gas emission allowances that are owned 
by the Group or that will be allocated to the Group free of charge to 
meet the obligations arising from legislation relating to greenhouse 
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gas emissions. When the Group surrenders the greenhouse gas 
emission allowances to the state for the greenhouse gases emitted, 
both the provision and the intangible assets are reduced by equal 
quantities and amounts (Note 2.11).

(g) Provisions for onerous contracts
A provision for onerous contract is set up if the Group has con-
cluded a contract in which the unavoidable costs of meeting 
the obligations under the contract exceed the economic bene-
fits expected to be received under it. The provision is set up in 
the amount which is the lower of the cost of fulfilling it (revenues 
received less expenses occurred of fulfilling the contract) and any 
compensation or penalties arising from failure to fulfill it.

(h) Provision for obligations arising from treaties
Provision for obligations arising from treaties is set up to meet the 
obligations arising from treaties, in which realization of timing or 
amount is uncertain.

2.28  Contingent liabilities 
Possible obligations where it is not probable that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation, or where the 
amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reli-
ability, but which may become in certain circumstances liabilities, 
are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as contingent 
liabilities. 

2.29  Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable for the sale of goods and provision of services in the 
ordinary course of business. Revenue is shown net of value-added 
tax and discounts after the elimination of intra-group transactions. 
Revenue is recognised only when the amount of revenue can be 

reliably measured and it is probable that future economic benefits 
will flow to the Group, all significant risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership have been transferred from the seller to the buyer, and 
the additional criteria presented below have been met. The amount 
of revenue can be measured reliably only when all the conditions 
related to the transaction are evident.

(a) Sale of electricity and grid services
Revenue is recognised on the basis of meter readings of customers. 
Meter readings are reported by customers, read by remote counter 
reading systems based on actual consumption, or estimated based 
on past consumption patterns. Additionally, estimates are made of 
the potential impact of readings either not reported or incorrectly 
reported by the end of the reporting period, resulting in a more pre-
cise estimation of the actual consumption and sale of electricity.

(b) Recognition of connection fees 
When connecting to the electricity network, the clients must pay 
a connection fee based on the actual costs of infrastructure to be 
built in order to connect them to the network. The revenue from 
connection fees is deferred and recognised as income over the esti-
mated average useful lives of assets acquired for the connections. 
The average amortisation period of connection fees is 32 years. 
Deferred connection fees are carried in the statement of financial 
position as long-term deferred income.

(c) Revenue recognition under the stage of completion method
Revenue from unfinished and finished but undelivered services 
is recognised using the stage of completion method. Under this 
method, contract revenue and profit is recognised in the propor-
tion and in the accounting periods in which the contract costs 
associated with the service contract were incurred. Unbilled but 
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recognised revenue is recorded as accrued income in the state-
ment of financial position. Where progress billings at the end of the 
reporting period exceed costs incurred plus recognised profits, the 
balance is shown as due to customers on construction contracts, 
under accrued expenses.

(d) Interest income
Interest income is recognised when it is probable that the economic 
benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group and 
the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. Interest income 
is recognised using the effective interest rate, unless the receipt of 
interest is uncertain. In such cases the interest income is accounted 
for on a cash basis. 

(e) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the Group has established the 
right to receive payment.

2.30  Government grants
Government grants are recognised at fair value, when there is rea-
sonable assurance that the grant will be received and the Group 
will comply with all attached conditions. Grants are recognised as 
income over the periods necessary to match them with the costs 
which they are intended to compensate.

Assets acquired through government grants are initially recognised 
in the statement of financial position at cost. The amount received 
as a government grant is recognised as deferred income related 
to the government grant. Related assets are depreciated and the 
grant is recognised as income over the estimated useful life of the 
depreciable asset.

2.31  Leases
A lease is an agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee 
the right to use an asset for an agreed period of time in return for 
a payment or series of payments. Leases which transfer all signif-
icant risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the lessee are 
classified as finance leases. Other leases are classified as operat-
ing leases.

(a) The Group as the lessee
Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives 
received from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a 
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

(b) The Group as the lessor
The accounting policies for items of property, plant and equip-
ment are applied to assets leased out under operating lease terms. 
Rental income is recognised in the income statement on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. 

2.32  Dividend distribution
Dividends are recognised as a reduction of retained earnings 
and a payable to shareholders at the moment the dividends are 
announced.  

2.33  Related party transactions
For the purposes of preparing the consolidated financial state-
ments, the related parties include the associates of the Group, 
the members of the supervisory and management board of Eesti 
Energia AS and other individuals and entities who can control or 
significantly influence the Group’s financial and operating decisions. 
As the shares of Eesti Energia AS belong 100% to the Republic of 
Estonia, the related parties also include entities under the control 
or significant influence of the state.
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3.  Financial risk management

3.1  Financial risks
The Group’s activities are accompanied by a variety of financial 
risks: market risk (which includes currency risk, cash flow and fair 
value interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise adverse 
effects on the Group’s financial performance. The Group uses 
derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures. 

The purpose of financial risk management is to mitigate financial 
risks and minimise the volatility of financial results. The risk and 
internal audit department under the chairman of the management 
board and auditing committee is engaged in risk management and is 
responsible for the development, implementation and maintenance 
of the Group’s risk management system. The Group’s financial risks 
are managed in accordance with the principles established by the 
management board at the Group level. The Group’s liquidity, inter-
est rate and currency risks are managed in the finance department 
of the Parent Company.

3.1.1  Market risks

3.1.1.1 Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of financial instruments 
or cash flows will fluctuate in the future due to exchange rate 
changes. The financial assets and liabilities denominated in euros 
are considered to be free of currency risk. All long-term borrow-
ings and electricity export contracts are also concluded in euros to 
avoid currency risk. 

Few procurement and other contracts have been concluded in a 
currency other than the functional currency of the Group compa-
nies. The majority of these transactions included the transactions 
concluded in US dollars. 

At the end of reporting period, the Group had the following balances 
of financial assets and liabilities denominated in US dollars. 

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Assets   

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 17) 2.7 2.7

Derivatives 4.2 1.0

Trade and other receivables (Note 35) 8.2 7.1

Liabilities   

Derivatives 1.9 4.2

Trade and other payables 2.3 3.5

Had the US dollar’s exchange rate at 31 December 2018 been 
10% (31 December 2017: 14%) higher or lower (with other factors 
remaining constant), the Group’s profit for the financial year would 
have been EUR 1.1 million higher/lower (2017: EUR 0.4 million 
higher/lower) as a result of the revaluation of the balances of cash 
and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and 
other payables.

3.1.1.2 Price risk
Price risk is the risk that the fair value and cash flows of finan-
cial instruments will fluctuate in the future for reasons other than 
changes in the market prices resulting from interest rate risk or 
foreign exchange risk. The sale of goods produced and services 
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provided by the Group under free market conditions, the purchase 
of resources used in production, and financial assets recognised at 
fair value through profit or loss are impacted by price risk. 

3.1.1.2.1 The price risk of commodities
The most significant price risks of goods and services are the price 
risks related to the sale of electricity and shale oil, and to the pur-
chase of greenhouse gas emission allowances. The Group uses 
various derivatives to hedge the price risks related to the sale of 
goods and services and purchase and sale of greenhouse gas 
emission allowances. To hedge the risk related to changes in the 
price of electricity, forward contracts are used which are entered 
into for the sale of a specific volume of electricity at each trading 
hour. The volume of derivative transactions for sales of electricity 
through the power exchange Nord Pool depends on the price dif-
ference between the market price of electricity and the price level 
of greenhouse gas emission allowances and the planned produc-
tion capacity of electrical energy. 

Swap and option transactions are used to hedge the risk in the 
price of shale oil. With these transactions, the Group or a trans-
action partner undertakes to pay the difference between the fixed 
price and the market price in the reporting period. According to the 
risk hedging principles of the Group, the goal of hedging trans-
actions is to ensure predefined profits after variable expenses. 
The volume of the underlying assets, the risks of which are being 
hedged, is determined separately for each period. The mini-
mum price level is set for price risk hedge transactions, after 
which transactions can be concluded. The volume of transactions 
depends on the time horizon of the underlying period and the con-
tract price offered. 

The need to buy greenhouse gas emission allowances arises when 
CO2 emissions exceed the number of greenhouse gas emission 
allowances allocated free of charge by the state. To lower the risk 
from changes in the price of the amount of greenhouse gas emis-
sions allowed, the Group uses option and future transactions (Note 
14). According to the risk management strategy concerning green-
house gas emission allowances, the missing quantity is purchased 
on a dispersed basis throughout the year based on the expected 
price and shortage of greenhouse gas emission allowances.

3.1.1.3 Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of financial instru-
ments or cash flows will fluctuate in the future due to changes 
in market interest rates. Cash flow interest rate risk arises to the 
Group from floating interest rate borrowings and lies in the danger 
that financial expenses increase when interest rates increase. 

Sensitivity analysis is used to assess the interest rate risk. For 
managing the Group’s interest rate risks, the principle that the 
share of fixed interest rate borrowings in the portfolio should 
be over 50% is followed. The Group has predominantly locked 
the risk resulting from fluctuations in the base interest rate. Tak-
ing into account the impact of interest rate swaps, at the financial 
year-end, for 77.5% of the Group’s borrowings the base interest 
rate was locked until maturity and 22.5% had floating interest rate 
(31 December 2017: for 100% of borrowings the base interest rate 
were locked until maturity).  

Due to that the changes in the market interest rate don’t have 
material effect on the Group’s borrowings, however they may 
affect the fair value of the borrowings.Overnight deposits and term 
deposits have been entered into with fixed interest rates and they 
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do not result in an interest rate risk for cash flows to the Group. 
Any reasonably possible change in the fair value of financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss would not have had significant 
impact on the Group’s net profit.

3.1.2  Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that the Group will incur a monetary loss 
caused by the other party to a financial instrument because of 
that party’s inability to meet its obligations. Cash in bank deposits, 
derivatives with a positive value and trade and other receivables 
are exposed to credit risk. 

According to the principles of depositing of available monetary 
funds of the Group, the following principles are followed preser-
ving capital ensuring liquidity at the right moment for the needs of 
business; optimal return considering the previous two goals.
Short-term monetary funds can be deposited in the following 
domestic and foreign financial instruments:

 – money market funds and interest rate funds in which holdings 
or shares can be redeemed or sell on a regular basis;

 – deposits of credit institutions;
 – freely negotiable bonds and other freely negotiable debt 

instruments.

Requirements for the level of credit risk of issuers and partners of 
financial instruments (including hedge transactions) and maximum 

positions of each partner are approved by the Group’s committee of 
the financial risks.

The available monetary funds can be deposited only in finan-
cial instruments nominated in euros. In addition there are certain 
requirements for the maturities of the financial instruments and 
diversification.

The unpaid invoices of clients are handled on a daily basis in the 
departments specifically set up for this purpose. The automated 
reminder and warning system sends messages to customers about 
overdue invoices with the warning that if they are not paid, the 
clients will be cut off from the electricity network. After that, a col-
lection petition is filed at the court or a collection agency. Special 
agreements are in the jurisdiction of special credit committees. 

The maximum amount exposed to credit risk was as follows as at 
the end of the reporting period:

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Trade and other receivables (Notes 12 and 13)* 163.3 123.9

Bank accounts and deposits recognised as cash  
equivalents in banks  (Notes 12, 15  and 17)

61.5 298.7

Derivatives with positive value (Notes 3.3, 12, 14 and 15) 50.6 3.5

Total amount exposed to credit risk 275.4 426.1

* Total trade and other receivables less prepayments
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Trade receivables are shown net of impairment losses. Although 
the collection of receivables can be impacted by economic fac-
tors, management believes that there is no significant risk of loss 
beyond the provisions already recorded. The types of other  
receivables do not contain any impaired assets. 

More detailed information on credit risk is disclosed in Notes 13  
and 15. 

3.1.3  Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its finan-
cial obligations due to insufficient cash inflows. Liquidity risk is 
managed through the use of various financial instruments such as 
loans, bonds and commercial papers. 

The Group’s liquidity risk has two dimensions. Short-term liquid-
ity risk is the risk that the Group’s bank accounts do not include 
sufficient cash to meet the Group’s financial commitments. Long-
term liquidity risk is the risk that the Group does not have sufficient 
amount of unrestricted cash or other sources of liquidity to meet 
its future liquidity needs in order to carry out its business plan 
and meet its commitments, or that for the above reason the Group 
needs to raise additional cash in a hurry and on terms, which are 
less than optimal. Short-term liquidity risk is mitigated so that the 

Group keeps certain amount of cash buffer in its bank accounts in 
order to have sufficient amount of cash available also in case there 
are deviations from the cash flow forecast. Long-term liquidity 
risk is mitigated by regular forecasts of liquidity needs for the next 
12 months (including cash requirement for investments, loan repay-
ments and dividends, and positive cash flow from operations) and 
by keeping sufficient liquidity buffer in the form of unrestricted 
cash, undrawn investment loans, and limits of liquidity loans. The 
Group’s liquidity risk is managed at the Group level by the parent 
company’s Financial Department.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had spare monetary balances 
of EUR 61.5 million (31 December 2017: EUR 298.7 million). Addi-
tionally, as at the end of the financial year, the Group had undrawn 
loan facilities of EUR 481.5 million (31 December 2017: EUR 
150.0 million) (Note 21). 

The following liquidity analysis includes the division between the 
Group’s current and non-current liabilities (including derivatives 
with net payments) by the maturity date of liabilities. All amounts 
shown in the table are contractual undiscounted cash flows. The 
payables due within 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period, except for borrowings, are shown at their carrying amount.
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The information about the dividends that will be declared and become 
payable after the end of the reporting period is disclosed in Note 19.

Division of liabilities by maturity date as at 31 December 2018 (in million EUR):

in million EUR  Less than 1 year Between 1 and 5 years Later than 5 years Total undiscounted
cash flow

Carrying amount

Borrowings (Notes 3.2, 12 and 21)* 159.2 989.5 90.5 1,239.2 1,109.5

Derivatives (Notes 3.3, 12 and 14) 20.5 2.8 - 23.3 23.3

Trade and other payables (Notes 12 and 22) 119.3 1.6 - 120.9 120.9

Tax liabilities and payables to employees (Note 22) 65.3 - - 65.3 65.3

Total 364.3 993.9 90.5 1,448.7 1,319.0

* Interest expenses have been estimated on the basis of the interest rates prevailing as at 31 December 2018.

Division of liabilities by maturity date as at 31 December 2017 (in million EUR):

in million EUR  Less than 1 year Between 1 and 5 years Later than 5 years Total undiscounted
cash flow

Carrying amount

Borrowings (Notes 3.2, 12 and 21)* 195.6 272.3 568.4 1,036.3 881.1

Derivatives (Notes 3.3, 12 and 14) 18.2 - - 18.2 18.2

Trade and other payables (Notes 12 and 22) 114.0 1.5 - 115.5 115.5

Tax liabilities and payables to employees (Note 22) 62.5 - - 62.5 62.5

Total 390.3 273.8 568.4 1,232.5 1,077.3

* Interest expenses have been estimated on the basis of the interest rates prevailing as at 31 December 2017.



145

I  Eesti Energia Annual Report 2018  I  Eesti Energia Annual Report Consolidated Financial statements  I

3.2  Management of equity 
All shares of Eesti Energia AS belong to the state. Decisions con-
cerning dividend distribution and increases or decreases of share 
capital are made by the Republic of Estonia through the Ministry of 
Finance. Each financial year, the dividends payable by Eesti Energia 
AS to the state budget are defined by order of the Government of 
the Republic of Estonia (Notes 18 and 19).

The Group follows a strategy according to which net debt in long 
term should not exceed EBITDA more than 3.5 times (in 2017: 
3.5 times) and equity should be at least 50% of the total assets. 
As at the 31 December 2018 the net debt to EBITDA ratio was 
above the ceiling of 3.5 set out in the financing policy. Eesti Ener-
gia’s strategy outlines measures for meeting the target set out in 
the financing policy.  As at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 
2017, the net debt to EBITDA ratio and the equity to assets ratio 
were as follows (in million EUR):

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Debt (Notes 3.1, 12 and 21) 1,109.5 881.1

Less: cash and cash equivalents (Notes 3.1, 12 and 17) (61.5) (298.7)

Net debt 1,048.0 582.4

Total equity 1,859.6 1,763.9

EBITDA* 283.2 264.2

Assets 3,559.1 3,142.5

Net debt/EBITDA 3.7 2.2

Equity/assets 52% 56%

Total capital (net debt + equity) 2,907.6 2,346.3

Net debt to capital ratio 36% 25%

* EBITDA profit before interest,tax, profit (loss) from associates using equity method,  
depreciation and amortization

3.3  Fair value
The Group estimates that the fair values of assets and liabilities 
reported at amortised cost in the statement of financial position as 
at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 do not materially differ 
from the carrying amounts reported in the consolidated financial 
statements, with the exception of bonds (the fair value is calculated 
with the inputs that are classified to Level 1 in the fair value hierar-
chy, Note 21). The carrying amount of current accounts receivable 
and payable and loan receivables less impairments is estimated to 
be approximately equal to their fair value. For disclosure purposes, 
the fair value of financial liabilities is determined by discounting the 
contractual cash flows at the market interest rate which is available 
for similar financial instruments of the Group.

The tables below analyses financial instruments carried at fair 
value, by valuation method. The different levels have been defined 
as follows:

 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities (Level 1);

 – inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly 
(Level 2);

 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable 
market data (Level 3).

4. Olulised raamatupidamishinnangud, järg
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(a) Financial instruments in level 1
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets 
is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. A 
market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and  
regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry 
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices  
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on 
an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for financial 
assets held by the group is the current bid price.

In level 1 are classified the Group’s electricity derivatives that are 
cleared in Nasdaq OMX.

(b) Financial instruments in level 2 
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an 
active market is determined using valuation techniques. These  
valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data 
where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific 
estimates. An instrument is included in level 2 if all the signifi-
cant inputs required to establish the fair value of the instrument 
are observable. If one or more significant inputs are not based on 
observable market data, an instrument is included in level 3.  The 
value of trading derivatives and cash flow hedges are found using 
notations of Nasdaq OMX, ICE, Platt’s European Marcetscani and 
Nymex. 

 – The fair value of forward, swap and future contracts is deter-
mined using forward prices at the balance sheet date, with the 
resulting value discounted back to present value.

The following tables present the Group’s assets and liabilities that 
are measured at fair value by the level in the fair value hierarchy as 
at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017:

in million EUR 31 DECEMBER 2018

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets     

Trading derivatives (Notes 12, 14 and 15) 0.6 42.3 - 42.9

Cash flow hedges (Notes 12, 14 and 15) 0.6 7.1 - 7.7

Total financial assets (Notes 3.1, 12, 14 and 15) 1.2 49.4 - 50.6

Liabilities     

Trading derivatives (Notes 12, 14 and 15) - 18.3 - 18.3

Cash flow hedges (Notes 12, 14 and 15) - 1.2 - 1.2

Interest rate swap (Notes 12,14 and 15) - 3.8 - 3.8

Total financial liabilities (Notes 3.1, 12 and 14) - 23.3 - 23.3 

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER 2017

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets     

Trading derivatives (Notes 12, 14 and 15) 0.6 2.1 - 2.7

Cash flow hedges (Notes 12, 14 and 15) 0.8 - - 0.8

Total financial assets (Notes 3.1, 12, 14 and 15) 1.4 2.1 - 3.5

Liabilities     

Trading derivatives (Notes 12, 14 and 15) - 1.3 - 1.3

Cash flow hedges (Notes 12, 14 and 15) - 16.9 - 16.9

Total financial liabilities (Notes 3.1, 12 and 14) - 18.2 - 18.2
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3.4  Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

(a) Financial assets
The following financial assets are subject to offsetting:

(c) Financial instruments in level 3
All instruments in Level 3 are options. At the end of reporting 
period the Group had no options in use.

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER 2018  

Gross amounts of 
recognised financial 

assets

Gross amounts of recognised financial 
liabilities set off in the balance sheet 

Net amounts of financial assets  
presented in the balance sheet  

(Notes 3.1, 3.3, 12, 14 and 15)

Related amounts not set 
off in the balance sheet

Net amount

Derivative financial instruments 57.3 (6.7) 50.6 (5.7) 44.9

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER 2018  

Gross amounts of 
recognised financial 

liabilities

Gross amounts of recognised financial 
assets set off in the balance sheet

Net amounts of financial liabilities 
presented in the balance sheet 

(Notes 3.1, 3.3, 12, 14 and 15)

Related amounts not set 
off in the  balance sheet

Net amount

Derivative financial instruments 30.0 (6.7 ) 23.3 (5.7)  17.6 

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER 2017   

Gross amounts of 
recognised financial 

liabilities

Gross amounts of recognised financial 
assets set off in the balance sheet

Net amounts of financial liabilities 
presented in the balance sheet 

(Notes 3.1, 3.3, 12, 14 and 15)

Related amounts not set 
off in the  balance sheet

Net amount

Derivative financial instruments 19.7 (1.5) 18.2 (1.0) 17.2

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER 2017  

Gross amounts of 
recognised financial 

assets

Gross amounts of recognised financial 
liabilities set off in the balance sheet 

Net amounts of financial assets  
presented in the balance sheet  

(Notes 3.1, 3.3, 12, 14 and 15)

Related amounts not set 
off in the balance sheet

Net amount

Derivative financial instruments 5.0 (1.5) 3.5 (1.0) 2.5

(b) Financial liabilities
The following financial liabilities are subject to offsetting:

Agreements between the Group and the counterparties allows for offsetting in concrete single transaction when mutual claims are in the 
same currency. In some agreements offsetting between two or more transactions is allowed.
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intangible assets. When carrying out impairment tests, manage-
ment uses various estimates for the cash flows arising from the 
use of the assets, sales, maintenance, and repairs of assets, as well 
as estimates for inflation and growth rates and likelihood of getting 
grants. The estimates are based on forecasts of the general eco-
nomic environment, consumption and the sales price of electricity, 
for estimating the fair value also the expert evaluations are used. 
If the situation changes in the future, either additional impairment 
could be recognised, or previously recognised impairment could 
be partially or wholly reversed. The recoverable amounts of fixed 
assets used for network services are impacted by the Competition 
Board which determines the reasonable rate of return to be earned 
on these assets. If the income, expenses and investments related 
to the sale of  network services remain within the expected limits, 
the revenue derived from the sale of goods and services guaran-
tees a reasonable rate of return for these assets. Information about 
impairment losses incurred in the comparative period is disclosed 
in Notes 6 and 8.

(c) Recognition and revaluation of provisions
As at 31 December 2018, the Group had set up provisions for 
environmental protection, termination of mining operations, dis-
mantling of assets, employees and contracts related totalling 
EUR 38.7 million (31 December 2017: EUR 39.0 million) (Note 24). 
The amount and/or timing of the settlement of these obligations is 
uncertain. A number of assumptions and estimates have been used 
to determine the present value of provisions, including the amount 
of future expenditure, inflation rates, and the timing of settlement 
of the expenditure. The actual expenditure may also differ from the 
provisions recognised as a result of possible changes in legislative 
norms, technology available in the future to restore environmental 
damages, and expenditure covered by third parties. 

4.  Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

Accounting estimates and assumptions
The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of 
estimates and assumptions that impact the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of off-balance sheet assets 
and contingent liabilities in the notes to the financial statements. 
Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowl-
edge of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately 
differ from these estimates. Changes in management’s estimates 
are recognised in the income statement of the period of the change.

The estimates presented below have the most significant impact on 
the financial information disclosed in the financial statements.

(a) Determination of the useful lives of items of property, plant and 
equipment

The estimated useful lives of items of property, plant and equip-
ment are based on management’s estimate of the period during 
which the asset will be used. Previous experience has shown that 
the actual useful lives have sometimes been longer than the esti-
mates. As at 31 December 2018, the net book amount of property, 
plant and equipment of the Group totalled EUR 2,955.4 million 
(31 December 2017: EUR 2,474.5 million), and the depreciation 
charge of the reporting period was EUR 151.9 million (2017: EUR 
132.4 million) (Note 6). If depreciation rates were changed by 10%, 
the annual depreciation charge would change by EUR 15.2 million 
(2017: EUR 13.2 million).

(b) Evaluation of the recoverable amount of property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets

As needed, the Group performs impairment tests to determine the 
recoverable amount of items of property, plant and equipment and 
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4. Critical accounting estimates and assumptions, continued

construction of the Auvere power plant and deliver it to Eesti Ener-
gia in November 2015. The delivery of the power plant had been 
delayed because the plant’s emissions did not fully meet regula-
tory limits. On 31 July 2018, the Auvere power plant was accepted 
from the builder (Notes 5 ja 26).

5.  Segment reporting 

For the purposes of monitoring the Group’s performance and 
making management decisions, the management board uses prod-
uct-based reporting. The Group has determined main products and 
services, i.e. value-creating units that generate external revenues 
and profit, and has built up a methodology of allocation of revenues 
and expenses, and assets to the products.

The Group has distinguished three main products and services, 
which are presented as separately reportable segments, and a 
number of minor products and services that are presented together 
as “Other segments”:

1. electricity (production and sale of electricity generated from 
renewable and non-renewable sources, and electricity trading);

2. distribution (sale of electricity distribution network services on 
regulated market and sale of additional services by Elektrilevi);

3. shale oil (production and sale of liquid fuels);
4. other products and services (including production and sale of 

heat, construction of power engineering equipment and ser-
vices, sale of old metal, sale of mining products, sale of gas, 
other products and services).

(d) Contingent assets and liabilities
When estimating contingent assets and liabilities, the management 
considers historical experience, general information about the eco-
nomic and social environment and the assumptions and conditions 
of possible events in the future based on the best knowledge of the 
situation. Further information is disclosed in Note 33.

(e) Effectiveness testing of hedging instruments
The Group has conducted a significant number of future transac-
tions to hedge the risk of the changes in the prices of electricity and 
shale oil with regard to which hedge accounting is applied, meaning 
that the gains and losses from changes in the fair value of effective 
hedging instruments are accounted through other comprehensive 
income. The evaluation of the effectiveness of hedging is based on 
management’s estimates for future sales transactions concerning 
electricity and liquid fuels. When hedging instruments turn out to 
be ineffective, the total gain/loss from the changes in the fair value 
should be recognised in the income statement. As at 31 December 
2018, the amount of the hedge reserve was EUR -8.8 million 
(31 December 2017: EUR -12.2 million) (Note 20).

(f) Recognition of liquidated damages
In 2018, the Group recognised liquidated damages of EUR 
6.1 million (2017: EUR 30.9 million) as other operating income. In 
2016, General Electric (GE) (including Alstom Estonia AS, GE Power 
Sp.z o.o and Alstom Power Systems) and Enefit Energiatootmine 
AS (a fully owned subsidiary of Eesti Energia Group) signed an 
agreement according to which GE undertook to pay Enefit Energia- 
tootmine AS liquidated damages for the delay in the delivery of the 
Auvere power plant until the final delivery of the plant. Under  
previous agreements, GE had the obligation to complete the  
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5. Segment reporting, continued

The sales prices of network charges need to be approved by the 
Estonian Competition Authority as stipulated by the Electricity 
Market Act of Estonia. The Estonian Competition Authority has an 
established methodology for approving the prices that considers 
the costs necessary to fulfil the legal obligations and ensures 
justified profitability on invested capital. Generally, the Estonian 
Competition Authority considers the annual average carrying 
amount of non-current assets plus 5% of external sales revenue as 
invested capital. The rate for justified profitability is the Company’s 
weighted average cost of capital (WACC). The sales prices for all 
other segments are not regulated by the law.

Also according to the District Heating Act the heating undertakings 
which sell heat to customers or to network operators who sell heat 
to customers or produce heat in the process of combined genera-
tion of heat and power must obtain the approval of the Competition 
Authority regarding the maximum price of the heat to be sold.

Other segments include co-products which individual share of 
the Group’s revenue and EBITDA is immaterial. None of these  
co-products meet the quantitative thresholds that would require 
reporting separate disclosure.

Segment revenues include revenues from external customers only, 
generated by the sale of respective products or services. 

All operating expenses of the Group are allocated to the products 
and services to which they relate. If a product (e.g. electricity) is 
created by several Group entities in a vertically integrated chain, 
then the related expenses include the production cost of each 
entity involved in preparation of the product (e.g. the cost of electri- 
city includes the cost of oil shale used for its production). Group 
overheads are allocated to products and services proportionally  
to the services provided.

The management board assesses the performance of the seg-
ments primarily based on EBITDA and it also monitors operating 
profit. Finance income and expenses, and income tax are not 
allocated to the segments.

The Group’s assets are allocated to the segments based on their 
purpose of use. Liabilities are not allocated to the segments as they 
are managed centrally by the Group’s finance department.

As the segments are based on externally sellable products and 
services (as opposed to legal entities), there are no transactions 
between segments to be eliminated.
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Revenue
The revenue from external customers reported to the management 
board of the parent company is measured in a manner consistent 
with that in the consolidated income statement.

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Revenue from external customers

Electrical Energy 437.1 350.8

Network Services 240.6 247.4

Liquid Fuels 113.1 86.1

Other 84.4 69.6

Total 875.3 753.9

EBITDA

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

EBITDA

Electrical Energy 131.2 98.0

Network Services 99.6 107.0

Liquid Fuels 43.6 23.9

Other 8.7 35.3

Total 283.2 264.2

Depreciation and amortisation (Notes 6 and 8) (154.5) (135.8)

Net financial income (-expense) (24.7) (18.9)

Using equity method (Note 9) 6.6 2.7

Profit before tax 110.6 112.2

In 2017 the segment Other includes a gain of EUR 9.2 million 
earned on the sale of an interest in an oil shale power plant project 
in Jordan (55% interest in APCO) and the revaluation of loans pro-
vided to associates of EUR 0.2 million (Notes 13, 26, 32 and 35). In 
2018 there were no extraordinary revenue or loan revaluations.

Liquidated damages related to the Auvere power plant in a sum 
EUR 6.1 million (in 2017 EUR 30.9 million) is recognised under seg-
ment “Other” because it is an extraordinary revenue and is not 
associated with ordinary business of other segments (Note 4 and 26).

5. Segment reporting, continued
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Other profit and loss disclosures

5. Segment reporting, continued

Interest income and expenses, corporate income tax expense and 
profit (loss) from associates using equity method are not divided 
between segments and the information is not provided to the  
management board of the parent company.

Additional information about the impairment, depreciation and 
amortisation is disclosed in Notes 6 and 8 and recognition and 
change of provisions in Note 24.

in million EUR  1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER 2018 1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER 2017

 Depreciation and 
amortisation

Recognition (-) and reversal (+)  
of provisions

Depreciation and amortisation Recognition (-) and reversal (+)  
of provisions

Electrical Energy (71.6) 75.3 (55.3) 60.9

Network Services (45.9) - (45.2) 0.1

Liquid Fuels (18.4) 6.6 (20.8) 5.7

Other (18.6) 1.5 (14.5) 1.7

Total (Notes 6, 8 and 24) (154.5) 83.4 (135.8) 68.2
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Assets
The amounts reported to the management board of the parent 
company with respect to total assets are measured in a manner 
consistent with that of the consolidated financial statements.

The Group operates mostly in Estonia, but electricity, liquid fuels 
and some other goods and services are also sold in other countries. 

In “Other” segments there are no segments which results 
amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s results.

5. Segment reporting, continued

in million EUR  1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER 2018 1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER 2017

 Total assets Investments  
in associates (Note 9)

Capital expenditure 
(Notes 6 and 8)

Total assets Investments  
in associates (Note 9)

Capital expenditure 
(Notes 6 and 8)

Electrical Energy 1,884.0 5.4 109.5 1,300.2 3.7 39.0

Network Services 1,015.4 - 86.5 1,069.4 - 89.3

Liquid Fuels 304.1 0.5 11.7 280.6 0.7 8.8

Other 355.5 38.4 7.4 492.3 31.2 6.9

Total 3,559.1 44.2 215.1 3,142.5 35.6 144.0
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Entity-wide information 

External  revenue by location of clients

in million EUR  1 JANUARY - 
31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Estonia 715.8 657.5

Latvia 64.0 46.8

Lithuania 44.8 29.5

Poland 18.7 -

Singapore 18.5 0.5

Switzerland 11.1 4.1

Nordic countries 2.0 15.2

Other countries 0.4 0.3

Total external revenue (Note 26) 875.3 753.9

Allocation of non-current assets by location*

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Estonia 2,693.3 2,477.3

Lithuania 253.7 -

Latvia 41.3 8.1

USA 25.8 24.6

Other countries 2.6 3.2

Total (Notes 6 and 8) 3,016.7 2,513.2

* other than financial instruments and investments in associates

The Group did not have in the reporting period nor in the comparable  
period any clients whose revenues from transactions amounted to 
10% or more of the Group’s revenues.

5. Segment reporting, continued
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6.  Property, plant and equipment

in million EUR  Land Buildings Facilities Machinery and 
equipment

Other Construction in 
progress and 
prepayments

Total

Property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2016        

Cost 43.0 249.3 989.7 2,061.7 6.2 604.2 3,954.1

Accumulated depreciation - (102.4) (408.5) (969.3) (4.6) - (1,484.8)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2016 (Note 4) 43.0 146.9 581.2 1,092.4 1.6 604.2 2,469.3

Changes occurred in 2017        

Purchases (Note 5) 0.2 0.1 0.1 5.4 0.1 133.4 139.3

Depreciation charge and write-downs (Notes 4, 5 and 32) - (5.5) (27.1) (99.1) (0.5) (0.2) (132.4)

Disposals - (0.4) (0.3) (0.6) - - (1.3)

Exchange differences (0.4) - - - - - (0.4)

Transfers 0.1 2.1 55.3 74.6 0.1 (132.2) -

Total changes occurred in 2017 (0.1) (3.7) 28.0 (19.7) (0.3) 1.0 5.2

Property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2017        

Cost 42.9 248.4 1,041.5 2,116.9 6.2 605.2 4,061.1

Accumulated depreciation - (105.2) (432.3) (1,044.2) (4.9) - (1,586.6)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2017 (Note 4) 42.9 143.2 609.2 1,072.7 1.3 605.2 2,474.5

Changes occurred in 2018        

Purchases (Note 5) 0.1 0.1 0.1 22.0 0.2 168.0 190.5

Depreciation charge and write-downs (Notes 4, 5 and 32) - (6.4) (29.6) (115.2) (0.4) (0.3) (151.9)

Disposals (0.2) (0.1) (0.1) (0.5) - - (0.9)

Acquisition of subsidiary (Note 36) - - - 435.9 - 7.3 443.2

Exchange differences 0.1 - - - - - 0.1

Transfers - 79.1 115.4 503.0 0.1 (697.7) (0.1)

Total changes occurred in 2018 - 72.7 85.8 845.2 (0.1) (522.7) 480.9

Property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2018        

Cost 42.9 327.4 1,153.8 3,057.0 6.3 82.5 4,669.9

Accumulated depreciation - (111.5) (458.8) (1,139.1) (5.1) - (1,714.5)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2018 (Note 4) 42.9 215.9 695.0 1,917.9 1.2 82.5 2,955.4
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6. Property, plant and equipment, continued

As at 31 December 2018, the total carrying amount of the assets 
acquired with finance lease was EUR 31.3 million (in 2017 the Group 
had no finance lease liabilities).

In 2018, the Group tested the Auvere power plant and the Eesti and 
Balti power plants for impairment. The Auvere power plant is con-
sidered as a separate production unit and the Eesti and Balti power 
plants are considered as one production unit. They are treated as 
separate cash generating units because the Auvere power plant is 
considerably more efficient than other generating units and has a 
different cost base. In the Group’s sales strategy, the Auvere power 
plant cannot be replaced with other production units. Therefore, 
any decisions regarding the Auvere power plant’s maintenance and 
investment plans are made primarily based on market forecasts 
and separately from those of the other production units.

As at 31 December 2018, the total carrying amount of the assets 
of the Auvere power plant was EUR 551.8 million (31 December 
2017: EUR 528.8 million). The results of the impairment test did not 
reflect the need for recognising an impairment loss or reversing 
previously recognised impairment losses because the assets’ value 
in use was comparable to their carrying amount. The recoverable 
amount of the assets was estimated based on their value in use. 
The expected future cash flows were discounted using a discount 
rate of 9.0% (comparative figure for 2017: 9.0%). A 1% rise in the 
discount rate would have an impact of EUR 59 million (2017: EUR 
86 million) on the recoverable amount of the assets.

The recoverable amount of the assets of the Auvere power plant is 
sensitive to changes in the prices of electricity, fuel (oil shale) and 
CO2 emission allowances as well as the implementation, timing, 
price and volume of flexible cooperation mechanisms.

In conducting the impairment test, the near-term market price of 
electricity was forecast by relying on both a third party consul- 
tant’s estimates and the projections made based on relevant for-
ward prices. It was assumed that from 2020 the price levels in the 
Estonian and the neighbouring electricity markets would gradually 
equalise. If this assumption did not apply, the impact on the recove-
rable amount of the assets would be up to EUR 463 million (2017:  
up to EUR 248 million). Thanks to the Group’s sales strategy  
according to which it strives to sell more electricity during peak 
hours, in 2018, the average quarterly sales price achieved by the 
Group on the Nord Pool Spot power exchange was 6-10% (2017: 
3-5%) higher than the Nord Pool Spot market price in the Estonian 
price area. The Group plans to pursue the same strategy in subse-
quent years. In addition, the test took into account the impacts of 
the following years’ hedging transactions. 

The share of renewable energy revenues was forecast assuming 
that from 2018 it would be possible to export renewable energy 
to other European countries with a view to earning additional 
revenue (Europe-wide auctions of renewable energy units for 
countries whose legislation supports this in accordance with Direc-
tive 2009/28/EC, henceforth “flexible cooperation mechanisms”). 
Accordingly, up to 50% (up to 1 TWh) of electricity generated at 
the Auvere power plant could be produced from biomass and the 
Group could earn additional revenue through flexible cooperation 
mechanisms. It was assumed that the rate of additional revenue 
from electricity generated from biomass would fall within the range 
of 5 €/MWh (2017: 11-16 €/MWh). If this assumption did not apply, 
the impact on the recoverable amount of the assets would be up to 
EUR 11 million (2017: up to EUR 40 million). 
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The market price of CO2 emission allowances was forecast for the 
near term based on relevant forward prices and thereafter assum-
ing that from 2025 the price would increase at the rate of 2.0% per 
year (based on the Ministry of Finance forecast of the consumer 
price index dated 18 May 2018) (2017: 2.0% per year based on the 
growth rate). As regards the oil shale price, it was assumed that in 
the future the fuel price could be kept stable by improving the effi-
ciency of the production process. If the assumption about the oil 
shale price did not apply, the impact on the recoverable amount 
of the assets would amount to EUR 21 million (2017: up to EUR 
27 million). 

As at 31 December 2018, the total carrying amount of the assets 
of the Eesti and Balti power plants was EUR 194.0 million 
(31 December 2017: EUR 210.3 million). The results of the impair-
ment test on the assets of the Eesti and Balti power plants did 
not reflect the need for recognising an impairment loss (2017: the 
impairment test did not reflect the need for recognising an impair-
ment loss). The recoverable amount of the assets was estimated 
based on their value in use. The expected future cash flows were 
discounted using a discount rate of 9.0% (comparative figure for 
2017: 9.0%). A 1% rise in the discount rate would have an impact of 
EUR 42 million (2017: EUR 56 million) on the recoverable amount 
of the assets. At a 1% higher discount rate the carrying amount 
of the assets of the Eesti and Balti power plants would exceed 
their recoverable amount up to EUR 5 million (in 2017 the carrying 
amount of the assets would not exceed their recoverable amount).

The recoverable amount of the assets of the Eesti and Balti power 
plants is sensitive to changes in the market prices of electricity 
and CO2 emission allowances, changes in fuel prices and the rate 
of the implementation of flexible cooperation mechanisms. The 
market assumptions used in the impairment test on the Eesti and 

Balti power plants are the same as those used in the impairment 
test on the Auvere power plant. The factor which has the strong-
est impact on the recoverable amount of the assets of the Eesti and 
Balti power plants is the electricity price. If the assumption that the 
price levels in the Estonian and neighbouring electricity markets 
will equalise did not apply, the impact on the recoverable amount 
of the assets would be EUR 250 million (in 2017 EUR 265 million). 
If this assumption did not apply, the carrying amount of the assets 
would exceed their recoverable amount by up to EUR 194 million (in 
2017 the carrying amount of the assets would exceed their recov-
erable amount by up to EUR 108 million) .

In 2017, the assets of the Enefit280 oil plant whose carrying 
amount at 31 December 2017 was EUR 235.1 million were tested 
for impairment by estimatingtheir recoverable amount. The results 
of the impairment test did not reflect the need for recognising an 
impairment loss. The recoverable amount of the assets was esti-
mated based on their fair value less cost of disposal. Fair value was 
measured based on the expected future cash flows of the assets 
which took into account the cash flows of the plant for extract-
ing gasoline from oil shale gas. Value was measured made using 
Level 3 inputs in the fair value hierarchy. The expected future cash 
flows were discounted using a discount rate of 9.0%. A 1% rise in 
the discount rate would have an impact of EUR 27 million on the 
recoverable amount of the assets. At a 1% higher discount rate the 
carrying amount of the assets would not exceed their recoverable 
amount.

The recoverable amount of the assets of the oil plant is sensitive 
to changes in the price of oil shale and the world market price of 
heavy fuel oil with 1% sulphur content.

The market prices of the output of the oil factory were forecast 
based on the forward prices of the reference product, heavy fuel oil 

6. Property, plant and equipment, continued
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with 1% sulphur content, and the closed positions of hedging instru-
ments and assuming that from 2021 the prices would increase at 
the rate of 2.0% per year (based on the Ministry of Finance fore-
cast of the consumer price index dated 2 October 2017). In other 
respects, the impairment test was conducted by applying the same 
market price forecasts as in the impairment test on the Auvere 
power plant which have been described above. On forecasting the 
output of the oil factory, it was assumed that the plant for extract-
ing gasoline from oil shale gas will start working in 2019 and this 
will increase the output of liquid fuels by 10%. If this assumption 
did not apply, the impact on the recoverable amount of the assets 
would be up to EUR 42 million. If this assumption did not apply, the 
carrying amount of the assets would not exceed their recoverable 
amount. 

On estimating the recoverable amount of the oil factory, it 
was assumed that from 2018 Eesti Energia can apply for free 
CO2 emission allowances and additional allowances will not have 
to be purchased from the market. If this assumption did not apply, 
the impact on the recoverable amount of the assets would be up 
to EUR 42 million. If this assumption did not apply, the carrying 
amount of the assets would not exceed their recoverable amount.

As regards the oil shale price, it was assumed that in the future the 
fuel price could be kept stable by improving the efficiency of the 
production process. If the oil shale price increases in the long term 
at the growth rate of the consumer price index, the impact on the 
recoverable amount of the assets will be up to EUR 27 million. If 
this assumption did not apply, the carrying amount of the assets 
would not exceed their recoverable amount.

In 2018 the assets of the Enefit280 oil plantwere not tested for 
impairment because there were no indications of impairment of the 
assets of the oil plant.

In 2018, the assets of Eesti Energia’s wind farms (Aulepa, Paldiski, 
Narva) were tested for impairment by estimating their recoverable 
amounts. The results of the impairment test did not reflect the 
need for recognising an impairment loss (2017: the impairment test 
did not reflect the need for recognising an impairment loss). The 
recove rable amount of the assets was estimated based on their 
value in use. The expected future cash flows were discounted using 
a discount rate of 6.0% (comparative figure for 2017: 6.0-7.0%). 
The impairment test was conducted by applying the above fore-
casts of the market price of electricity. Above all, the assets of wind 
farms are sensitive to changes in the market price of electricity. If 
the assumption that the price levels in the Estonian and the neigh-
bouring electricity markets will equalise by 2020 did not apply, the 
total impairment loss on the Aulepa and Narva wind farms would 
amount to EUR 7 million and EUR 1 million respectively (2017: the 
impairment loss of the Aulepa and Narva wind farms would have 
amounted to EUR 4.1 million and EUR 5.2 million respectively).

In 2018 the assets of Enefit American Oil were tested for impair-
ment. The results of the impairment test did not reflect the need for 
recognising an impairment loss or reversing previously recognised 
impairment losses. The recoverable amount of the assets was esti-
mated based on same methodology as in 2017, i.e. the assets were 
revalued to the value of the land. For this, the average price of ten 
similar plots of land, which were for sale in Utah state in the vicinity 
(20 miles) of Vernal area was found (input Level 3). The valuation 
was based on an analysis of the enterprise value of Enefit Ameri-
can Oil prepared by Hard Rock Consulting LLC in 2015.

In the reporting period, borrowing costs of EUR 13.2 million 
(2017: EUR 22.3 million) were capitalised and included in the  
carrying amount of the assets. In 2018, the capitalisation rate  
of borrowing costs was 3.8% (2017: 3.8%) (Note 30).

6. Property, plant and equipment, continued
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Buildings and facilities leased out under operating lease 
terms

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Cost 6.7 7.0

Accumulated depreciation at the beginning  
of the financial year

(4.5) (3.9)

Depreciation charge (0.1) (0.2)

Net book amount 2.1 2.9

Assets which have been leased out are used partly in operating 
activities and partly for earning rental income. The cost and depre-
ciation of the assets have been calculated based on the proportion 
of the parts that have been leased out. 

Operating lease income is disclosed in Note 7

7.  Operating lease

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Rental and maintenance income   

Buildings 1.2 1.0

of which contingent rent 0.5 0.5

Total rental and maintenance income (Note 25) 1.2 1.0

Rental expense   

Buildings 2.3 2.1

Transport vehicles 0.4 0.6

Other machinery and equipment 2.3 2.3

Total rental expense (Note 29) 5.0 5.0

Future rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases 
by due dates 

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Rental income   

< 1 year 0.5 0.5

  1 - 5 years 2.1 1.9

> 5 years 5.0 5.0

Total rental income 7.6 7.4

A fuel oil terminal has been leased out under a non-cancellable 
lease. 

Operating lease contracts under which the Group is a lessee can 
mostly be cancelled by giving short-term notice. 

6. Property, plant and equipment, continued
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8.  Intangible assets

in million EUR  Goodwill Computer 
software

Right of use 
of land

Exploration and  
evaluation assets

Contractual 
rights

Development 
costs

Total

Intangible assets as at 31 December 2016        

Cost 3.5 37.8 2.6 1.9 22.5 0.8 69.1

Accumulated amortisation - (29.1) (0.8) - (0.1) - (30.0)

Carrying amount at 31.12.2016 3.5 8.7 1.8 1.9 22.4 0.8 39.1

Intangible assets not yet available for use - 1.1 - - - - 1.1

Total intangible assets as at 31 December 2016 3.5 9.8 1.8 1.9 22.4 0.8 40.2

Changes occurred in 2017        

Purchases (Note 5) - 4.2 - 0.2 - 0.3 4.7

Amortisation charge and write-downs (Notes 5 and 32) - (3.2) (0.1) - (0.1) - (3.4)

Exchange differences - - - (0.1) (2.7) - (2.8)

Transfers - - - - 1.0 (1.0) -

Total changes occurred in 2017 - 1.0 (0.1) 0.1 (1.8) (0.7) (1.5)

Intangible assets as at 31 December 2017        

Cost 3.5 39.9 2.6 2.0 20.8 0.1 68.9

Accumulated amortisation - (32.2) (0.9) - (0.2) - (33.3)

Carrying amount at 31.12.2017 3.5 7.7 1.7 2.0 20.6 0.1 35.6

Intangible assets not yet available for use - 3.1 - - - - 3.1

Total intangible assets as at 31 December 2017 3.5 10.8 1.7 2.0 20.6 0.1 38.7

Changes occurred in 2018        

Purchases (Note 5) - 3.8 0.1 - - - 3.9

Amortisation charge and write-downs (Notes 5 and 32) - (2.4) (0.1) - (0.1) - (2.6)

Acquisition of subsidiary (Note 36) 19.9 - - - 0.3 - 20.2

Exchange differences - - - - 1.0 - 1.0

Transfers - 0.1 - - - - 0.1

Total changes occurred in 2018 19.9 1.5 - - 1.2 - 22.6

Intangible assets as at 31 December 2018        

Cost 23.4 41.1 2.6 2.0 22.4 0.1 91.6

Accumulated amortisation - (34.6) (0.9) - (0.6) - (36.1)

Carrying amount at 31.12.2018 23.4 6.5 1.7 2.0 21.8 0.1 55.5

Intangible assets not yet available for use - 5.8 - - - - 5.8

Total intangible assets as at 31 December 2018 23.4 12.3 1.7 2.0 21.8 0.1 61.3
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Goodwill 

Allocation of goodwill to cash generating units

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Goodwill acquired on acquisition of Nelja Energia 19.9 -

Others 3.5 3.5

Total goodwill 23.4 3.5

As at the balance sheet date, the Group tested goowill for impair-
ment by estimanting recoverable amount of the goodwill acquired 
on acquisition of Nelja Energia. The results of the impairment test 
did not reflect the need for recognising an impairment loss. The 
recoverable amount of the assets was estimated based on their 
value in use. The expected future cash flows of goodwill acquired 
on acquisition of Nelja Energia were discounted using a discount 
rate of 6.0%, future cash flows of other goodwill were discounted 
using a discount rate of 7.0%-10.0% (in 2017 7.0%-10.0%).

The expected future cash flows of cash generating units of  
goodwill acquired on acquisition of Nelja Energia are sensitiive  
to forecasts of the market price of electricity (Note 6), production  
outputs and  discount rate.

Mineral resource exploration and evaluation assets 
Mineral resource exploration and evaluation assetscomprise the 
costs incurred in the exploration for and evaluation of oil shale 
resources acquired in the state of Utah, USA.

Contractual rights
Contractual right comprise the value of mining rights acquired in 
the state of Utah, the estimated useful life of which is 20 years.

8. Intangible assets, continued
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9.  Investments in associates

Nature of investments in associates 2018 and 2017:

Name of the company Place of business Ownership as  
at 31 December 2018

Ownership as  
at 31 December 2017

Nature of the 
relationship

Measurement method

Orica Eesti OÜ*
Estonia, the 

Netherlands
35.0% 35.0%  Note 1  Equity 

Oisu Biogaas OÜ** Estonia 28.0% -  Note 2  Equity 

Vinni Biogaas OÜ** Estonia 32.5% -  Note 2  Equity 

Empower 4Wind OÜ** Estonia 40.0% -  Note 3  Equity 

Team Paldiski OÜ** Estonia 20.0% -  Note 4  Equity 

Wind Controller JV Oy** Finland 10.0% -  Note 5  Equity 

Enefit Jordan B.V. Group Jordan, Estonia 65.0% 65.0%  Note 6  Equity 

Attarat Mining Co BV the Netherlands 10.0% 10.0%  Note 7  Equity 

Attarat Power Holding Co BV Group the Netherlands 10.0% 10.0%  Note 7  Equity 

Attarat Operation & Maintenance Co BV the Netherlands 10.0% 10.0%  Note 7  Equity 

* The financial year of Orica Eesti OÜ is from 1 October to 30 September.
**Associates acquired on 6 November 2018 at the acquisition of Nelja Energia AS.
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Note 1: Orica Eesti OÜ manufactures and sales explosives 
and is a strategic partner for Eesti Energia Kaevan-
dused AS.

Note 2: Oisu Biogaas OÜ ja Vinni Biogaas OÜ are two lar-
gest biogas plants in Estonia, producing electricity 
and heat. 

Note 3: Empower 4Wind OÜ is a maintenance company for 
wind farms. The company maintains wind farms in 
Estonia and also offers them construction, installa-
tion, troubleshooting and other related services.

Note 4: Team Paldiski OÜ is engaged with the development 
of the renewable energy technology.

Note 5: Wind Controller JV Oy is engaged with the mainte-
nance of wind farms in Finland.

Note 6: Enefit Jordan B.V. Group is engaged with the oil 
shale development project in Jordan. Enefit Jordan 
B.V. Group is recognised as associate as according 
to the  Shareholders' Agreement, the Group does 
not have the right to make any relevant decisions 
regarding Enefit Jordan B.V. Group without the con-
sent of one or, in cases, both of other shareholders 
who hold the remainder of the 35% shares. Based 
on voting quorom requirements for different deci-
sions joint control is not established.

Note 7: On 16 March 2017, Attarat Power Company (APCO) 
reached financial close for its oil shale fired power 
plant in Jordan. In connection that, Eesti Energia 
reduced its previous 65% interest in APCO to 10%. 
Eesti Energia retained significant influence after 
the disposal of the 55% controlling interest (Notes 
26 and 35). 

Reconciliation of summarised financial information of associates

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Summarised net assets of associates at the beginning 
of the period

24.8 (19.6)

Profit/loss for the period 13.9 11.4

Other comprehensive income (0.1) (2.1)

Contribution to the share capital 26.5 39.4

Goodwill - (4.3)

Dividends declared (16.4) -

Summarised net assets of associates at the end  
of the period

48.7 24.8

Interest in associates 18.3 19.9

Notional goodwill 12.3 12.3

Group's share in negative net assets not recognised  
by the Group using the equity method

10.1 3.4

Acquisition of subsidiary 3.5 -

Carrying amount at the end of the period (Note 5) 44.2 35.6

Group’s share of associates profit/loss for the period 
(Notes 5 and 32)

6.6 2.7

9. Investments in associates, continued
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10.  Principal subsidiaries

Name Country of 
incorporation

Nature of business Proportion of  
ordinary shares held 

by the Group (%) 

 Proportion of ordinary 
shares held by non- 

controlling interests (%)

 

   31 DECEMBER 31 DECEMBER

   2018 2017 2018 2017

Elektrilevi OÜ Estonia Network operator 100.0 100.0 - -

Enefit Kaevandused AS Estonia Oil shale mining 100.0 100.0 - -

Enefit Energiatootmine AS Estonia Production of electrical energy 100.0 100.0 - -

AS Narva Soojusvõrk Estonia Distribution and sale of heat 100.0 100.0 - -

Enefit Solutions AS Estonia
Manufacture and supply of metal structures, 
energy industry machinery and other  
industrial equipment

100.0 100.0 - -

Enefit Green AS Estonia Establishment and operation of wind parks 100.0 100.0 - -

Attarat Holding OÜ Estonia Holding 100.0 100.0 - -

Enefit Outotec Technology OÜ
Estonia and 
Germany

Developing and licensing the new generation 
of Enefit shale oil production technology

60.0 60.0 40.0 40.0

Enefit SIA Latvia Selling electricity to end consumers 100.0 100.0 - -

Enefit Power & Heat Valka SIA Latvia
Production and sale of heat and electrical 
energy

100.0 100.0 - -

Enefit UAB Lithuania Selling electricity to end consumers 100.0 100.0 - -

Enefit U.S., LLC USA Holding 100.0 100.0 - -

Enefit American Oil Co. USA Developing of liquid fuels production 100.0 100.0 - -

Enefit Sp. z o.o. Poland Selling electricity to end consumers 100.0 100.0 - -

Enefit AB Sweden Selling electricity to end consumers 100.0 100.0 - -

Enefit OY Finland Selling electricity to end consumers 100.0 100.0 - -

Nelja Energia AS Estonia Management services 100.0 - - -

Hanila Tuulepargid OÜ Estonia Production of electrical energy 100.0 - - -

Oceanside OÜ Estonia Production of electrical energy 100.0 - - -

Pakri Tuulepargid OÜ Estonia Production of electrical energy 100.0 - - -
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10. Principal subsidiaries, continued

Name Country of 
incorporation

Nature of business Proportion of  
ordinary shares held 

by the Group (%) 

 Proportion of ordinary 
shares held by non- 

controlling interests (%)

 

   31 DECEMBER 31 DECEMBER

   2018 2017 2018 2017

Aseriaru Tuulepark OÜ Estonia Production of electrical energy 100.0 - - -

Hiiumaa Offshore Tuulepark OÜ Estonia Development of wind parks 100.0 - - -

VV Tuulepargid OÜ Estonia Production of electrical energy 100.0 - - -

Tootsi Tuulepark OÜ Estonia Development of wind parks 100.0 - - -

4E Biofond OÜ Estonia Management services/Biogas plant 69.9 - 30.1 -

Enercom SIA Latvia Development of wind parks 100.0 - - -

Technological Solutions SIA Latvia Cogeneration plant 100.0 - - -

Pellet 4Energia SIA Latvia Production of pellets 100.0 - - -

4ENERGIA SIA Latvia Management services 95.0 - 5.0 -

Iverneta UAB Lithuania Production of electrical energy 100.0 - - -

Šilutės Vėjo Projektai UAB Lithuania Production of electrical energy 100.0 - - -

Naujoji Energija UAB Lithuania Production of electrical energy 100.0 - - -

Šilalės vėjas UAB Lithuania Development of wind parks 100.0 - - -

Sūdėnų vėjo elektra UAB Lithuania Production of electrical energy 100.0 - - -

Šilalės vėjo elektra UAB Lithuania Production of electrical energy 100.0 - - -

 Šilutės vėjo parkas 2 Lithuania Development of wind parks 100.0 - - -

 Šilutės vėjo parkas 3 Lithuania Development of wind parks 100.0 - - -

Energijos Žara Lithuania Development of wind parks 100.0 - - -

Vėjo Parkai UAB Lithuania Development of wind parks 100.0 - - -

4Energia UAB Lithuania Management services 100.0 - - -

Baltic Energy Group UAB Lithuania
Research related to the development of the 
offshore wind park

100.0 - - -
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On 23 May 2017, Eesti Energia acquired from OÜ Tootus the 
remaining minority stake in Pogi OÜ - the Paide power plant. In 
June parent company sold its shares to Enefit Green AS (former 
Enefit Taastuvenergia AS). In August 2017, Pogi OÜ was incorpo-
rated into Enefit Green AS.

On November 6 2018, after approval from the Latvian, Lithuanian 
and Estonian Competition Authorities, Enefit Green AS purchased 
100% of shares of Nelja Energia AS. The value of the shares was 
EUR 281.3 million. 77 % of the shares of Nelja Energia belonged 
to Vardar Eurus, which is a company owned 90 % by Norwegian 
local authorities and 10 % NEFCO. 23% of Nelja Energia’s shares 
belonged to investors of Estonian origin. Right after completion of 
the acquisition, Enefit Green acquired minority stakes in Hiiumaa 
Offshore Tuulepark OÜ and 4Energia UAB. Minority shareholders’ 
holdings were 5.03% and 20%, respectively. The total purchase 
price was EUR 1.7 million.

Minority stakes 30.12% in 4E Biofond OÜ belongs to Nordic environ-
mental investment fund Nordic Environment Finance Corporation 
and 5% shares in 4energia SIA belongs to member of the manage-
ment board Toms Naburgs.

All subsidiary undertakings are included in the consolidation. The 
proportion of the voting rights in the subsidiary undertakings held 
directly by the parent company do not differ from the proportion of 
ordinary shares held. The parent company does not have 

any shareholdings in the preference shares of subsidiary under-
takings included in the Group. None of the carrying amounts of the 
non-controlling interests as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 
2017 was material.

Significant restrictions
Until the investments of the network operator (Elektrilevi OÜ) do 
not exceed the limits of the approved financing plan, according to 
the Electricity Market Act of Estonia the parent company may not 
intervene in the everyday economic activities of the network ope-
rator or in the decisions concerning the construction or upgrades of 
the network.

11.  Inventories

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Raw materials and materials at warehouses 46.6 34.8

Work-in-progress   

Stored oil shale 35.5 27.2

Stripping works in quarries 2.4 1.4

Other work-in-progress 0.1 0.1

Total work-in-progress 38.0 28.7

Finished goods   

Shale oil 5.5 4.2

Other finished goods 0.4 0.2

Total finished goods 5.9 4.4

Total inventories (Note 32) 90.5 67.9

In the reporting period, the Group wrote down damaged and 
slow-moving inventories of raw materials and materials totalling 
EUR 0.4 million (2017: EUR 0.7 million).

10. Principal subsidiaries, continued
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12.  Division of financial instruments by category

in million EUR  Loans and 
receivables

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

Derivatives for which  
hedge accounting is applied

Total

As at 31 December 2018     

Financial asset items in the statement of financial position     

Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments (Notes 3.1 and 13) 163.3 - - 163.3

Derivative financial instruments (Notes 3.1, 3.3, 14 and 15) - 42.9 7.7 50.6

Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 3.1, 3.2, 15 and 17) 61.5 - - 61.5

Total financial asset items in the statement of financial position 224.8 42.9 7.7 275.4

As at 31 December 2017     

Financial asset items in the statement of financial position     

Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments (Notes 3.1 and 13) 123.9 - - 123.9

Derivative financial instruments (Notes 3.1, 3.3, 14 and 15) - 2.7 0.8 3.5

Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 3.1, 3.2, 15 and 17) 298.7 - - 298.7

Total financial asset items in the statement of financial position 422.6 2.7 0.8 426.1

in million EUR  Other financial 
liabilities 

Liabilities at fair value  
through profit or loss

Derivatives for which  
hedge accounting is applied

Total

As at 31 December 2018     

Financial liability items in the statement of financial position     

Borrowings (Notes 3.1, 3.2 and 21) 1,109.5 - - 1,109.5

Trade and other payables (Notes 3.1 and 22) 120.9 - - 120.9

Derivative financial instruments (Notes 3.1, 3.3 and 14) - 22.1 1.2 23.3

Total financial liability items in the statement of financial position 1,230.4 22.1 1.2 1,253.7

As at 31 December 2017     

Financial liability items in the statement of financial position     

Borrowings (Notes 3.1, 3.2 and 21) 881.1 - - 881.1

Trade and other payables (Notes 3.1 and 22) 115.5 - - 115.5

Derivative financial instruments (Notes 3.1, 3.3 and 14) - 1.4 16.8 18.2

Total financial liability items in the statement of financial position 996.6 1.4 16.8 1,014.8
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13.  Trade and other receivables

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Short-term trade and other receivables

Trade receivables

Accounts receivable (Note 32) 123.2 106.1

Allowance for doubtful receivables (1.6) (1.7)

Total trade receivables 121.6 104.4

Accrued income   

Other accrued income 3.6 2.0

Total accrued income 3.6 2.0

Prepayments 5.3 2.6

Receivables from associates (Note 37) 2.2 0.0

Cash restricted from being used 34.1 15.7

Other receivables 0.2 0.5

Total short-term trade and other receivables 167.0 125.2

Long-term receivables

Loan receivables from associates (Note 37) 11.8 10.9

Allowance for doubtful loan receivables (Notes 29 and 32) (11.5) (10.9)

Other long-term receivables 1.3 1.3

Total long-term receivables 1.6 1.3

Total trade and other receivables (Notes 3.1 and 12) 168.6 126.5

Under cash restricted from being used are recognised financial 
resources that are held on accounts of different financial partner-
sas a guarantee for the transactions.The fair values of receivables 
and prepayments do not significantly differ from their carrying 
amounts. Collection of receivables and prepayments for services 
and goods is not covered by securities.Most of the Group’s recei-
vables and prepayments are in euros. The amount of receivables 
denominated in US dollars is disclosed in Note 3.1. Information 
about the credit quality of the receivables is disclosed in Note 15.

Analysis of accounts receivable

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Accounts receivable not yet due (Note 4, 15) 111.1 92.5

Accounts receivable due but not classified as doubtful  

1-30 days past due 8.5 7.0

31-60 days past due 0.8 1.7

61-90 days past due 0.4 1.1

Total accounts receivable due but not classified  
as doubtful  

9.7 9.8

Accounts receivable written down

3-6 months past due 0.5 0.6

more than 6 months past due 1.9 3.2

Total accounts receivable that are more than  
3 months past due

2.4 3.8

Total trade and other receivables 123.2 106.1
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To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and 
contract assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk 
characteristics and the days past due. The expected loss rates are 
based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 36 month 
before 31 December 2018 or 1 January 2018 respectively and the 
corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this 
period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and 
forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting 
the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. The Group 
has identified the GDP and the unemployment rate of the coun-
tries in which it sells its goods and services to be the most relevant 
factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based on 
expected changes in these factors. 

On that basis described above, the loss allowance as at 
31 December 2018 and 1 January 2018 (on adoption of IFRS 9) was 
determined immaterial. The Group has identified the expected 
credit losses of the trade receivables not yet due and until 90 days 
past due and the indentified impairment loss was immaterial.

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment 
requirements of IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was immate-
rial as at 1 January 2018 and as at 31 December 2018.

Under the accounting policies of the Group, receivables 90 days 
past due are usually written down in full. The total amount of 
allowance for receivables 90 days past due is adjusted using prior 
experience of how many of the receivables classified as doubtful 
are collected in a later period and how many of the receivables not 
more than 90 days past due are not collected in a later period. Also 
other individual and extraordinary impacts like the global economic 
recession are taken into account during evaluation.

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Allowance for doubtful trade receivables at the begin-
ning of the period

(1.7) (2.1)

Classified as doubtful and collections during the 
accounting period

(0.2) (0.4)

Classified as irrecoverable 0.3 0.8

Allowance for doubtful trade receivables at the end of 
the period

(1.6) (1.7)

The other receivables do not contain any impaired assets.

13. Trade and other receivables, continued
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14.  Derivative financial instruments

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER 2018 31 DECEMBER 2017

 Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Future contracts for buying and selling electricity as cash flow hedges 1.1 1.2 0.8 -

Forward and future contracts for buying and selling electricity  
as trading derivatives

2.0 9.1 1.0 1.6

Future contracts for buying and selling greenhouse gas emissions allowances 
as trading derivatives

21.2 0.2 0.1 0.2

Swap and future contracts for buying and selling gas as trading derivatives 7.4 5.8 0.1 0.2

Swap, forward and option contracts for selling fuel oil as cash flow hedges 6.6 - - 16.8

Swap and option contracts for selling fuel oil as trading derivatives 12.3 3.2 1.5 (0.6)

Interest rate swap - 3.8 - -

Total derivative financial instruments (Notes 3.1, 3.3, 12, 15 and 20) 50.6 23.3 3.5 18.2

including non-current portion:

Future contracts for buying and selling electricity as cash flow hedges 0.1 - - -

Forward contracts for buying and selling electricity as trading derivatives 0.1 0.6 - -

Swap, forward and option contracts for selling fuel oil as cash flow hedges 5.2 - - -

Swap and option contracts for selling fuel oil as trading derivatives 6.1 0.1 0.2 -

Interest rate swap - 2.1 - -

Total non-current portion 11.5 2.8 0.2 -

Total current portion 39.1 20.5 3.3 18.2
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Forward contracts for buying and selling electricity
The goal of the forward contracts for buying and selling electri-
city is to manage the risk of changes in the price of electricity or 
earn income on changes in the price of electricity. All forward con-
tracts have been entered into for the sale or purchase of a fixed 
volume of electricity at each trading hour and their price is denomi-
nated in euros. The transactions, the goal of which is to hedge the 
risk in the price of electricity, are designated as cash flow hedging 
instruments, where the underlying instrument being hedged is the 
estimated electricity sales transactions of high probability on the 
power exchange Nord Pool. The effective portion of the change 
in the fair value of transactions concluded for hedging purposes 
is recognised through other comprehensive income and is recog-
nised either as revenue or reduction of revenue at the time the 
sales transactions of electricity occur or other operating income/
expenses when it is evident that sales transactions are unlikely to 
occur in a given period. 

To hedge the interest rate risks of the loans with the floating inte-
rest rates, the derivatives – interest swaps – are being used.

The forward contracts of buying and selling electricity the goal of 
which is to hedge the risk in the price of electricity will realise in 
2019 (31 December 2017: in 2018). As at 31 December 2018 2.02 TWh  
had been hedged for the year 2019 (31 December 2017: 1.86 TWh 
had been hedged for the year 2018). The basis for determining the 
fair value of the instruments is the quotes by Nasdaq OMX.

Future contracts for buying and selling greenhouse gas emissions 
allowances and contracts with funds 

The future contracts (except for own use contracts) for buying and 
selling greenhouse gas emission allowances and the contracts

with funds for buying CERs (certified emission reductions) are 
classified as trading derivatives. The fair value changes of the-
setransactions are recognised as gains or losses in the income 
statement. The basis for determining the fair value of transaction-
sis the quotes of ICE EUA and cash flow forecasts. The prices are 
denominated in euros.

Hedging contracts for selling fuel oil
The goal of the swap contracts for buying and selling fuel oil clas-
sified as hedges is to hedge the risk of price changes for shale oil. 
The transactions have been concluded for the sale of a specified 
volume of shale oil in future periods and they are designated as 
cash flow hedging instruments, where the underlying instruments 
to be hedged are highly probable shale oil sales transactions. The 
basis for determining the fair value of transactions is the quotes by 
ICE and Platt’s European Marcetscan. Hedging instruments, which 
are combined from various components of derivative instruments, 
are recognised at fair value with changes through profit or loss 
until the acquisition of all components. 

Liquidity swap transactions, that have been concluded in order 
to transfer the value changes of previously concluded transac-
tions to partners, where the trading doesn’t require daily coverage 
of market values, are classified as trading derivatives. The prices 
are denominated in euros and US dollars. As at 31 December 
2018 100,785 tonnes had been hedged for the year 2019 and 
171,775 tonnes had been heged for the year 2020 (31 December 
2017: 296,967 tonnes for the year 2018 and 142,779 tonnes for the 
year 2019).

 

14. Trade and other receivables, continued
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15.  Credit quality of financial assets

The basis for estimating the credit quality of financial assets not 
due yet and not written down is the credit ratings assigned by  
rating agencies or, in their absence, the earlier credit behaviour  
of clients and ohter parties to the contract.

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Trade receivables   

Receivables from new clients  
(client relationship shorter than 6 months)

3.1 2.1

Receivables from existing clients (client relationship 
longer than 6 months), who in the last 6 months have 
not exceeded the due date

58.7 49.0

Receivables from existing clients (client relationship 
longer than 6 months), who in the last 6 months have 
exceeded the due date

49.2 41.2

Receivables from existing clients (client relationship 
longer than 6 months), with whom the Group has not 
had any transactions in the last 6 months

0.1 0.2

Total trade receivables (Note 13) 111.1 92.5

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

2018 2017

Bank accounts and short-term deposits in banks

At banks with Moody's credit rating of Aa3 0.2 273.6

At banks with Moody's credit rating of Aa2 56.9 -

At banks with Moody's credit rating of A1 - 25.0

At banks with Moody's credit rating of A2 3.8 0.1

At banks with Moody's credit rating of Baa1 0.6 -

Total bank accounts and short-term deposits in banks  
(Notes 3.1, 3.2, 12 and 17)

61.5 298.7

Other receivables and accrued income

Other receivables with Moody's credit rating of Aa2 8.0 7.1

Other receivables with Moody's credit rating of B2 1.4 1.7

Other receivables through Nasdaq OMX clearing house 24.7 6.9

Receivables without credit rating from an independent party 7.6   3.8

Total other receivables (Note 13) 41.7   19.5

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives with positive value with Moody’s credit rating of 
Aa3

0.6 -

Derivatives with positive value with Moody’s credit rating of A1 24.8 0.1

Derivatives with positive value with Moody’s credit rating of A2 11.2 -

Derivatives with positive value with Moody’s credit rating of A3 2.8 -

Derivatives with positive value with Moody’s credit rating of 
Baa2

2.0 0.1

Derivatives with positive value with Moody’s credit rating of B2 1.6 -

Derivatives with positive value through Nasdaq OMX  
clearing house

1.7 1.9

Derivatives with positive value without credit rating  
from an independent party

5.9 1.4

Derivatives with positive value (Notes 3.1, 3.3, 12 and 14) 50.6 3.5
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16.  Greenhouse gas allowances and certificates  
of origin

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Greenhouse gas allowances at the beginning of the 
period

96.8 47.3

Acquired 86.8 96.3

Returned to state for the greenhouse gas emissions 
(Note 24)

(60.3) (46.8)

Greenhouse gas allowances at the end of the period 123.3 96.8

Certificates of origin at the beginning of the period 0.3 -

Acquired 2.8 0.3

Certificates of origin at the end of the period 3.1 0.3

Total greenhouse gas allowances and certificates  
of origin at the end of the period

126.4 97.1

The value of greenhouse gas allowances acquired is recognised 
as intangible current assets. In 2018 6,515,000 tonnes (2017: 
15,798,000 tonnes) of greenhouse gas allowances were 
acquired and 0 tonnes (2017: 10,000 tonnes) were sold. In 2018 
12,183,437 tonnes (2017: 11,356,171 tonnes) ofgreenhouse gas  
emission allowances were returned to state.

Nasdaq OMX constitutes a clearing house that is subject to official  
financial regulation, in relation to whom various risk management   
measures are applied, the most important of which ss the requirement  
for the clearing house members to issue warrants for their liabili-
ties. Also the requirements for minimum equity amounts are 
applied on clearing houses and based on that the credit risk is 
considered.

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impair-
ment requirements of IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was 
immaterial.

According to the estimate of the management the other receivables 
and accrued income without a credit rating from an independent-
party do not involve material credit risk, as there is no evidence of 
circumstances that would indicate impairment loss.

15. Trade and other receivables, continued
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is EUR 250.0 million and the maximum share capital is  EUR 
1,000.0 million.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s statutory reserve capital 
totalled EUR 62.1 million (31 December 2017: EUR 62.1 million).

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s distributable equity was EUR 
913.7 million (31 December 2017: EUR 823.6 million). Income tax on 
dividends is 20/80 of the amount payable as net dividends.

If all retained earnings were distributed as dividends, the corpo-
rate income tax would amount to EUR 182.7 million (31 December 
2017: EUR 164.7 million). It is possible to pay out EUR 731.0 million 
(31 December 2017: EUR 658.9 million) as net dividends.

The management board proposes to pay EUR 57.0 million as divi-
dends after the approval of the 2018 Annual Report by the General 
Meeting of Shareholders. The corresponding income tax totals EUR 
14.3 million (Note 19).

The following table presents the basis for calculating the dis-
tributable shareholders’ equity, potential dividends and the 
accompanying corporate income tax:

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Retained earnings (Note 38) 913.7 823.6

Distributable shareholder's equity 913.7 823.6

Corporate income tax on dividends if distributed 182.7 164.7

Net dividends available for distribution 731.0 658.9

17.  Cash and cash equivalents

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

2018 2017

Bank accounts 52.2 201.6

Short-term deposits 9.3 97.1

Total cash and cash equivalents (Notes 3.1, 3.2, 12 and 15) 61.5 298.7

Cash and cash equivalents by currencies

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

2018 2017

Euro 55.0 295.9

Polish zloty 3.4 0.1

US dollar 2.7 2.7

Swedish krona 0.4 -

Total cash and cash equivalents (Notes 3.1, 3.2, 12 and 15) 61.5 298.7

In the financial year, the effective interest rates of short term 
deposits were between 0.04 and 0.23% (2017: 0.01-0.8%).

18.  Share capital, statutory reserve capital and 
retained earnings

As at 31 December 2018, Eesti Energia AS had 621,645,750  
registered shares (31 December 2017: 621,645,750 registered 
shares). The nominal value of each share is 1 euro.  The sole 
shareholder is  the Republic of Estonia. The administrator of the 
shares and the exerciser of the rights of shareholders is the Esto-
nian Ministry of Finance, represented by the Minister of Finance 
at the General Meeting of Shareholders. According to the arti-
cles of association of Eesti Energia AS, the minimum share capital 
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19.  Dividends per share

In 2018, Eesti Energia paid dividends of EUR 15.8 million to 
the Republic of Estonia or EUR 0,03 per share (in 2017 EUR  
47.0 million, dividends per share EUR 0.08) (Note 38).  

The management board proposed to the Annual Meeting to pay 
dividends of EUR 0.09  per share for the financial year ended 
31 December 2018, totalling EUR 57.0 million (Note 18). These 
financial statements do not reflect this amount as a liability as  
the dividend had not been approved  as at 31 December 2018.

20.  Other reserves

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

2018 2017

Other reserves at the beginning of the period (3.6) (16.6)

Change in fair value of cash flow hedges 13.5 17.3

of which electricity cash flow hedges (13.4) (2.5)

of which shale oil cash flow hedges 26.9 19.8

Recognised as an increase of revenue (10.1) (1.0)

of which recognised as an increase of revenue  
of electricity

(6.7) 9.5

of which recognised as an increase of revenue  
of shale oil

(3.4) (10.5)

Currency translation differences attributable to  
foreign subsidiaries

1.0 (3.3)

Other reserves at the end of the period 0.8 (3.6)



176

I  Eesti Energia Annual Report 2018  I  Eesti Energia Annual Report Consolidated Financial statements  I

21.  Borrowings

Borrowings at amortised cost

in million EUR  Short-term borrowings Long-term borrowings

 
Bank loans Bonds issued Finance lease 

liabilities
Bank loans Bonds issued Finance lease 

liabilities
Total

Borrowings at amortised cost 31.12.2016
(Notes 3.1, 3.2 and 12)

19.3 - - 221.4 699.2 - 939.9

Changes occurred in 2017        

Amortization of borrowing expenses - - - - 7.5 - 7.5

Repayments of borrowings (1.4) - - (64.9) - - (66.3)

Transfers - 152.0 - - (152.0) - -

Total changes occurred in 2017 (1.4) 152.0 - (64.9) (144.5) - (58.8)

Borrowings as at 31.12.2017        

Borrowings at amortised cost 31.12.2017 
(Notes 3.1, 3.2 and 12)

17.9 152.0 - 156.5 554.7 - 881.1

Changes occurred in 2018        

Amortization of borrowing expenses - 0.2 - 0.1 8.0 - 8.3

Borrowings received 120.0 - - 150.0 - 0.2 270.2

Repayments of borrowings (42.2) - (0.5) (18.0) - - (60.7)

Redemption of bonds - (200.5) - - - - (200.5)

Acquisition of subsidiary (Note 36) 12.9 48.3 11.6 138.3 - - 211.1

Transfers 23.0 - - (23.0) - - -

Total changes occurred in 2018 113.7 (152.0) 11.1 247.4 8.0 0.2 228.4

Borrowings as at 31.12.2018        

Borrowings at amortised cost 31.12.2018 
(Notes 3.1, 3.2 and 12)

131.6 - 11.1 403.9 562.7 0.2 1,109.5



177

I  Eesti Energia Annual Report 2018  I  Eesti Energia Annual Report Consolidated Financial statements  I

In 2018 the Group drew down new loans of EUR 150.0 million from 
Swedbank and EUR 80.0 million from OP Corporate Bank. The 
Group also made EIB scheduled loan repayments of EUR 18 million. 
In addition we took a liquidity loan of EUR 40.0 million from OP 
Corporate Bank, which we also repaid during the accounting year.

In September 2018 bonds of EUR 152.0 million were redeemed in 
connection with the arrival of the maturity date. In the acquisition 
of Nelja Energia, we also took over Nelja Energia’s bonds with a 
nominal value of EUR 48.5 million, which were listed on the Oslo 
stock exchange and accrued interest at the rate of 6.5%. The Group 
decided to recall and retire the bonds before maturity. The bonds 
were redeemed in December 2018.

The fair value of bonds, bank loans and finance lease liabilities:

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Nominal value of bonds (Note 3.1) 606.3   758.3

Market value of bonds on the basis of quoted sales price 
(Note 3.3)

637.0   817.8

Nominal value of bank loans with fixed interest rate 
(Note 3.1)

156.7 174.6

Fair value of bank loans with fixed interest rate  
(Note 3.3)

159.5 177.4

Nominal value of bank loans with floating interest rate 
and finance lease (Note 3.1)

394.4 -

Fair value of bank loans with floating interest rate and 
finance lease (Note 3.3)

394.4 -

The bonds are denominated in euros and listed on the London 
Stock Exchange. The fair value of the bonds is based on the input 
that is within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

Management estimates that the fair value of the loans with a float-
ing interest rate at the end of comparative period does not differ 
from their carrying amounts as the risk margins have not changed. 
The fair values of bank loans with fixed interest rate are based 
on cash flows discounted using discount rates between 0.485%-
1.005% (2017: 0.649%-1.116%) that are within level 3 of the fair value 
hierarchy.

Long-term bank loans at nominal value by due date

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

< 1 year 131.6 17.9

1 - 5 years 319.6 101.7

> 5 years 88.6 55.0

Total 539.8 174.6

All loans are denominated in euros. As at 31 December 2018 the 
interest rates of loans were between 0.4 and 6.3% (31 December 
2017: 1.1-3.1%). 

As at 31 December 2018, the weighted average nominal interest 
rate on loans was 1.1% (31 December 2017: 1.5%). 

As at 31 December 2018 the total volume of the Group’s bonds 
were EUR 606.3 million, of which EUR 106.3 million were with the 
maturity date in 2020 and other long-term bonds were with the 
maturity date in 2023.

As at 31 December 2018 the Group had undrawn loan facilities of 
EUR 481.5 million (31 December 2017: EUR 150.0 million).

21. Borrowings, continued
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Commitments in relation to finance leases are payable as follows:

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

< 1 year 11.1 -

1–5 years 0.2 -

> 5 years - -

Total 11.3 -

Borrowings by period that interest rates are fixed for 

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

< 1 year 408.2 170.2   

1 - 5 years 664.3 176.7   

> 5 years 37.0 534.2   

Total (Notes 3.1, 3.2 and 12) 1,109.5   881.1   

Period until earlier of next interest rate repricing date and maturity 
date.

EUR 130.5 million from the borrowings up to one year interest rate 
risk is hedged with interest swaps.

Weighted average effective interest rates of borrowings

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Bank loans 1.0% 1.5%

Bonds 4.5% 4.3%

Finance lease liabilities 2.4% -

21. Borrowings, continued
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22.  Trade and other payables

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

2018 2017

Financial payables within trade and other payables

Trade payables 103.6 98.5

Accrued expenses 7.0 8.1

Payables to related party (Note 37) 3.1 3.2

Other payables 7.2 5.7

Total financial payables within trade and other paya-
bles (Note 3.1 and 12)

120.9 115.5

Payables to employees (Note 3.1) 21.0 18.9

Tax liabilities (Note 3.1) 44.2 43.6

Prepayments 28.1 1.1

Total trade and other payables 214.2 179.1

of which short-term trade and other payables 212.6 177.6

of which long-term trade and other payables 1.6 1.5

Under trade payablesas at 31.12.2018 is recognised trade  
payables for property, plant and equipment of EUR 37.4 million  
(at 31.12.2017 EUR 29.2 million).

23.  Deferred income

Connection and other service fees

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

2018 2017

Deferred connection and other service fees  
at the beginning of the period

189.9 174.9

Connection and other service fees received 23.3 19.0

The value of assets transferred for connection fees 2.6 3.6

Connection and other service fees recognised  
as income (Notes 25 and 32)

(8.2) (7.6)

Deferred connection and other service fees  
at the end of the period 

207.6 189.9

Other deferred income in the amount of EUR 5.4 million  
(in 2017: EUR 5.9 million) related to government grants.
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24.  Provisions

in million EUR  
 

Opening balance 
31 December 2017

Recognition and  
reversal of provisions 

(Note 5)

Interest charge 
(Note 30)

Use Closing balance 31 December 2018

Short-term provision Long-term provision

Environmental protection provisions (Note 29) 28.7 (3.2) 0.8 (1.1) 4.4 20.8

Provision for termination of mining operations 
(Note 29)

0.8 (0.1) - - - 0.7

Employee related provisions (Note 28) 5.3 2.2 0.1 (0.9) 1.9 4.8

Provision for dismantling cost of assets 3.7 1.2 0.2 - - 5.1

Provision for greenhouse gas emissions 
(Notes 8 and 27)

65.1 82.8 - (60.3) 87.6 -

Provision for onerous contracts 0.5 (0.3) - - 0.2 -

Provision for renewable energy certificates - 0.8 - - 0.8 -

Total provisions (Note 4) 104.1 83.4 1.1 (62.3) 94.9 31.4

in million EUR  
 

Opening balance 
31 December 2016

Recognition and  
reversal of provisions 

(Note 5)

Interest charge 
(Note 30)

Use Closing balance 31 December 2017

Short-term provision Long-term provision

Environmental protection provisions (Note 29) 27.6 2.3 0.8 (2.0) 5.1 23.6

Provision for termination of mining operations 
(Notes 28 and 29)

0.8 - - - - 0.8

Employee related provisions (Note 28) 5.3 0.5 0.1 (0.6) 0.9 4.4

Provision for dismantling cost of assets 3.5 - 0.2 - - 3.7

Provision for greenhouse gas emissions  
(Notes 16 and 27)

47.0 64.9 - (46.8) 65.1 -

Provision for onerous contracts - 0.5 - - 0.5 -

Provision for obligations arising from treaties 4.3  -  - (4.3) - -

Total provisions (Note 4) 88.5 68.2 1.1 (53.7) 71.6 32.5

Recognition and change in the provisions during financial year 2018 in the amount of EUR 0.2 million (2017: EUR 2.6 million) resulted from the 
change in discount rate.



181

I  Eesti Energia Annual Report 2018  I  Eesti Energia Annual Report Consolidated Financial statements  I

Environmental protection provisions and provisions for the  
termination of mining operations have been set up for:

 – restoring land damaged by miningrestoring land damaged by 
mining;

 – cleaning contaminated land surfaces;
 – restoring water supplies contaminated as a result of mining 

activities;
 – ascertainment and compensation of damages caused by blas-

ting work;
 – closing landfills and neutralising excess water;
 – maintenance of closed ash fields;
 – closing of industrial waste dump;
 – eliminating asbestos in power plants;
 – for payment of mining rights fee;
 – for dismantling and gathering of equipment and facilities.

Long-term environmental protection provisions will be settled at 
the Eesti Energia Kaevandused in 2019-2038, and at Narva Elektri-
jaamad in 2019-2058. 

Provisions related to the termination of mining operations will be 
settled in 2019-2038.

Employee related provisions have been set up for:
 – payment of benefits laid down in collective agreements and 

other acts;
 – compensation of work-related injuries;
 – payment of termination benefits;
 – payments of scholarships.

Long-term employee related provisions will be settled during the 
periods specified in the contracts or during the remaininglife expec-
tancy of the employees, period of which is determined using data 
from Statistics Estonia on life expectancies by age groups.The pro-
visions for payments of termination benefits in mines and quarries 
will be set up when the detailed plans for the closure of thesem-
ines and quarries have been announced.

The provision for the dismantling costs of assets has been set 
up to cover the future dismantling costs of the renovatedpower 
blocks No. 8 and 11 and industrial waste dump of the Narva power 
plants. The present value of the dismantling costs of theassets was 
included in the cost of property, plant and equipment. The provision 
for the dismantling costs is expected to be settled in 2034-2035.

The provision for greenhouse gas emissions has been set up in 
the average price of the greenhouse gas emission allowances that 
are owned by the Group or that are allocated to the Group free of 
charge for heat production or for the purpose of modernisation of 
electricity production. In the reporting and comparative period the 
following amounts of the greenhouse gas emission allowances 
have been allocated to the Group free of charge:

a) the purpose of modernisation of electricity production – no 
greenhouse gas emission allowances for the investmets in 
2018; 1,997,203 tonnes for the investements made in 2017 that 
were transferred to the Group in the beginning of 2018.

b) In September 2018, the European Commission approved 
the application of Enefit Energiatootmine AS for the allo-
cation of free greenhouse gas emission allowances to the 

24. Provisions, continued
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oil industry  devices E-140 and E-280 that produces liquid fuels 
from oil shale for the period 2013-2020. In November 2018, 
3,251,951 tonnes of greenhouse gas emissions were received 
for the period 2013-2018. No allowances were allocated free of 
charge in 2017 to these equipments.

c) for heat production following amounts of greenhouse gas emis-
sion allowances have been allocated to the Group free of charge 
- 184,796 tonnes for heat production in 2018, 212,310  tonnes for 
heat production in 2017. The greenhouse gas emission allowan-
ces allocated free of charge are taken into account for the 
purpose of calculating the provisions in the period for which the 
allowances are allocated irrespective of their actual transfer 
(Note 33).

The provision are discounted at the rate of 0.15%-4.05% (2017: 
0.19%-4.11% ). The discount curve is used for discounting provisions 
that allows more accurate evaluation of the provisions in different 
time horizons.

25.  Revenue

in million EUR  1 JANUARY – 
31 DECEMBER

2018 2017

By activity

Sale of goods

Electricity 434.5 348.4

Shale oil 113.1 86.1

Heat 32.5 32.4

Gas energy 16.3 15.9

Oil shale 4.5 -

Other goods 14.3 11.3

Total sale of goods 615.2 494.1

Sale of services

Sales of services related to network 230.9 235.6

Connection fees (Notes 23 and 32) 8.2 7.6

Rental and maintenance income (Note 7) 1.2 1.1

Other services 19.8 15.5

Total sale of services 260.1 259.8

Total  revenue (Note 5) 875.3 753.9

24. Provisions, continued
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26.  Other operating income

in million EUR  1 JANUARY – 
31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Fines, penalties and compensations 10.0 34.0

Gain from revaluation of derivatives 9.7 1.4

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (Note 32) 1.1 0.9

Foreign exchange gain 0.5 11.1

Government grants (Note 23) 0.4 0.3

Gain on disposal of associate (Note 35) - 9.2

Other operating income 0.6 0.3

Total other operating income 22.3 57.2

Under fines, penalties and compensations is recognised agreement 
with GE in which builder of Auvere power plant agreed to compen-
sate Eesti Energia unearned revenue of EUR 6.1 million (in 2017  
EUR 30.9 million) caused by the delay in the works (Note 4).

27.  Raw materials and consumables used

in million EUR  1 JANUARY – 
31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Transmission services 79.4 80.6

Greenhouse gases emissions expense (Note 24) 82.8 64.9

Electricity 51.5 20.8

Maintenance and repairs 45.5 38.2

Materials and spare parts for production 31.2 27.5

Resource tax on mineral resources 25.0 15.3

Environmental pollution charges 27.4 28.7

Technological fuel 21.3 20.5

Gas bought for resale 16.9 15.1

Other raw materials and consumables used 47.2 43.0

Total raw materials and consumables used 428.2 354.6

28.  Payroll expenses

Number of employees 1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Number of employees at the beginning  
of the period

5,807 5,840

Number of employees at the end  
of the period

5,763 5,807

Average number of employees 5,678 5,708

in million EUR  1 JANUARY – 
31 DECEMBER

2018 2017

Payroll expenses

Wages, salaries, bonuses and vacation pay 122.6 116.5

Average monthly pay (in euros) 1.799,3 1.700,8

Other payments and benefits to employees 3.5 3.1

Payroll taxes 42.0 40.2

Recognition/reversal of employee related provisions 
(Note 24)

2.2 0.5

Total calculated payroll expenses 170.3 160.3

Of which remuneration to management and  
supervisory boards (Note 37)

Salaries, bonuses, additional remuneration 2.9 2.7

Fringe benefits 0.1 0.2

Total paid to supervisory and management boards 3.0 2.9

Capitalised in the cost of self-constructed assets (14.6) (18.7)

Covered from the provisions for the termination of 
mining operations and environmental protection  
(Note 24)

(0.1) -

Total payroll expenses 155.6 141.6

The management board members are appointed by the supervisory 
board. The term of appointment for 5 years.
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29.  Other operating expenses

in million EUR  1 JANUARY – 
31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Miscellaneous office expenses 8.1 7.2

Rental expense (Note 7) 5.0 5.0

Recognition of environmental and mining termination 
provisions (Note 24)

(3.3) 2.3

Research and development costs 2.7 1.9

Foreign exchange losses - 11.1

Loss from doubtful loan receivables (Notes 5, 13 and 32) - 0.2

Other operating expenses 29.3 24.5

Total other expenses 41.8 52.2

30.  Net financial income (-expense)

in million EUR  1 JANUARY – 
31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Financial income   

Interest income 0.3 0.2

Foreign exchange gain 0.1 0.6

Total financial income (Note 32) 0.4 0.8

Financial expenses   

Interest expenses on borrowings   

   Interest expenses on bonds and loans (36.4) (34.3)

   Amounts capitalised on qualifying assets (Note 6) 13.2 22.3

Total interest expenses on borrowings (Note 32) (23.2) (12.0)

Interest expenses on provisions (Note 24) (1.1) (1.1)

Total interest expenses (24.3) (13.1)

Foreign exchange losses - (6.5)

Other financial expenses (0.8) (0.1)

Total financial expenses (25.1) (19.7)

Net financial income (-expense) (24.7) (18.9)
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31.  Corporate income tax

According to the Income Tax Act, the companies are taxed in Esto-
nia upon distribution of dividends. From 1 January 2015, the income 
tax rate is 20/80 of the net amount of dividends. Dividends dis-
tributed by Estonian company are exempt, if these are paid out of 
dividends received from other companies in which Estonian com-
pany has at least 10% participation.

Average effective income tax rate

in million EUR  1 JANUARY – 
31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Estonia

Net dividends 15.8 47.0

Income tax applicable for dividends 20/80 20/80

Theoretical income tax at applicable rates 4.0 11.8

Impact of dividends and liquidation proceeds paid by 
associates

(0.6) (0.4)

Effective income tax on dividends 3.4 11.4

Average effective income tax rate 17% 19%

Income tax expense arising from the subsidiaries 1.0 -

Total income tax expense 4.4 11.4

32.  Cash generated from operations

in million EUR  1 JANUARY – 
31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Profit before income tax 110.6 112.2

Adjustments   
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and  
equipment (Notes 5 and 6)

151.9 132.4

Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets  
(Notes 5 and 8)

2.6 3.4

Deferred income from connection and other service fees 
(Notes 4, 23 and 25)

(8.2) (7.6)

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (Note 26) (1.1) (0.8)

Gain on disposal of associate (Note 26)  - (9.2)

Amortisation of government grant received to purchase 
non-current assets (Note 23)

(0.4) (0.3)

Profit (loss) from associates using equity method (Note 9) (6.6) (2.7)

Unpaid/unsettled gain/loss on derivatives (41.7) 9.8

Loss from doubtful loan receivables (Notes 5, 13, 29 and 35)  - 0.2

Currency exchange gain/loss on loans granted  - 4.7

Profit (loss) from other non-cash transactions (0.7) -

Interest expense on borrowings (Note 30) 23.3 12.0

Interest and other financial income (Note 30) (0.3) (0.3)

Adjusted net profit before tax 229.4 253.8
Net change in current assets relating to operating activities

Change in receivables related to operating activities (Note 13) (7.6) 54.1

Change in inventories (Note 11) (17.0) (2.6)

Net change in other current assets relating to operating 
activities

(47.7) (31.3)

Total net change in current assets relating to operating 
activities

(72.3) 20.2

Net change in current liabilities relating to operating 
activities

Change in provisions (Note 24) 21.0 15.7

Change in trade payables (Note 22) (6.7) 9.3

Net change in liabilities relating to other operating activities 37.1 (3.6)

Total net change in liabilities relating to operating activities 51.4 21.4
Cash generated from operations 208.5 295.4
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33.  Off-balance sheet assets, contingent liabilities and 
commitments

(a) Off-balance sheet assets

Oil shale Resources
The overview of the resources of oil shale in the possession of the 
Group and its associates is presented in the table below. The resour- 
ces of oil shale of Estonian Republic represent the resources of oil 
shale in the official balance of natural resources. The resour ces of 
oil shale of international development projects are recog nised 
based on the disclosure requirements of international standards of 
evaluation of resources and reserves. The classification of the 
resource is performed by the authorized experts and is proved 
appropriate according to the standard both by the level of explora-
tion and economical perspective. Depending on the development 
phase the known technical, environmental and social-economical 
restrictions have been adjusted and taken into account when 
recognising the resources. 

 in millions of tonnes 31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Estonia

Measured* 268 286

Jordan

APCO***

Measured* 924 924

Inferred** 295 295

JOSE

Measured* - -

Inferred** 2,309 2,309

USA**

Measured ** 3,500 3,500

Indicated** 2,300 2,300

Inferred** 230 230

* Resource represents a part of in place Resource, after it has been modified by desired cut-
off grade, technical, economical and already defined modifying factors..

** Resource is defined as amount of total in place oil shale, that has high possibility for 
commercial interest. This definition is applied for resources before the pre-technical analy-
ses, to which possible modifying factors have not been applied.

APCO*** Eesti Energia has 10% ownership of the company.

The decrease in the Estonian oil shale resources is attributable 
to the fact that in February 2017 the Supreme Court of Estonia 
declared the Uus-Kiviõli mining permit invalid.

Emission rights
On implementation of article 10c of EU Emissions Trading System 
the Group may receive for the purpose of modernization of electri - 
city production up to 17.7 million tonnes of greenhouse gas emission 
allowances free of charge in the period 2013 to 2017. In addition it 
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is possible for the Group according to the article 10a to receive in 
the period 2013 to 2020 up to 2.1 million tonnes of greenhouse gas 
emission allowances free of charge for heat production and up to 
1.1 million tonnes of greenhouse gas emission allowances free of 
charge for oil industry devices, that produces liquid fuels from oil 
shale  (Notes 16 and 24).

(b) Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities arising from potential tax audit

Estonia
Tax authorities have neither started nor performed any tax audits 
or single case audits at any Group company. Tax authorities have 
the right to review the company’s tax records within 5 years after 
the reported tax year and if they find any errors they may impose 
additional taxes, interest and fines. The Group’s management con-
siders that there are not any circumstances which may give rise to  
a potential material liability in this respect.

Foreign countries
The Group’s management considers that there are not any circum-
stances which may give rise to a potential material liability in this 
respect.

(c) Commitments

Capital commitments arising from construction contracts
As at 31 December 2018 the Group had contractual liabilities  
relating to the acquisition of non-current assets totalling  
EUR 69.0 million (31 December 2017: EUR 102.7 million).

Contracts for buying greenhouse gas emissions allowances
As at 31 December 2018 the Group had concluded contracts 
for buying greenhouse gas emissions allowances in 2019 in the 
amount of EUR 83.8 million (31 December 2017: EUR 96.2 million).

Payments for utility networks on facilities
Payments for tolerating utility networks are regulated by the Law 
of Property Act by which real estate owners have the right to 
request payment for accommodating utility networks on their  
property. As at 31 December 2018 the Group had liabilities for  
utility network payments of EUR 0.1 million for the year 2019  
(in 2017 EUR 0.1 million for the year 2018).

Ground lease
The Group has ground lease for the next 20-99 years for plots 
of land under certain wind parks. Minimum lease payments for 
non-cancellable operating leases for subsequent periods were  
as follows:

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

< 1 year 1.5 -

1–5 years 6.1 -

> 5 years 38.1 -

Total 45.7 -

33. Off-balance sheet assets, contingent liabilities and commitments, continued
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Obligation to make a contribution in the equity of the oil shale 
power plant in Jordan
After transaction of the Attarat Power Company (APCO) financial 
close for its oil shale fired power plant in Jordan, APCO’s share-
holders are YTL Power International (Malaysia) with 45% interest, 
Guangdong Yudean Group Co. Limited (China) with 45% interest, 
and Eesti Energia with 10% interest. 

The shareholders have undertaken to contribute USD 528 million 
to the equity of the electricity project. Eesti Energia’s financing 
obligation amounts to USD 53 million. To date, Eesti Energia 
has financed the project to the extent of USD 37.1 million (EUR 
34.9 million). The rest of the financing in a sum of USD 15.9 million 
(EUR 13.3 million) will be provided in line with the project plan  
(Note 35).

34.  Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit attribu-
table to the equity holders of the company by the weighted ave rage 
number of ordinary shares outstanding. As there are no potential 
ordinary shares, diluted earnings per share equal basic earnings 
per share in all the periods.In 2017 and 2018 there were no 
changes in the share capital.

in million EUR  1 JANUARY – 31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Profit attributable to the equity holders  
of the company (million EUR)

106.0 100.7

Weighted average number of shares (million) 621.6 621.6

Basic earnings per share (EUR) 0.17 0.16

Diluted earnings per share (EUR) 0.17 0.16

35.  Disposal of associate

On 16 March 2017, Attarat Power Company (APCO) reached finan-
cial close for its oil shale fired power plant  in Jordan. In connection 
with the financial close, a share sale agreement took effect by 
which Eesti Energia reduced its previous 65% interest in APCO to 
10%. Eesti Energia’s proceeds from the disposal of a 55% majority 
stake amounted to USD 50.4 million (EUR 46.9 million), consisting 
of a settlement for loans provided of USD 30.6 million (EUR 
28.4 million). Net profit from financial close was USD 9.7 million 
(EUR 9.2 million).

After the sale of a 55% interest, Eesti Energia AS retained signifi-
cant influence which grants it the right to economic benefits 
associat ed with ownership. Therefore, the remaining 10% interest  
is accounted for as an investment in an associate. APCO’s share-
holders have undertaken to contribute to the equity of the electri- 
city project USD 528 million of which Eesti Energia’s financing 
obligation is USD 53 million (Notes 9 and 26).

36.  Acquisition of subsidiary

On 29 May 2018 Eesti Energia AS’s fully owned subsidiary Enefit 
Green AS entered into a Share Purchase Agreement regarding all 
the shares in Nelja Energia AS, a renewable energy producer and 
developer in the Baltic countries. In November after approval by 
relevant competition authorities in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania, 
Enefit Green became full owner of Nelja Energia AS. Enefit Green 
bought Nelja Energia as it supports the Group’s strategic goal 
of producing 40% of electricity from renewable and alternative 
sources in 2022.

33. Off-balance sheet assets, contingent liabilities and commitments, continued
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The goodwill arising from the acquisition, that did not qualify for 
separate recognition, amounted to EUR 19.9 million and is attribu-
table to wind farms and to the development of the wind farms.

The following table summarises the consideration paid for Nelja 
Energia AS, the fair value of assets aquired, liabilities assumed and 
the non-controlling interest at the acquisition date.

Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilites 
assumed:

in million EUR  
 

 
Fair value

ASSETS  

Property, plant and equipment 443.2

Intangible assets 0.3

Long-term financial investments 3.5

Other long-term receivables 0.3

Inventories 5.6

Trade and other receivables 15.6

Cash and cash equivalents 31.4

Total assets 499.9

LIABILITIES  

Borrowings 211.1

Derivative financial instruments 3.6

Trade and other payables 8.1

Deferred tax liabilities 13.0

Total liabilities 235.8

Non-controlling interest 2.7

Total identifiable net assets 261.4

Total cost of acquisition 281.3

Goodwill 19.9 

Cash flow from acquisition of subsidiary (249.9)

The revenue included in the consolidated statement of comprehen-
sive income from 6 November 2018 to 31 December 2018 contributed 
by Nelja Energia AS was EUR 13.4 million. Nelja Energia AS also con-
tributed loss of EUR 2.0 million over the same period.

The deferred tax liability of EUR 13.0 million was determined by the 
difference between fair values and the carrying amount of the Lith-
uanian wind farms identified in the purchasing analysis, which were 
calculated on the basis of the current tax rates. In the Republic of 
Lithuania corporate income tax is 15%. In the reporting period, the 
change in income tax liability totaled EUR 1.0 million in income state-
ment. Deferred income tax liability arises on the sale of wind farms.

Goodwill includes non-identifiable assets, which values can 
not be accounted on the balance sheet in accordance with IFRS 
3 recognition criteria. Therefore as goodwill is recognized intellectual 
property (labor), strong reputation of the company and market share 
of the company.

37.  Related party transactions

The sole shareholder of Eesti Energia AS is the Republic of Estonia. 
In preparing the Group’s financial statements, the related parties 
include associates, members of the management and supervisory 
boards of the parent company, and other companies over which 
these persons have control or significant influence.Related parties 
also include entities under the control or significant influence of the 
state.

36. Acquisition of subsidiary, continued
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Transactions with associates

in million EUR  1 JANUARY – 
31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Purchase of goods 18.5 18.0

Purchase of services - 0.4

Proceeds from sale of services 2.7 0.2

Proceeds from sale of goods 0.1 -

Loans granted - 0.2

In 2017, in connection with the sale of the majority stake, the loans 
the associate Attarat Power Holding Co BV had provided to the 
Group were realised. In addition, the electricity project in Jordan 
was financed in the amount of EUR 34.9 million (Notes 9, 32  
and 35).

Transactions with entities over which the members of  
supervisory and management board have significant influence

in million EUR  1 JANUARY – 
31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Purchases of goods and services 1.1 0.4

The sales of electricity, network services and heat to the entities 
over which the state has control or significant influence have been 
taken place under normal business activity. The Group has per-
formed in the reporting and comparative period purchase and sales 
transactions in the material amounts with Elering AS, which is fully 
state-owned enterprise.

Transactions with Elering AS

in million EUR  1 JANUARY – 
31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Purchase of services 82.9 81.3

Purchase of goods 11.4 13.1

Purchase of property, pland and equpiment and 
prepayments

5.5 3.0

Sale of goods and services (incl. renewable energy grant) 23.0   19.8

Receivables from Elering AS and payables to Elering AS

in million EUR  1 JANUARY – 
31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Receivables (Note 13) 3.5 2.6

Payables (Note 22) 22.6 20.6

The remuneration paid to the members of the supervisory and 
management board is disclosed in Note 28.Receivables from  
associates are disclosed in Note 13 and payables to associates in 
Note 22. No impairment loss from receivables was recognised in 
the comparative period.

Upon premature termination of the service contract with a member 
of the management board, the servicecontracts stipulate the pay-
ment of 3 months’ remuneration as termination benefits.

In purchasing and selling network services, the prices set by the 
Estonian Competition Authority are used.

37. Related party transactions, continued
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38.  Financial information on the parent company

Financial information disclosed on the parent company includes 
the primary separate financial statements of the parent company, 
the disclosure of which is required by the Accounting Act of Estonia.
The primary financial statements of the parent company have been 
prepared using the same accounting policies that have been used 
in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. Invest-
ments in subsidiaries and associates are reported at cost in the 
separate financial statements of the parent company.

Income statement

in million EUR  1 JANUARY - 
31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

Revenue 297.0 257.2

Other operating income 49.9 20.7

Raw materials and consumables used (275.6) (214.1)

Other operating expenses (16.3) (38.1)

Payroll expenses (35.2) (32.8)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment (2.2) (2.7)

Other expenses (50.4) (15.3)

OPERATING PROFIT (32.8) (25.1)

Financial income 51.3 68.2

Financial expenses (30.5) (44.6)

Net financial income (expense) 20.8 23.6

   

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (12.0) (1.5)

   

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (12.0) (1.5)

Statement of comprehensive income

in million EUR  1 JANUARY - 
31 DECEMBER

 2018 2017

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (12.0) (1.5)

Other comprehensive income   

Revaluation of hedging instruments 3.5 2.2

Other comprehensive income for the year 3.5 2.2

   

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR (8.5) 0.7
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Statement of financial position

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER 

 2018 2017

ASSETS   

Non-current assets   

Property, plant and equipment 29.4 25.8

Intangible assets 7.4 5.6

Derivative financial instruments 0.1 0.2

Investments in subsidiaries 529.3 524.7

Receivables from subsidiaries and other 
receivables

219.2 210.7

Total non-current assets 785.4 767.0

   

Current assets   

Inventories 3.2 1.2

Greenhouse gas allowances 123.3 96.8

Trade and other receivables 1,336.2 1,075.2

Derivative financial instruments 56.3 3.6

Cash and cash equivalents 16.2 254.4

Total current assets 1,535.2 1,431.2

Total assets 2,320.6 2,198.2

in million EUR  31 DECEMBER 

 2018 2017

EQUITY   

   

Share capital 621.6 621.6

Share premium 259.8 259.8

Statutory reserve capital 62.1 62.1

Hedge reserve 5.7 2.2

Retained earnings 269.9 297.7

Total equity 1,219.1 1,243.4

   

LIABILITIES   

Non-current liabilities   

Borrowings 851.2 711.2

Derivative financial instruments 0.7 -

Provisions 0.5 0.5

Total non-current liabilities 852.4 711.7

Current liabilities   

Borrowings 97.9 169.9

Trade and other payables 123.4 63.7

Derivative financial instruments 27.7 9.2

Provisions 0.1 0.3

Total current liabilities 249.1 243.1

Total liabilities 1,101.5 954.8

   

Total liabilities and equity 2,320.6 2,198.2

38. Financial information on the parent company, continued
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Cash flow statement

in million EUR  

 2018 2017

Cash flows from operating activities   

Profit before tax (12.0) (1.5)

Adjustments   

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1.6 1.4

Amortisation of intangible assets 0.6 1.3

Profit/loss from sale of property, plant and equipment - (0.1)

Gain on disposal of subsidiary - (1.4)

Loss from doubtful loan receivables - 17.0

Other gains/losses on investments (15.6) (47.0)

Gain/loss on unpaid/unsettled derivatives (29.9) 4.5

Currency exchange gain/loss on loans granted - 8.2

Interest expense on borrowings 33.1 34.3

Interest income (35.6) (20.7)

Adjusted net profit (57.8) (4.0)

Net change in current assets relating to operating 
activities

  

Loss from doubtful receivables - 0.3

Change in receivables relating to operating activities  (8.3) 3.4

Change in inventories (2.1) 0.4

Net change in current assets relating to other operating 
activities

(43.6) (33.0)

Total net change in current assets relating to operating 
activities

(54.0) (28.9)

Net change in liabilities relating to operating activities   

Change in provisions (0.2) 0.2

Change in trade payables (1.4) 0.9

Net change in liabilities related to other operating 
activities

31.7 (29.9)

Total net change in liabilities relating to operating 
activities

30.1 (28.8)

Interest paid and borrowing costs (26.7) (26.9)

Interest received 29.2 16.2

Net cash flows from operating activities (79.2) (72.4)

in million EUR  

 2018 2017

Cash flows from investing activities   

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and  
intangible assets

(8.0) (4.8)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 0.3 1.0

Purchase of financial investments - (34.9)

Dividends received from financial investments 15.6 47.0

Contribution to the share capital of subsidiaries (4.5) (2.6)

Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries - 4.2

Loans granted to subsidiaries - (0.8)

Repayments of loans granted to subsidiaries - 31.8

Loan granted to subsidiary classified as doubtful loan - 5.7

Change in overdraft granted to subsidiaries (206.7) 149.0

Other loans granted - (0.9)

Proceeds from sale and redemption of financial 
investments

- 34.9

Net cash used in investing activities (203.3) 229.6

Cash flows from financing activities   

Received long-term loans 270.0 -

Redeemed bonds (152.0) -

Repayments of bank loans (57.9) (66.3)

Acquisition of non-controlling interest in a subsidiary - (1.0)

Dividends paid (15.8) (47.0)

Net cash used in financing activities 44.3 (114.3)

Net cash flows (238.2) 42.9

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 254.4 211.5

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 16.2 254.4

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (238.2) 42.9

38. Financial information on the parent company, continued
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Statement of changes in equity

in million EUR  Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Statutory 
reserve capital

Hedge reserve Currency translation 
differences

Retained 
earnings

Total

Equity as at 31 December 2016 621.6 259.8 62.1 - - 346.5 1,290.0

Carrying amount of holdings under controlling and significant influence      (537.4) (537.4)

Carrying amount of holdings under controlling and significant influence 
using equity method

   (28.5) 11.9 961.1 944.5

Adjusted unconsolidated equity as at 31 December 2016 (Note 19)    (28.5) 11.9 770.2 1,697.1

Profit for the year - - - - - (1.5) (1.5)

Other comprehensive income for the year - - - 2.2 - - 2.2

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 2.2  - (1.5) 0.7

Dividends paid      (47.0) (47.0)

Acquisition of non-controlling interest of subsidiary - - - - - (0.3) (0.3)

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of the company,  
recognised directly in equity

- - - - - (47.3) (47.3)

Equity as at 31 December 2017 621.6 259.8 62.1 2.2 - 297.7 1,243.4

Carrying amount of holdings under controlling and significant influence      (524.7) (524.7)

Carrying amount of holdings under controlling and significant influence 
using equity method

   (14.4) 8.6 1,050.6 1,044.8

Adjusted unconsolidated equity as at 31 December 2017 (Note 19)    (12.2) 8.6 823.6 1,763.5

Profit for the year - - - - - (12.0) (12.0)

Other comprehensive income for the year - - - 3.5 - - 3.5

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 3.5  - (12.0) (8.5)

Dividends paid      (15.8) (15.8)

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of the company,  
recognised directly in equity

- - - - - (15.8) (15.8)

Equity as at 31 December 2018 621.6 259.8 62.1 5.7 - 269.9 1,219.1

Carrying amount of holdings under controlling and significant influence      (529.3) (529.3)

Carrying amount of holdings under controlling and significant influence 
using equity method

   (14.5) 9.6 1,173.2 1,168.3

Adjusted unconsolidated equity as at 31 December 2018 (Note 19)    (8.8) 9.6 913.8 1,858.1

Under the Accounting Act of Estonia, adjusted unconsolidated retained earnings are the amount from which a public limited company 
can make payments to its shareholders.

38. Financial information on the parent company, continued
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AS PricewaterhouseCoopers, Pärnu mnt 15, 10141 Tallinn, Estonia; License No. 6; Registry code: 10142876 
T: +372 614 1800, F: +372 614 1900, www.pwc.ee  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(Translation of the Estonian original) 
 

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
 
 

Our opinion 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Eesti Energia AS and its 
subsidiaries (together the Group) as at 31 December 2018, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union. 
 
Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the Audit Committee. 
 

What we have audited 
 
The Group’s consolidated financial statements comprise: 
 the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018; 
 the consolidated income statement and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended; 
 the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;  
 the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; and 
 the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
  

Independent auditor’s report 

To the Shareholder of Eesti Energia AS 
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2 (8) 

Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
 

Independence 
 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(IESBA Code) and the ethical requirements of the Auditors Activities Act of the Republic of Estonia. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the IESBA Code and the ethical requirements of the Auditors Activities Act of the Republic of Estonia. 
 
To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services that we have provided to the Group are in accordance with the applicable law and 
regulations in the Republic of Estonia and that we have not provided non-audit services that are prohibited under § 591 of the Auditors Activities Act of the 
Republic of Estonia.  
 

Our audit approach 
Overview  

 

Materiality 
Overall Group materiality is 7.1 million euros which represents approximately 2.5% of underlying earnings before 
interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”). 

Audit scope 
We tailored our audit scope based on the risk and size of entities within the Group and performed either a full scope 
audit or specific audit procedures over material income statement or balance sheet line items. At the Group level we 
tested the consolidation process and performed separate analytical procedures over the components not covered by 
the above procedures to confirm our conclusion that no material misstatements exist that may affect the consolidated 
financial statements. 

Key audit matters 
 Property, plant and equipment impairment assessment 
 Accounting for the acquisition of Nelja Energia AS 

Materiality 

Audit 
scope 

Key audit 
matters 
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As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the consolidated financial statements. In particular, 
we considered where the Management Board made subjective judgments; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making 
assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal 
controls, including among other matters, consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud. 

Materiality 

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if individually or in aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Based on our professional judgment, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall group materiality for the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole as set out in the table below. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and 
the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements 
as a whole. 
 
Overall group materiality EUR 7,1 million 

How we determined it Approximately 2.5% of underlying earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization 
(EBITDA). 

Rationale for the materiality benchmark 
applied 

We have applied the EBITDA benchmark, as we believe that is the key measure used both internally by 
management and by external stakeholders in evaluating the performance of the Group. 

Key audit matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the 
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Property, plant and equipment impairment assessment 
The significant assumptions used by the management and their impact on 
the recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment are described in 
notes 4 and 6 of the financial statements.  
 
As at 31 December 2018 the Group has 2 955 million euros of property, 
plant and equipment, the majority of which relate to the shale mining, 
shale oil production and power generation assets in Estonia. Volatile 
market prices for electricity and uncertainty regarding their future are an 
indication that the recoverable amount of the assets related to the 
production of electricity may be below their carrying amount.  
 
The recoverable amount of the Group's property, plant and equipment is 
determined by their value in use which is based on discounted future cash 
flows. 
 
Impairment assessment of these assets is subjective and requires 
significant judgments due to the inherent uncertainty involved in the 
forecasting and discounting of future cash flows. Many of the key 
underlying assumptions are impacted by global and country-specific 
political and economic factors. Consequently, there is a high risk that due 
to the judgemental factors, potential impairment may be unidentified or 
the impairment loss be miscalculated. Due to the above reasons we 
considered this area to be a key audit matter. 

 
We began our procedures by assessing whether impairment indicators exist for the 
assets not identified by management. We took into account our knowledge of the 
Group and its business activities as well as the accumulated knowledge related to 
the industries where the Group operates. In addition, we performed inquiries with 
management and key employees and inspected internal documents of the Group. 
We found the management’s conclusions regarding assets with impairment 
indicators to be consistent with the evidence we obtained. 
 
We evaluated management's key assumptions and estimates used in the 
calculation of the recoverable value of the assets identified for impairment, 
including the assumptions related to operational performance, such as operating 
cost forecasts, electricity production volumes and reliability of production assets. 
We challenged management’s assumptions by corroborating the information with 
the information received from operational level management and by referencing 
them to the actual performance of the Group and to internal documents of the 
Group, such as budget forecasts and minutes of meetings of governing bodies. 
Where management had used market inputs, such as electricity and CO2 
emissions quota prices, we reconciled them to available third party information 
sources. We involved PwC valuation specialists to help us assess the 
reasonableness of the discount rates used by management. We benchmarked these 
to external data and challenged the assumptions based on our knowledge of the 
Group and its industry. Based on the audit evidence obtained from the above 
procedures we did not identify any material misstatements, contradictions or 
omissions in the key assumptions and estimates used by management in the 
calculation of the recoverable value of property, plant and equipment.  
 
Based on our audit procedures we found the management’s judgment to be 
consistent with available information and the disclosures to appropriately reflect 
the sources of sensitivity and related impacts on the recoverable value in 
accordance with the requirements of IAS 36 and IAS 1 
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Accounting for the acquisition of Nelja Energia AS 
Management has disclosed the detailed information related to the 
transaction in note 36. 
 
In November 2018 the Group acquired the renewable energy producer 
Nelja Energia AS for a total consideration of 281.3 million euros as further 
described in Note 36.  
 
Accounting for the business combination involves compiling the purchase 
price analysis, during which the fair value of the purchase consideration 
paid is allocated to the fair values of the identifiable assets acquired, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed, with any remaining 
difference recorded as goodwill. These fair values were assessed by the 
management and it required judgment.  
 
Due to the size of the acquired business and related estimation 
uncertainty, it is considered a key audit matter. 

 
We assessed whether the Group’s accounting policy in relation to accounting for 
the business combinations is in compliance with IFRS.  
 
We evaluated and performed detailed testing of the purchase price analysis 
compiled by the management, including: 
 
• assessing the list of separately identified assets and liabilities for their 
reasonableness and compliance with IFRS requirements; 
• evaluating the management’s assessment of the fair values of identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed; 
• involving PwC valuation experts to evaluate the methodology applied for 
determination of fair values;  
• deploying our PwC valuation experts, we tested the reasonableness of key 
assumptions, including cash flow forecasts and discount rates; and 
• checking the correctness of calculation of arising goodwill.  
 
Furthermore, we assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related to the 
acquisition of Nelja Energia AS. Based on our audit procedures we found that the 
accounting policy applied to the acquisition of Nelja Energia AS and the 
information disclosed in the Annual Report to be in compliance with IFRS 3 and 
IAS 1. 

How we tailored our audit scope  
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a whole, 
taking into account the structure of the Group, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates. 
 
Accordingly, based on the size and risk characteristics, we performed a full scope audit of the financial information for the following entities within the Group: 
Enefit Energiatootmine AS (electricity generation and shale oil production), Enefit Kaevandused AS (shale mining), Elektrilevi OÜ (transmission grid), 
Eesti Energia AS (parent company), Enefit Green AS (electricity generation from renewable sources), Nelja Energia AS and its subsidiaries (electricity 
generation from renewable sources). In addition, specific audit procedures over significant balances and transactions were performed for sales revenue of 
Enefit SIA (electricity sale in Latvia) and for the potential impairment of assets of Enefit American Oil (shale mining development rights in USA), Enefit 
Solutions AS (manufacturing of metal structures) and Enefit Outotec Technology OÜ (Enefit technology testing facility). At the Group level we tested the 
consolidation process and performed separate analytical procedures over the components not covered by the above procedures to confirm our conclusion that 
no material misstatements exist that may affect the consolidated financial statements. Information describing the structure of the Group is included in note 10 
of the consolidated financial statements. 
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Other information 
 
The Management Board is responsible for the other information contained in the annual report, in addition to the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon. 
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 

Responsibilities of the Management Board and those charged with governance for the consolidated 
financial statements 
 
The Management Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, and for such internal control as the Management Board determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Management Board is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Management Board either intends to 
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 
 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these consolidated financial statements.  
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 

procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Management 
Board.  

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management Board’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated 
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion 
on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.  

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to 
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards.  
 
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
 

Appointment and period of our audit engagement 
 
We were first appointed as auditors of Eesti Energia AS, as a public interest entity, for the financial year ended 31 December 2005. Our appointment has been 
renewed by tenders and shareholder resolutions in the intermediate years, representing the total period of our uninterrupted engagement appointment for 
Eesti Energia AS, as a public interest entity, of 14 years.  
 
AS PricewaterhouseCoopers 
 

 
 
Tiit Raimla            
Certified auditor in charge, auditor’s certificate no.287       
 
 
21 February 2019 
 
                                                             
 This version of our report is a translation from the original, which was prepared in Estonian. All possible care has been taken to ensure that the translation 
is an accurate representation of the original. However, in all matters of interpretation of information, views or opinions, the original language version of our 
report takes precedence over this translation. 
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Profit allocation proposal
The retained earnings of Eesti Energia Group as at 31 December 2018 were EUR 913,721,612.87,  
of which the net profit for the year 2018 amounted to EUR 106,002,573.58.

The management board proposes under section 332 of the Commercial Code of Estonia  
to allocate the retained earnings of Eesti Energia Group as at 31 December 2018 as follows:

1. to pay EUR 57,000,000 as dividends to the shareholder;

2. not to distribute the remaining retained earnings of EUR 856,721,612.87 due to the continuing  
financing needs of the Eesti Energia Group.
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21 February 2019

Chairman of the management board

Hando Sutter

Members of the management board

Andri Avila

Raine Pajo

Margus Vals

In the 2018 financial year, the Eesti Energia management board 
complied as required with the duties of members of the manage-
ment board, and led the Eesti Energia Group to achieve its targets. 
The management board has regularly reported to the supervi-
sory board, has acted within its powers and has submitted all of 
the information necessary for decision-making to the supervisory 
board. The management board is aware of and hereby confirms its 
responsibility for the preparation of the annual report and for the 
data therein.

I  Eesti Energia Annual Report 2018  I

The annual Report of the Eesti Energia Group for the financial year 
ended on 31 December 2018 consists of the management report, 
the consolidated financial statements, the auditor’s report and the 
profit allocation proposal. The management board has prepared 
the management report, the consolidated financial statements and 
the profit allocation proposal.

Signatures of the management board  
to the annual report for financial year 2018
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Circulating fluidised bed (CFB) technology – Circulating fluidised bed combustion 
technology whereby larger (unburnt) particles are returned to the furnace

Clean Dark Spread (CDS) – Eesti Energia’s margin between the price of electric-
ity (in NP Estonia) and oil shale costs and CO2 costs (taking into account the price of 
CO2 allowance futures maturing in December and the amount of CO2 emitted in the 
generation of a MWh of electricity) 

CO2 emission allowance – According to the European Union Emissions Trading System 
(ETS), one emission allowance gives the holder the right to emit one tonne of carbon 
dioxide (CO2). The limit on the total number of emission allowances available gives 
them a monetary value

Controllable production assets – Production assets which operate on energy sources 
such as oil shale, oil shale gas, wood chips, peat and tyre chips 

EBITDA – Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation

EBITDA margin – Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation 
divided by revenue

FFO – Funds from operations. Cash flow from operations, excluding changes in work-
ing capital

Financial leverage – Net debt divided by the sum of net debt and equity

Future – A contract between counterparties which obligates to buy or sell an underly-
ing asset (e.g. a commodity) at a pre-agreed price

Green paper on industrial policy – A document prepared by the state and employers’ 
associations which outlines the bottlenecks of industrial development and suggests 
solutions for their elimination and improving industrial development

Level of water reservoirs – The level of water in the reservoirs of hydro power plants 
as a percentage of the maximum possible level. Most of the Nordic countries’ electric-
ity production is based on hydro power whose output depends on the level of water 
reservoirs

Liquidity – Amount of liquid assets. Sum of cash and cash equivalents, short-term 
financial investments and deposits with a maturity of more than 3 months

Maintenance and repair expenditures – Expenditures incurred to maintain the existing 
production capacities  

MWh – megawatt hour. 1 MWh is the unit of energy generated (or consumed) in one 
hour by a device operating at a constant power of 1 MW (megawatt)

1,000,000 MWh = 1,000 GWh = 1 TWh

Net debt – Debt obligations (amortised) less cash and cash equivalents (incl. bank 
deposits with maturities exceeding 3 months), units in money market funds and invest-
ments in fixed income bonds

Network losses – The amount of electricity delivered to customers is somewhat 
smaller than the amount supplied from power plants to the network because during 
transfer a part of electricity in the power lines and transformers converts into heat.  
To a lesser extent, network losses are caused by power theft and incorrect measuring. 
The network operator has to compensate energy losses and for this a corresponding 
amount of electricity has to be purchased every hour

NP system price – The price on the Nord Pool power exchange that is calculated on 
the basis of all purchase and sale bids without taking into account transmission capac-
ity limitations

OHSAS, ISO 14001 – International standards which deal with risk management in the 
area of occupational health and safety, the environment management system, and 
accident prevention

Oil shale resource charge – A charge to be paid to the state for the use of 1 tonne of oil 
shale located in the mineral deposit  

Position hedged with forward transactions – The quantity of electricity and shale oil 
to be sold and emission allowances to be purchased in future periods whose average 
price is previously fixed

RAB – Regulated Asset Base, which represents the value of assets used to provide 
regulated services

Return on Fixed Assets (ROFA) – Operating profit (rolling 12 months) divided by aver-
age fixed assets excluding assets under construction (allocated to specific products)

ROIC – Return on Invested Capital, calculated by dividing operating profit by average 
invested capital

SAIDI – System Average Interruption Duration Index. The sum of all customer inter-
ruption durations in minutes divided by the total number of customers served

SAIFI – System Average Interruption Frequency Index. The total number of customer 
interruptions divided by the total number of customers served

Tax footprint – An indicator which reflects the contribution made to society through taxes

Variable profit – Profit after deducting variable costs from sales revenue

Glossary
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Investor information  

The Group’s results concerning the financial year 2019 are released as follows:

• Q1 interim report  – 30 April 2019.

• Q2 interim report  – 30 July 2019.

• Q3 interim report  – 30 October 2019.

• The audited results for the financial year 2019  – 28 February  2020.

Eesti Energia’s financial results and contacts for investor relations are available on the Group’s web page: 
https://www.energia.ee/en/ettevottest/investorile 
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Eesti Energia AS
Lelle 22, 11318 Tallinn, ESTONIA
tel: +372 715 2222
info@energia.ee
www.energia.ee
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